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PREFACE

This Historic Resource Study had been prepared in accordance with
the approved task directive for Package No. 806, Yosemite National Park.
It accomplishes the inventory, identification, and evaluation of historical
resources within the park to comply with Executive Order 11593,
"Protection and Enhancement of the Cultural Environment,” and with the
National Historic Preservation Act of 1966. It is also intended as a
complete narrative history of the park, providing basic reference material
for planners, resource managers, and interpreters to facilitate the proper
care, interpretation, and management of cultural properties within

Yosemite National Park.

Almost ten years ago a preliminary investigation and evaluation of
historical resources in Yosemite took place in connection with the park's
general management plan. As a result of that work, a number of
properties were placed in the National Register of Historic Places.
Several other structures and sites proved ineligible for listing in that
register, and another large group of properties required further

evaluation.

The purpose of this historic resource study is to evaluate those sites
and structures not studied previously and resolve their status in terms of
National Register criteria. Those structures are primarily at Wawona, in
Section 35, at the park's south entrance station, in El Portal, and in the
backcountry. The writer also addressed those park structures identified
in earlier studies as needing additional historical data for evaluation
purposes. In addition, the study attempts to provide a thematic
framework, or contextual background, within which any additional
potentially significant sites in the backcountry or on private landholdings

can be evaluated.



This project turned out to be much more complex and time-consuming
than originally anticipated. Yosemite National Park contains a multitude
of geological, biological, cultural, and scenic resources exceptional in
quality, research value, and visitor interest. Since 1851 when the first
non-Indians entered Yosemite Valley, visitation to the park has increased
steadily each year and now numbers in the millions. Although many
people, especially first-time visitors, imagine that the park's scenic
resources appear much as they did 135 years ago, the National Park
Service realizes that man's effect on these park lands has been major and

in some cases unfortunate and irreversible.

Under California state commissioners, U.S. Army officers, civilian
rangers, and finally National Park Service superintendents, Yosemite
Valley and its environs have alternately experienced both unsound and
progressive management practices. From the time of its establishment as
a state grant--to be used for public recreation and enjoyment--Yosemite
became a pioneer experiment, a proving ground for conservation
practices, interpretive efforts, and park administrative techniques.
Trial-and-error management tactics in the earliest years, coupled with
misguided ones later, resulted in a variety of adverse conditions: a
reduction in the number and size of meadows in Yosemite Valley; the
suppression of natural fires; the introduction of exotic plants and
animals; stock grazing on park lands; the alteration of river channels;
hunting of predators; the concentration and development of visitor and
administrative facilities near prime scenic attractions; and significant
development on private inholdings within the park. All those activities
brought about gradual changes in the park ecosystem and in its cultural

environment.

Most National Park Service policies and techniques of administration,
resource protection, and interpretation evolved in Yosemite. In recent
years those policies have undergone appropriate changes in interpretation
and implementation to conform to current tenets of wildlife management,
cultural resource preservation, and natural resource protection. They
are still, however, based on the ideals and standards set by the first

il



National Park Service Director, Stephen Mather. The establishment of
wilderness areas, the implementation of sound management policies, better
park planning, and widespread interpretive efforts are helping to ensure
a better distribution of activities, visitor awareness of man's
responsibilities to the environment, and a reduction of the impact of man's

enjoyment of the park on both cultural and natural resources.

The author found it virtually impossible to detail extensively the
evolution of Yosemite park management in a single document, especially
one restricted by time and monetary considerations. Complicating the
problem is the amount of Iliterature on Yosemite, comprising books,
government reports, private studies, pamphlets, magazine and newspaper
articles, maps, correspondence, interviews, and assorted ephemera on a
myriad of topics including glaciation, history and discovery, Indian and
pioneer life, transportation, campground development, recreational
activities, visitor accommodations, interpretive  programs, private
landholdings, and natural resource protection. Because of limited time,
only those sources directly relevant to a discussion of the park's
discovery, constructional history, management, and interpretation could
be read exhaustively, while others were perused and summarized as time
permitted. In the course of this research, a variety of intriguing
guestions tempted digression into other areas of extreme interest. With
great regret these were passed over, some to be recommended as topics
for administrative histories and the rest to await other researchers with
different priorities. Selectivity became ever more necessary as time
advanced, but it is hoped that will not interfere with the study's use as

a research tool.

A few other remarks are necessary regarding the organization of this
report. The author describes the history of the park chronologically
rather than topically in an effort to enable study of various facets of
park development in relation to regional and national events of the same
time period. Such an arrangement, though helpful in understanding
interrelationships between events, programs, and policies on a broader

scale, necessitates those interested in a particular topic to peruse each
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chapter in order to follow its development. Although | tried to faithfully
restrict discussion of a topic within a chapter to the specific years
covered by that chapter, occasionally it was necessary for coherence to
overlap slightly in order to complete the discussion of a particular aspect
of the story. The author tried to do this as infrequently as possible,

however.

Because of the mass of information, the writer chose a cut-off date
of 1960 for this study. This enables a discussion of the MISSION 66
planning for Yosemite, but does not permit further detailed analysis of
that program or the master plan era of the 1960s and 1970s. Those
topics will be among those recommended for additional study as
administrative histories. A number of important proposals, therefore,
addressed in later years by park management, such as elimination of
vehicle use In prime resource areas, the encouragement of mass
transportation in Yosemite Valley, the transfer of administrative and
concession facilities to El Portal, and the designation of wilderness areas

are not being addressed, at least in detail, at this time.

Another fact to be noted is that the preponderance of data on human
activity in the Yosemite region concerns Yosemite Valley and the Mariposa
Grove. Thus the attentive reader will note gaps in the information base
on outlying areas of the park. The backcountry remains basically
ignored by the literature on Yosemite. The author has been able to
acquire information on its resources only as they have been described,
albeit scantily, in the Iliterature or been reported on by park staff;
primarily trail crews, backcountry rangers, and archeologists. The fact
that the reports of the California state commissioners, of the acting army
superintendents, and of early Park Service personnel only contained
information on certain major trails and facilities does not mean others did
not exist. Those reports tend to expound only on resources of immediate
interest or use to the writers. Although as a consequence the main
emphasis of this report is on buildings and trails in developed areas, a
wealth of resources are known to exist in the backcountry. Another of

the recommendations of this study is a comprehensive survey of
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backcountry cultural resources. Park personnel have already proposed
such a project, and in the interests of cultural resource management and
historic preservation, it should be subsidized and implemented as soon as

possible.

It has been nearly impossible to inventory and precisely describe
every road, trail, bridge, concession facility, and government building
even Iin developed areas of the park. Some of those structures have
already been described in detail by other historians, in other government
reports and surveys, and in National Register nomination forms. With the
references provided in this study, the interested reader should be able to
find that type of detailed information with little problem. For those
structures not described elsewhere, it is hoped that the basic historical
documentation provided in this study will enable the reader to pursue

further research with some ease.

Finally, an agreement has been reached between the Yosemite Park
and Curry Company and the National Park Service for the transfer of the
Curry Company archives to the Yosemite Research Library and Records
Center. This action will ensure the careful use and professional
preservation of a vast body of important data relative to the park and its
concession operations. As the material is accessioned and catalogued, it
Is possible that heretofore unknown information on park buildings and
sites will surface. The prospects for enlightenment on several aspects of

concession-related activities is exciting.

This is not a definitive historical study of Yosemite National Park
and its environs, if such is even possible concerning one of the oldest,
most controversial, but best-loved units of our National Park System. A
multitude  of historical, political, environmental, geological, and
archeological questions are open to different interpretations and merit
further research and discussion. Gaps in the historical record still exist,
to be filled in by future researchers on the basis of new physical and
documentary investigations. Studies such as this seem to pose new

guestions as often as they resolve old ones. Perhaps this is as it should



be, for the more scholars and other Ilearned individuals analyze past
administrative, interpretive, constructional, and natural and cultural
resource management policies of parks such as Yosemite, the better our
planning for the future will be in ensuring that mistakes are not repeated

and that enlightened progress continues.

The amount of material to be covered during the research process
was staggering, and credit for enabling the writer to get through that
amount of data is due in large part to the untiring efforts of two special
individuals. The writer was tirelessly aided in the research for this
report by Robert C. Pavlik, a graduate student in history at the
University of California at Santa Barbara, now a historian at Hearst
Castle in San Simeon, California. Bob's love of Yosemite, extensive
knowledge of its history, and concern for its resources, combined with an
enthusiasm for research and a capacity for endless patience while
constantly "on call' as a research assistant, were invaluable to the
completion of this study. On several field trips together, during which
we sifted through books and ephemera in the park library, plodded
through archival data in the records center, interviewed persons
knowledgeable in various facets of the park's management, and hiked to
breéthtakingly beautiful historical sites in the valley and high country,
we engaged in stimulating and fruitful discussions on the park, its
history, its future, and the National Park Service in general. Those
times will be remembered as some of the pleasantest of my Park Service

career.

The staff and researchers at Yosemite National Park are blessed to
have at their disposal one of the finest research libraries and record
centers in the National Park System. Practically everything pertinent to
the history of the park's establishment, its development under various
administrations, its educational and interpretive programs, and its efforts
in cultural and natural resource management can be found there.
Hundreds of photographs and a large number of maps round out this
outstanding collection of Yosemite materials. Much of the credit for the

facility's fine holdings and for its usefulness to researchers is due to the



professional expertise of its librarian, Mary Vocelka, who is always on the
lookout for pertinent additions. Mary never flinched at procuring a
myriad of documents for our use or at reproducing necessary data for our
convenience, and was especially helpful in providing leads on other .useful
sources of information, including both documents and individuals. | have
seen her spend a great deal of time with park visitors who wander into
the library in hopes of finding interesting tidbits of information on some
particular aspect of the park that has interested them and listen intently
to the reminiscences of old-timers who stop to pass a few moments in her
hospitable presence. Mary is an invaluable asset to the park's public
image as well as to Park Service personnel who are dependent upon her
knowledge of the literature related to Yosemite. Probably the bulk of
research material that went into this study came from the facility she so

ably oversees.

Other park personnel also proved generous with their time and
expertise. Michael Dixon developed a large group of photographs taken
by Bob Pavlik in connection with our parkwide inventory of historical
sites and structures, while Dave Forgang, park curator, and Scott
Carpenter, park archeologist, frequently came to the author's assistance
with  useful information relative to the status of historical and
archeological resources. A variety of park rangers and other staff
members, including Jm Snyder, backcountry trails foreman, and Al
Thorpe, property management officer, provided important information on
cultural resources Iin their respective areas. Jim's detailed and
perceptive review of the original draft study provided valuable
suggestions that added greatly to any merit the final document may have.
Former Superintendent Robert C. Binnewies extended cooperation and
support whenever called upon and will, | hope, enjoy perusing the final
doéument. To all Yosemite park personnel, and to Shirley Sargent,
whose many books on Yosemite history have been a constant source of
pleasure and valuable information, | extend heartfelt thanks for all help

and encouragement extended.
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Gary Higgins and Paul Cloyd, historical architects, and Judy Rosen,
a former environmental specialist, at the Denver Service Center of the
National Park Service helped Iin data acquisition and periodic
problem-solving, which is hereby gratefully acknowledged. Paul, Jo
Wahbeh, and Craig Kenkel also accomplished numerous on-site inspections
of park structures, occasionally involving some strenuous hiking, which
greatly aided the inventory work for this study. The Graphics Division
in Denver is also to be commended for its timely production of maps and

typed copies of the report.

The writer also conducted research at the National Archives and
Library of Congress in Washington, D.C.; at the Bancroft Library at the
University of California at Berkeley; at the Federal Archives and Records
Center in San Bruno, California; at the California State Library in
Sacramento; and at the California Historical Society and the Society of
California Pioneers in San Francisco. The staffs of all those institutions

were helpful as always, and | thank them for their time and efforts.

Finally, | would like to thank Section Chief John Latschar of the
Western Team Branch of Planning, Denver Service Center, and Regional
Historian Gordon Chappell and Chief of Park Historic Preservation Tom
Mulhern of the Western Regional Office of the National Park Service for
their advice, critical expertise, and support in the completion of this
study. | hope they and park management will find in it what they need

to better care for the incomparable resources of Yosemite National Park.

Linda Wedel Greene
Denver, Colorado
16 September 1986

Note: A current map of Yosemite National Park is provided in the
rear cover of this document to facilitate locating sites and structures
mentioned in the report in relation to today's boundaries, road systems,

and structural developments. It should also be noted that the writer

XIT



uses the terms "historic" and "historical" as defined in Wilson Follett,

Modern American Usage; A Guide, edited and completed by Jacques

Barzun et alL, published by Grosset & Dunlap, Inc., 1966. According to
Follett, historic structures, sites, personalities, or events are significant
in  American history, although they are also historical in that they are
associated with our past. Most historical events, personalities,
structures, and sites, however, are not historic; that is, they do not
hold an important place in history. According to those definitions this
Is, in reality, a Historical Resource Study, because it addresses all park
resources. The National Park Service's formal title for such reports,

however, is Historic Resource Study.

XiIT



Table of Contents

Volume 1: Historical Narrative
Location M ap : : : : : : : : : : : : N
Preface . . . . . . . . . . . . . \Y;
Chronologies : : : : : : : : : : cXXXTII
Yosemite VaHey : : : : : : : : : : XXXV
Cascades/Arch R 0 C K . . . . . . . . . . XIvix

EI Portal : : : : : : : : : : I
Carlon, Hodgdon Meadow, Foresta/Big Meadows, Aspen Valley,
Crane Flat, Gin Flat, and Tamarack Flat L i

Hetch Hetchy and Lake Eleanor : : : : : : : lix
White Wolf, : : : : : : : : : : : IXiii
Tuolumne Meadows : : : : : : : : : | X v
Chinguapin, Badger Pass, and Glacier Point L | XX |
Wawona, South Entrance, and Mariposa Grove L I X XV
Chapter | Early Habit ion and Explorations in the Yosemite Region . 1
A. The Fustlnhab| : : : : 1
B. The Joseph Walker Par ty Skuts Yosem|te VaHey Lo 13
C. Gold Discoveries Generate Indian-White Conflicts . . . 15
1. Effects of Euro-American Settlement on the
Northern California Indians : : : : : : 15
2. Formation of the Mariposa Battalion o 17
3. Captain John Boling Enters Yosemite Valley o 24
4. Lieutenant Tredwell Moore Enters Yosemite Valley . . 25
D. Decline in Strength of the Yosemites o 26
E. Historical Indian Occupation of Yosemite Valley o 26
F. Historical Indian Occupation of EI Portal L 29
G. Remains of Indian Occupation in Yosemite National Park. . 29
H. Remains of White Exploration in Yosemite Valley Co 31
l. Tourism to Yosemite Valley Begins : : : : : : 32
1. A Three-Year Lull : : : 32
2. James M. Hutchings inspects Yosem|te VaHey Lo 32
3. Publicity on Yosemite Valley Reaches the East Coast : 33
4. Publicity Encourages Visitation L 35
a) Trails and Tourist Facilities on the Way to
Yosemite Valley : : : : : 35
b) Early Hotels in Yosemite VaHey C 44
5. Discovery of Giant Sequoia Groves o 46
a) Tuolumne Grove : : : : : : : 46
b) Mariposa Grove. : : : : : : : 47
c) Merced Grove : : : : : : : : 49
Chapter 11 Yosemite Valley as a State Grant and Establishment of
Yosemite National Park, 1864-1890. : : : : : 51
A Interest Mounts Toward PreserV|ng the Yosemite Valley
and Mariposa Grove : : : : : : : : 51
1. Yosemite Act of 1864 - : : : : : 51
a. Steps Leading to the Preservation of
Yosemite Valley : : : : : : : 51

XV



b) Frederick Olmsted's Treatise on Parks
C) Significance of the Yosemite Grant
State Management of the Yosemite Grant
1. Land Surveys
2. Immediate Problems FaC|ng the Sta
3. Settlers' Claims
4 Trails
a) Early Survey Work
b) Routes To and Around Yosem|te VaIIey
C) Tourist Trails in the Valley

(1) Four-Mile Trail to Glacier Point

(2) Indian Canyon Trail

(3) Yosemite Fall and Eagle Peak Trail

(4) Rim Trail, Pohono Trail o
(5) Clouds Rest and Half (South) Dome Trails

> (6) Vernal Fall and Mist Trails

(7)  Snow Trail
(8) Anderson Trail
(9) Panorama Trail
(10) Ledge Trail
5. Improvement of Trails
a) Hardships Attending Travel to Yosem|te Valley
b) Yosemite Commissioners Encourage Road Construction
c) Work Begins on the Big Oak Flat and Coulterville
Roads : : : : : : :
d) Improved Roads and Railroad Service Increase
Visitation : : : . : : :
e) The Coulterville Road Reaches the Valley Floor

1) A New Transportation Era Begins

2) Later History.
f) The Big Oak Flat Road Reaches the VaIIey Floor
g) Antagonism Between Road Companies Increases
h) The Wawona Road Reaches the Valley Floor
) Roads Within the Reservation Boundary

6. Development of Concession Operations
a) Hotels and Recreational Establishments
(1) Upper Hotel :
(2) Lower Hotel/Black's HoteI
(3) Leidig's Hotel
(4) Mountain View House
(5) Wawona Hotel
(6) La Casa Nevada
(7) Cosmopolitan Bathhouse and Saloon
(8) Mountain House
(9) Stoneman House
b) Stores, Studios, and Other SerV|ces

(1) Harris Campground

(2) Degnan Bakery.

(3) Fiske Studio : : .
(4) Bolton and Westfall Butcher Shop
(5) Flores Laundry. : :
(6) Cavagnaro Store

XVI

N wwro o o oo NN O

ooOOooOOoo\l\.

00 0 .
oo ©o
000w

o .
© o oo
— o O o

92

94
95
95
99

100

103
106
110
114
114
115
122
122
123
126
133
135
138
139
145
145
146
147
147
148
148



0

(7) Stables :

(8) S|nmng Woodworhng Shop
(9) Stegman Seed Store .

10) Reilly Picture Gallery

11) Wells Fargo Office :

12)FMmeHMeandFHw
13) Chapel

c) Transportation in the VaHey :
d) Staging and Hauling to Yosemite Valley
Schools
Private Lands : : : : : :
a) Bronson Meadows (Hodgdon Meadow) Area
(1) Crocker Station
(2) Hodgdon Ranch
b) Ackerson Meadow
c) Carlon or Carl I nn
d) Hazel Green
e) Crane Flat
) Gin Flat
g) Tamarack Flat
h) Foresta/Big Meadow
(1) McCauley Barn : .
(2) Meyer Barn No. 1 (Salthox). :
(3) Meyer Barn No. 2 (Cribwork Interior)
(4) Big Meadow Cemetery. :
1) Gentry Station
) Aspen Valley :
(1) Hodgdon Cabin
(2) East Meadow Cache
k) Hetch Hetchy Valley/Lake EmanorArea
(1) Miguel Meadow Cabin
(2) Kibbe Cabin
(3) Elwell Cabins
(4) Tiltill Mountain
(5) Lake Vernon Cabin
(6) Rancheria Mountain Cabin
(7) Smith Meadow Cabin
) White Wolf :
m) Soda Springs and Tuolumne Meadows
(1) Lembert Cabin
(2) Tuolumne Meadows Cabin
(3) Murphy Cabin
(4) Snow Flat Cabin
n) Tioga Pass
(1) Dana Fork Cab|n
(2) Mono Pass Cabins
0) Little Yosemite Valley
(1) Washburn/Leonard Cabm
p) Yosemite Valley

(1) Pioneer Cemetery
(a) White Graves.
(b) Indian Graves

XVIi

148
148
149
149
150
151
151
154
155
159
164
167
167
167
171
171
171
174

175

176
177
180
181
181

. 181

188
189
189
192
192
193
196
196
197

197
197
198
198
199
201

206
206
207

207
207
210

210
210

211

211

212
218



q)

10.

Lamon Cabin

Hutchings Cabin

Muir Cabin . .
Leidig Cabin and Barn
Howard Cabin

Happy Isles Cabin

Clark Cabin

Four-Mile Trail Cabin .
Mail Carrier Shelter Cabins ,
Stegman Cabin

Hamilton Cabin

Shepperd Cabin

Manette Cabin

Whorton Cabin

Boston Cabin

Glacier Point

FPFRPrFFRPRPFRPPRPPFPRP~—~—~~~
OO, WDNMNMNPFPOOO~NOOOIR LN
— e e e e N e N - — —

(1) McGurk Cabin

(2) Mono Meadow Cabin

(3) Ostrander Cabin

(4) Westfall Meadows Cabin

Wawona

(1) Pioneer Cemetery

(2) Crescent Meadows Cabin

(3) Turner Meadow Cabin

(4) Buck Camp :

(5) Mariposa Grove Cabins

(6) Chilnualna Fall : .
(7) Galen Clark Homestead Hlstorlc Slte
(8) Cunningham Cabin

(9) West Woods (Eleven-Mile Statlon)
(10) Other Homesteaders. :
El Portal Area

(1) Hennessey Ranch

(2) Rutherford Mine
The Tioga Mine and Great Sierra Wagon Road

a) Early Activity in the Tuolumne Meadows Area.
b) Formation of the Tioga Mining District :
c) The Great Sierra Consolidated Silver Company

Commences Operations
) Construction of the Great Sierra Wagon Road :
e) The Tioga Mine Plays Out : :
Management of the Grant by the Yosemite Commissioners
a) Replacement of the Board of Commissioners, 1880
b) Report of the State Engineer, 1881
(1) Protecting Yosemite Valley from Defacement
(a) Preservation of the Watershed . :
(b) Regulation of Use of the Valley Floor
(c) Treatment of the Valley Streams
(2) Promoting Tourism :
(a) Improving Approaches to the VaIIey
(b) Improvements to Travel In and About
Yosemite Valley
(c) Trails

XVIIT

222
222
224
225
226
227
227
228
228
228
228
229
229
229
229
232
232
233
233
234
234
234
235
235
235
236
237
237
240
240
241
242
242
243
243
243
244

246
250
256
258
258
259
260
260
261
262
262
263

263



(d) Footpaths.
(e) Bridges
(f) Drainage and Guard Walls
(g) Hotels, Stores, Houses
(3) Landscaping : :
(4) Agricultural Development .
(5) River Overflow.
C) Remarks on Hall's Report. e
(1) Yosemite Valley River Drainage and Erosion
Control
(2) Yosemite Valley Vegetatlve Changes
(a) Fire Suppression :
(b) Drainage of Meadows
(c) Introduction of Exotics
(3) Mariposa Grove Management Problems
d) Report of the Commissioners, 1885-86
e) Report of the Commissioners, 1887-88

) ReportoftheCommissioners, 1§89-90
11. Establlshment of Yosemite National Park
a) Accusations of Mismanagement of the State Grant
b) Arrival of John Muir in California
c) John Muir and Robert Underwood Johnson J0|n
Forces :
d) Response of the Commtssmners to Charges of

Mismanagement :
e) Comments on the Controversy : o
f) The Yosemite National Park Bill Passes Congress
) Comments on the Preservation Movement and
Establishment of Yosemite National Park

Chapter [II. Administration of The Yosemite Grant and
Yosemite National Park, 1890-1905 :
A. The U.S. Army Enters Yosemite

1. The U.S. Army Becomes the Regulatory Force in the New
California Parks : : : :

2. Aspects of Military Management :

3. Contributions of the U.S. Army to the Present National

Park System : :
B. Trails, Bridges, and Roads
1. Trailsand Bridges :
a) Pre-Army Trail System
b) Blazes : : : :
c) Army Troops Begln Improving Routes
2. Toll Roads :
C. Constructionand Development
1. State of California
a) Pavilion
b) Powerhouse
2. Concession Operations
a) Wawona Hotel :
) Cosmopolitan Bathhouse and Saloon :
Camp Curry

b
c)
d) Degnan Bakery.

XixX

298

300
301
304

305

311
311

311
312

318
320
320
320
321
325
341
349
349
349
349
349
349
350
351
352

288



F.
G.
H

Chapter
A.

B.

C .

e ) Fiske Studio

f ) Foley Studio :
g) Jorgensen Studio
h) Boysen Studio .

) Best Studio :
i) Studio of the Three Arrows
3. Sierra Club .

a) Creation of CIub
b) LeConte Lodge .
4. U.S. Army.
a) New Camp Burldrngs
b) Arboretum
Natural Resource Management : : : : : :
1. Continuing Charges of Spoliation of Yosemite Valley
2. The Sheep Problem :
a) The Sheep Industry in the 18903
b) Army Measures to Combat Trespassing
Grazing on Park Lands
Poaching .
Fish Planting
Forest Management
Stream Flow Measurements in Yosemrte VaIIey
Origins of a Major Conservation Battle .
a) Initiation of the Hetch Hetchy Project : :
b) The Secretary of the Interior Denies Mayor Phelan's
Applications
A New Transportation Era Begrns
1. Railroad Lines to Yosemite
a) Yosemite Short Line Railway Company
b) Yosemite Valley Railroad
Private Lands and Boundary Changes
Recession of the Yosemite Grant
Refocus of Park Administration

IV. Administration of Yosemite National Park, 1906-1915.
The Army Moves Its Headquarters to Yosemite Valley
Trails, Bridges, and Roads
1. Trails and Bridges . :
a) General Trail and Brrdge Work
b) John Muir Trail :
2 . Roads : : :
a) El Portal Road :
b) Status of Roads in 1913 : : : :
C) Road and Trail Construction Required of the City
o fSan Francisco : : : :
d) Initiation of Auto Travel in Yosemite
e) Effects of Auto Travel in the Park .
f) The Federal Government Acquires the Troga Road
9) The Big Oak Flat Road Becomes Toll Free
Buildingsa n d Construction : : : :
1. Army Camp
2. Yosemite Village

XX



D.
E.

F.

G.

3.  Pankk General .
a) Schools . .

b) Powerhouse
c) Miscellaneous
d) Wood-Splitting Plant : :
e) Fire Lookouts and Patrol Cahins
Campgrounds : : :
Visitor Service Operauons Expand

1. The U.S. Army Becomes Involved in Business

Concessions

Camp Curry Continues to Grow

The Camp ldea Expands to Other Areas

The Washburn Interests :

The Yosemite Transportation Company

The Yosemite Valley Railroad Company

The Shaffer and Lounsbury Garage.

The Desmond Park Service Company

Patented Lands Again Pose a Problem

1. Timberlands : : :
a) Lumber Interests Eye Park Timber Stands
b) Congress Authorizes Land Exchanges
c) The Yosemite Lumber Company
d) The Madera Sugar Pine Company

2. Private Properties : :

a) Foresta

b) McCauley Ranch

c

d

LOOO\IOﬁUjh(,QN

) The Cascades (Gentry TracU
) Tuolumne Meadows (Soda Spr|ngs)
Insect and Blister Rust Control

1. Beetle Depredations
2. White Pine Blister Rust : :
The Hetch Hetchy Water Project Plan Proceeds
1. The Garfield Permit
2 Antagonism to the Project Con|nues
3
4

The City of San Francisco Begins Acquiring Land
A New Secretary of the Interior Questions His

Predecessor's Actions
5. The Raker Act
6. Construction Begins :
7 General Character of the Sys em
8 Elements of the Hetchy Hetchy System
a) Hetch Hetchy Railroad :
b) Sawmills :
c) Lake Eleanor Dam
d) Hetch Hetchy Dam
Completion of the Yosemite Valley RaHroad
Growth of EI Portal : :
Growth of Interest in Natmnal Parks and Need for

Organization Leads to Establishment of National Park

1. Change in Administration of the Parks

2. - Proposal for a Bureau of National Parks and Resorts
3. Establishment of the National Park Service

XXI

Concession Permits in Operation During That Time.

Service

451
451
456
456
457
457
458
461

461
462
470
472
47 2
477
478
479
479
481
481
481
483
484
488
488
488
489
490
490
494
494
495
496
496
497
498

500
501
505
506
507
507
509
512

.9 12

513
516

518
518
519
521



Chapter
National
A .
B .

C.

E.

Volume 2: Historical Narrative (Continued)

V. National Park Service Administration of Yosemite
Park, 1916-1930: The Mather Years : : : : 523
Overview : : : : : : : : : : : 523
Roads, Trails, and Bridges : : : : : : : 531
1. Season of 1916 : : : : : : 531
a) Existing Roads and Tra|Is S 531
(1) Government-Owned Roads S 532
(2) Non-Government-Owned Roads L 533
(3) Government-Owned Trails L 533
b) Anticipated Visitation Requires New Construct|on : 537
c) John Muir Trail : : : : : : : 541
2. Season of 1917 : : : : : : . 542
3. Seasons of 1918-19 : : : : : : 547
4. The 1920s Period : : 548
a) Improvement of Roads and Tralls Contlnues : : 548
b) Hetch Hetchy Area : : : : : : : 550
c) Auxiliary Valley Roads : : 551
d) The Park Service Initiates a Road BU|Id|ng Program 552
e) Improvement of Wawona Road and Relocation of Big
Oak Flat Road Contemplated . 554
f) Reconstruction of Wawona Road Beglns : . . 555
g) Valley Stone Bridges Constructed L 560
h) Trail Work Continues : : : : : . 560
5. Some Valley Naturalization Begins o 565
Construction and Development : : : : : : . 568
1 The Park Service Slowly Builds Needed Structures : 568
2 A New Village Site is Considered Lo 577
3. The 1920s Period Involves a Variety of Const ruct|on Jobs 581
4. The New Hospital and Superintendent's Residence . : 585
5 The Indian Village in Yosemite Valley o 590
6 More Construction and Removal of Some Older Structures 591
Educational and Interpretive Programs 595
1 Nature Guide Service 595
2 LeConte Lectures 597
3 Yosemite Museum Assomat|on 597
4. Zoo. : 603
5. Indian F|e|d Days : 605
6 Interpretive Publications : : : 606
7 Yosemite School of Field Natural History 606
8 Research Preserves : : : : . : 607
9 Development and Importance of Educational Work at
Yosemite : 607
Concession Operations : : : : : : : . 612
1. The Desmond Park Service Company (Yosemite National
Park Company). : . 612
a) The Desmond Company Rece|ves a Concessmn Permit 612
b) Desmond Constructs Forerunners of High Sierra
Camps : : : : : : : . 615
c) Yosemite Nat|ona| Park Company Formed . : : 618
d) Bear Feeding Expands : : : : . 624
e) High Sierra Camps Reest ab||shed : 626
f) Yosemite National Park Company Holdings, 1924 . 630

XXII



2 . The Curry Camping Company . : . : . : 652

a) The Company Continues to Grow o 652
b) Mrs. Curry Has the LeConte Lodge Moved : : 652
C) New Construction Activity e 653
d) Yosemite Park and Curry Company Formed : : 658
e) The Company Initiates a Winter Sports Program . 663
f) Concession Atmosphere Changes with Increased
Tourism : : : : : : : 671
3. T he Wawona Hot eICompany : : : : : : 671
4, Best Studio. : : : : : : : 675
5. Pillsbury Studio : 676
6 . Fiske Studio 676
7. Baxter Studio 676
F. Patented Lands. 677
1. Yosemite Lumber Company 677
2 . Foresta Subdivision 684
3. Big Meadow 687
4 . Aspen Valley Home5|tes 687
5. Cascade Tract : 688
6. Gin Flat and Crane Flat : 688
7. T h e Cascades (Gentry Tract) 688
8. Hazel Green : : : 688
9. White Wolf Lodge 689
G. Hetch Hetchy 695
H. El Portal Mining 699
l. Yosemite Valley Ra|Iroad 713
J. Natural Resource Management 715
1 Stream Control . 115
2 . Meadows 717
3. Fire Control 718
4 Grazing 720
K Fish Hatcheries : 721
L. Stream Flow Measurements 723
M Snow Survey . : : : : 728
N Establishment of Yosemite Advisory Board 729
Chapter VI: National Park Service Administration, 1931 to Ca. 1960 . 131
A . Overview : : : : . : : 731
1. Stephen Mather St eps Down : : : : : 731
2. Public Works Programs Aid Complet|on of Park Projects . 132
3. The Dissolution of Emergency Relief Projects Severely
Impacts Park Conditions : : : : : 750
4. MISSION 66 Revives Park Development Coe 752
B . Roads, Trails,.and Bridges : : : : : 758
1. Trail Construction in the Early 19305 Results in
Completion of John Muir Trail : : : : : : 758
2. Reconstruction of Park Roads Begins in Early 1930s . 762
a) Paving and Tunnel and Br|dge Building Commence . 162
b ) Tioga Road : : : : .7 6 2
c ) WanonaRoadandTunnel : . 163
d ) Yosemite Valley Bridges 769

XX



E.

~No ok, wN -

8.

9.
10.
11.

1.
2.
3.

Patented Lands.
Remaining

10.

11.

12.

1
2
3
4.
5.
6
7
8
9

e) Glacier Point Road.

f) Big Oak Flat Road.
g) Trail and Road Signs
h) Bridge Work Precedes Flood of 1937 :
1) North Valley Road Realignment Considered
) Completion of New Big Oak Flat Road

k) Bridge Work Continues

1) Flood of 1950
m) Completion of the Tioga Road

n) Flood Reconstruction Work Continues
0) MISSION 66 Provides

Entrance Road
Construction and Development .

Season
Season
Season
Season
Season
Season
Season

of
of
of
of
of
of
of

1931
1932.
1933.
1934.
1935.
1936.
1937.

a) General Consnucnon
b) Flood Damage .
C) New CCC Cascades Camp Constructed
Season of 1938

Seasons of 1939-40. :
Period of the Late 1940s. :
The 1950s Period Encompasses Many Changes.
Concession Operations

The National

Big Trees Lodge
Chronology of Later
Development

a) Company Fathes Need

Yosenﬂte

Impetus for

in the 1940s

Park Serwce Acquwes\Nawona Bamn
Park and Curry Company

Improvement

Winter Sports Move to Badger Pass .

)
) Limited Construction Occurs
d) High Sierra Camps Continue

e) The U.S. Navy Takes Over the Ahwahnee Homl

Newl Big .Oak .Flat

769
771
771
778
784
785
785
795
796
797

802
802
803
811
815
824
839
850
851
851
852
853
855
859
871
872
884
884
894

895
895
901
902
903
904

f) The Curry Company Begrns a New Bundrng Program 905

in 1931

Yosemite Lumber Company
Section 35, Wawona .
Camp Hoyle
Hazel Green
Carl Inn

Foresta

Big Meadow

White Wolf

Soda Springs

Tioga Mine

a) Renewal of Acuvuy :
b) Mine Ruins.
MISSION 66 Provides

Impetus for

XXV

Land Acquisition.

917
917
922
923
931
931
932
932
937
938
939
944
944
946
947



IO

zZZrxo

Hetch Hetchy

1. O'Shaughnessy Dam Ralsed .

2. Hetch Hetchy Railroad Revived .
3. Construction and Security, 1930s-1950s

Yosemite Valley Railway
Research and Park Management
Natural Resource Management
1. River and Stream Control
2. Fire Control

3. Grazing

4. Insect Control

5. Blister Rust Control .
Fish and Game .
Water Monitoring
Snow Survey
E | Portal
Summary

Volume 3: Discussion of Historical Resources, Appendixes,

Historical Base Maps, Bibliography

Chapter VII: Historical Resources of Yosemite National Park

Chapter VIM: Additional Notes on Certain Sites

A . | n the Backcountry : :
B. Hetch Hetchy and Lake Eleanor Dams
C. Foresta Subdivision and McCauley-Meyer Sawmlll
1. Foresta :
2. McCauley-Meyer Sawmlll
D. Emergency Relief Projects
E . Yosemite Valley
1. Hydroelectric Power Plant
2 Ahwahnee Row Houses
3. Yosemite Village Historic Dlstrlct
4. Camp Curry Historic District
5 Yosemite Lodge.
6 Yosemite Village Garage
7 Yosemite Village Gas Station
F Wawona
1. Pioneer Yosemlte Hlstory Center
2. Section 35.
G. El Portal : : :
1. Hotel and Market
2 . Other Resources
Chapter IX: Recommendations for Interpretation, Cultural
Management, and Further Research . . . . . .
A. Interpretation and Cultural Resources Management .
B. Further Research

Resources

948
948
949
961
961
966
967
967
974
975
977
979
981
985
985
987
994

1013

1021
1021
1023
1025
1025
1025
1026
1027
1027
1028
1030
1032
1033
1034
1034
1034
1034
1036
1037
1038
1038

1041
1041
1042



Chapter X: Significant Historical Properties in Yosemite National Park

A. The National Register of Historic Places
1. Properties Listed in the National Register : :
2. Properties Determined Eligible for Listing in the National
Register. : :
3. Properties Nomlnated to the Natlonal Register, Status
Uncertain . : : :
4. Properties Nomlnated to the Natlonal Register by the

National Park Service, Concurred in by State Historic
Preservation Officer, Returned by National Register for
Additional Data or Revisions. Potential National
Register Properties . : : :

5. Properties to be Nominated to the Natlonal Register, 1987
a ) Architecture :
b) Transportation and Landscape Archltecture
c ) Conservation/Commerce
d) Conservation/Parks and Recreatron

B. The Historic American Buildings Survey .
C. The National Historic Landmarks Program :
D. The List of Classified Structures for Yosemite Natlonal Park

as of 12 December 1984

Appendixes. : : : : : : : : : :

A: C. Hart I\/Ierrram "Indian Village and Camp Sites in Yosemite
Valley," Sierra Club Bulletin 10, No. 2 (January 1917) .

B: Chronological Overview of Archeological Investigation in
Yosemite National Park

C: Rules and Regulations for the Government of the Yosemlte VaIIey
and Mariposa Big Tree Grove :

D: Legislation Pertaining to Yosemite VaIIey and the Marrposa Blg
Tree Grove

E: Administrators of the Yosemrte VaIIey and Marrposa Blg Tree
Grove, 1866-1960.

F: Historical Components of Concessron Operatlons June-JuIy 1923

G: Building Inventory, Yosemite National Park

Historical Base Maps : : : : : : : :
Historical Maps of Yosemite Natronal Park and Yosemite Valley, 1850 to
1915, by William and Mary Hood, ca. 1964

Historical Base Map No. 1. Early Trails, Yosemite National Park,
DSC, 1987
No. 2. Early Roads in Yosemite Natlonal Park
(5 sheets), DSC, 1987 : : :
No. 3. Old Yosemite Village Area, Development
from 1859 to 1959, DSC, 1987
No. 4. Yosemite National Park, showing roads,

structures, sites, and archeological and
historic districts, DSC, 1987

No. 5. National Register sites and potential
nominations, Yosemite Valley

Bibliography

XXV

1045
1045
1046

1048

1048

1049
1049
1050
1051
1052
1052
1054
1055

1057

1061

1063

1069

1075

1081

1087

1089
1105

1149

1150

38

1201

1212

1214

1216

1219



OCOONOUTPA,WN R

10.
11.

12-14.

15.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.
21.
22.
23.
24.
25.
26.

27.
28.
29.
30.
31.
32.
33.
34.
35.

36-37.

38.
39.
40.
41.

42.
43.
44 .
45.

46-48.

49.

List of Illustrations

Location of Indian tribes in the vicinity of Yosemite National Park
Indian villages and sweathouses in Yosemite Valley, 1851
Route of Mariposa Battalion into Yosemite Valley, March 1851
Early trails in the vicinity of Yosemite National Park
Rock wall cribbing on old Coulterville Road
Rock retaining wall, old Big Oak Flat Road
Map of Yosemite Valley, 1878-79.
Barnard's Hotel and cottages, 1890
Sentinel Hotel, late 1890s.
Wawona Hotel, ca. 1886.
Hill's Studio, 1984 : : : : : .
Wawona Hotel, Annex Building, and Little Brown (Moore
Cottage), 1984
Stoneman House, ca. 1886
Sketch of area in front of Stoneman House in Yosemlte VaIIey
Yosemite Valley chapel, photo by George Fiske :
Notching and chinking techniques in pioneer log cabins.
Cuneo residence, Carl Inn, 1984
Hazel Green ranch, 1984
Shed ruins, McCauley ranch, 1984
Cabin ruins, McCauley ranch, 1984
Barn, McCauley ranch, 1984
Sawmill, McCauley ranch, 1984
Meyer saltbox and crib barns, 1984
Hodgdon Aspen Valley homestead cabin at Ploneer Yosem|te
History Center
Anderson cabin at Ploneer Yosemlte Hlstory Center
Kibbe cabin, 1896. : .
Soda Springs enclosure, 1984
Tuolumne Meadows cabin, 1950s : :
Leonard cabin, Little Yosemite Valley, 1984
Yosemite Valley cemetery plan
Lamon cabin, 1950s :
McGurk Meadow cabin, 1984
Trail to Chilnualna Fall, 1985
Great Sierra Mine cabin ruins
Lifting winch, Great Sierra Mine, 1985 . .
Old Tioga Road through Tuolumne Meadows, 1984
Yosemite Valley roads and structures map, 1887-88

Areas of activity and those wunder cultivation in Yosemite Valley,

1883-1890. : :

Map of Yosemite VaIIey, 1890.

Map of Yosemite Valley, 1892

Outline map of Yosemite Valley, 1894
Diamond and T blazes, Ostrander Lake Trail

Three copies showing patrol posts, patrol routes, and grazing

areas : :
Yosemite VaIIey roor ca. 1900.

XXV

Map of Yosemite National Park by Lt. N.F. McClure, 1896.

4
10
20
38
104
104

112
118
118
124
124

128
140

142
152
168

172
172
182
182
184
184
186

190
190

194
202

204

208

214
220

230
238

248
252
252
284

292
306
314
322

326

330

346



50.

First automobile in Yosemite Valley, 1900

51. Wawona arboretum, 1904. Footbridge over Big Creek and bench

52. Wawona arboretum, 1904. Interpretive sign

53. Staff water gauge at Pohono Bridge, 1985

54. McCauley cabin, Tuolumne Meadows, 1984 . : :

55. Major changes to boundaries, Yosemite National Park, 1864-1979

56. Sketch map of the High Mountain Route from Yosemite to the
King's River Canyon, 1908 : : : :

57. Map of Yosemite Valley showing roads and projected revisions,
1912-13 : : :

58. Map of portion of Yosemrte VaIIey showrng location of ca. 1909
schoolhouse and 1912 Army residence 5 : : .

59. Crane Flat ranger patrol cabin, Yosemite Proneer History Center

60. Plat of land leased to J.B. Cook, Chris Jorgensen, and
Coffman and Kenney, 1906. : : :

61. Map of Wawona Hotel and vicinity, ca. 1909-1912 : :

62. Collapsed trestle at top of north side incline above EI Portal.

63. Parsons Memorial Lodge, Tuolumne Meadows, 1984

64. Lake Eleanor Dam, 1984

65. Map showing routes of Yosemite Lumber Company and Yosemrte
Sugar Pine Lumber Company railroads

66. Automobile map of Yosemite National Park, 1917

67. Automobile guide map of roads in Yosemite Valley, 1917.

68. Map of Yosemite Valley and adjacent region, 1920

69. Happy Isles Bridge, 1984. : :

70. Map showing roads in Yosemite Valley, ca. 1929

71. Map of Yosemite National Park, 1929

72-73. Examples of early structures in Yosemite VaIIey marntenance
yard, 1984 : : : : : : .

74-76. Water intake and penstock of Yosemite Valley power plant,
1984 _ . . _ . . . . . .

77-79. Interior of power house and Cascade residence and garage,
1984 :

80. Map of Yosemrte Vrllage 1920

81. Lewis Memorial Hospital, 1984 .

82. Paint shop in Yosemite Valley marntenance yard (former Indian
Village residence), 1984 :

83. EI| Portal entrance boundary marker 1984

84. Glacier Point overlook, 1984 : :

85. OIld log cabin at Mariposa Grove, date unknown : :

86. Barracks moved from Owens Valley to Yosemite Lodge, 1984

87. Glacier Point Hotel, date unknown

88. Map of Big Trees Lodge site, 1923 : :

89. May Lake High Sierra camp cookhouse and drnrng room, 1986

90. Merced Lake High Sierra camp barn, 1984

91. Merced Lake High Sierra camp ice house, 1984 : : : :

92. Plat of Group A, Yosemite Village, Yosemite National Park Company
operations, 1924 . . : :

93. Plat of Group B, Yosemrte Lodge wood sectron YNPCo., 1924

94. Plat of Group C, Yosemite Lodge annex, YNPCo., 1924.

95. Plat of Group D and E, Camp Tecoya and Camp Tecoya Annex,

YNPCo., 1924

XXV

346
362
362
378

398

406

2 2

426

452
454

464

474
486
492
510

514
526
528
544

558

562

566

570

o172
574
578
586

588

592

600

608
616
616
620
628
628
628

632
634
636

638



96.

97.
98.
99.

100.

Plat of Group F, Construction and Equipment Warehouses,
YNPCo., 1924 : :

Plat of Group G, Garage Group YNPCo 1924 :
Plat of Group H, Housekeeping Camp #17, YNPCo., 1924
Plat of Group J, Stables, YNPCo., 1924 : :

Plat of Group Q, Glacier Point Hotel site, YNPCo., 1924

101-104. Ahwahnee row houses, 1986.

105.

106. Plat, Camp Curry, 1925 :

107. Tecoya employee housing area, 1930

108. Plat, Camp Curry, 1930.

109. Snow Creek cabin, 1984

110. Snow Creek cabin, 1984

111. Wawona slaughterhouse, 1985

112. Yosemite Lumber Company holdings, 1923

113. Map of timber stands acquired in 1930 Rockefeller purchase .

114-16. White Wolf Lodge, guest cabin, and storage shed, 1984 .

117. Map of Hetch Hetchy water supply, 1925 : :

118. Plat of O'Shaughnessey Dam camp site, showing roads and
buildings, 1925 :

119. O'Shaughnessey Dam, 1984 : :

120. Mess hall and dormitory, Hetch Hetchy 1984.

121. Damkeeper's residence, Hetch Hetchy, 1984

122. Assistant damkeeper's residence, Hetch Hetchy, 1984

Sites occupied by permittees in Yosemite V|IIage 1924

123-24. Residences, Hetch Hetchy, 1984

125. Ranger station/residence, Lake Eleanor, 1984
126. Storage building, Lake Eleanor, 1984 : : :
127-28. Rancheria Flat houses built by National Lead Company,

129-30. Murchison house and assay office, EIl Portal, 1984 : .
131-34. Water gauging stations at Pohono Bridge and Happy Isles,

135.
136.
137.
138.
139.
140.
141.
142.
143.
144.
145.
146.
147.
148.
149.
150.
151.
152.
153.
154.

1984-85 . . . .
Map of CCC camp no. 1, Wawona, 1934
Map of CCC camp no. 2, Wawona, 1934
Sketch of Merced Grove CCC camp, 1935
Map of Yosemite National Park, 1931

Automobile guide map showing roads in Yosemite VaIIey 1931

Stone steps on Mist Trail, 1985

Happy Isles Bridge, 1985

Wawona tunnel, east portal, 1985

Wawona tunnel, interior, 1986

Stone wall on State Highway 140, 1984

Map of Yosemite Valley floor, ca. 1935

Metal trail sign. :

Corduroy road along north srde of Johnson Lake
Arch Rock office, 1984

Arch Rock comfort station, 1984

Arch Rock residence #106, 1984 :
Wooden truss bridge over Yosemite Creek, 1986
Cascade Creek Bridge, old Big Oak Flat Road, 1985
Tunnel No. 1, east portal, new Big Oak Flat Road, 1986
Stone wall along new Big Oak Flat Road, 1986

155-57. Bridges, new Big Oak Flat Road, 1986.

XXiX

1985.

640
642
644
646
648
650
654
660
664
666
668
668
672
678
682
690
692

696
700
700
702
702
704
706
706
708
710

124
738
742
746
760

764

(66
/66

172
172

q72
174
(176

776

780
780
780

782
782
786
786

788



158.
159.
160.

161.

162.
163.
164.
165-66.
167.
168.
169.
170.
171.
172.
173.
174.
175.
176.
177.
178.
179.
180-81.
182.
183.
184.
185.
186.
187.
188.
189.
190.
191.
192.
193.
194.
195.
196.
197.
198.
199.
200.
201.
202.
203.
204,
205-206.
207,
208. South Entrance office,
209. South Entrance comfort station,
South Entrance ranger station/residence,
Yosemite Valley maintenance yard,

210-211.
212-14.
power plant,

Road bridge over Tuolumne River,
South Fork of the Tuolumne River bridge abutment
Map of Yosemite National :
Road bridge over the South Fork of the Merced Rrver

1985.

Controversial sectron of Tloga Road
Ruins of Chilnualna Fall : :
Log and plank bridge on Chain Lakes-Chiquito Pass Trail,
Crane Flat fire lookout, :

Tioga Pass ranger station,
Tioga Pass comfort station,
Buck Camp cabin,
Buck Camp cabin,

Glacier

Glacier Point naturalist's cabin,
Chinquapin
Chinquapin
Chinquapin
Chinquapin
Chinquapin
Chinquapin
Hetch Hetchy comfort station,
Mather ranger station/residence,
Mather barn,
Old cookhouse/residence, :
Tuolumne Meadows visitor center (old CCC mess haII)
Employee housing (former bunkhouses) Tuolumne Meadows,

Merced

Miguel Meadow barn,
Miguel Meadow guard station,
Henness Ridge fire lookout,

Wawona
Wawona
Wawona
Wawona
Wawona
Wawona
Wawona
Wawona
Wawona
Wawona
Wawona
Wawona
Wawona
Wawona
Wawona

Eight-Mile insect control
South Entrance kiosk and office,

Utility building,

1985 .

Park, 1948

1984 : :
ranger patrol cabin, 1985 .
1984, 1986.
1984

1984

1985.
shed,

Point residence,

and privy, 1985
1984 :

1984

1984

1986

comfort station,
ranger station,
garage, 1984 .
gas station, 1984

barn, 1984

barn, 1984 :

1984 :
1984.
1984.

Mather 1984

Lake ranger station, 1984
1984 :

1984
1984
ranger station/residence #4000,
residence #4003, 1984
ranger station/residence #4001,
equipment shed #4052, 1984
equipment shed #4052, 1984
barn, utility area, 1984
blister rust camp repair garage,
maintenance yard, 1984
district ranger office #4027,
ranger office #4002, 1984
teacherage and school, 1984
barn, 1984
residence occupied by Curry Company employee
wagon shop, 1984
store and post office,

1084

1084,

1984

" 1084

1984 :
laboratory,
1984.

1984

1984. :

1984. :
1984

1984.
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1984

1984
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215.
216.
217.

Frog Creek cabin, 1984 :
Remnants of dam, Frog Creek, 1984
Map of Yosemite National Park, 1939.

218-19. Rear of Sentinel Hotel, 1934

220. Sentinel Hotel in OIld Village, 1935. :

221. Front of Rock Cottage, Old Village, ca. 1935

222-23. Ivy Cottage, OIld Village, ca. 1935

224. Mariposa Grove comfort station, 1984

225. Ostrander Lake ski hut, 1984 :

226. Map of flood damage in Yosemite Valley, 1955 :

227. Map of Indian Village - Arch Rock entrance station, 1952

228. Map of boundary changes, Wawona Basin : :

229. Map of Wawona Hotel and vicinity. :

230. Map of Wawona area, showing concession operatrons and park
facilities, 1974

231. Remains of Big Trees Lodge Mariposa Grove 1984

232. Empire Meadow building foundation ruins, 1984 :

233. Map of Tecoya group and warehouse area, Yosemite VaIIey 1972

234. Map of High Sierra camps, 1975. :

235. Map of Ahwahnee Hotel grounds, Yosemite VaIIey, 1970 :

236. Map of Yosemite Lodge area, 1972 : :

237. Map of Camp Curry, 1956.

238. Railroad ties at top of north side mclme of Yosemrte Lumber
Company, 1984

239. Map of Wawona area, showing Section 35, 1967

240. Map of Foresta :

241. Tent cabins, White WoIf Lodge 1984.

242. Wrangler's cabin, White Wolf Lodge, 1986.

243. Guide map of Yosemite National Park, ca. 1968

244. Map of Hetch Hetchy Railroad, 1947 :

245. Bunkhouses and boarding house, Hetch Hetchy dam Site, 1930s

246. Engineers' quarters and portable bunkhouses, Hetch Hetchy
dam site, 1930s. : : : : :

247. Office guest house and resrdences Hetch Hetchy dam site, 1930s .

248. Map of Hetch Hetchy village with 1935 additions

249. Guest cottage, Hetch Hetchy, 1984 :

250. Lake Eleanor dormitory, 1984

251. Hetch Hetchy covered water line, 1984 :

252. Packer's shack, Lake Eleanor Road - Jack Main Canyon Tra|I
junction, 1984

253. Crane Flat blister rust camp mess haII 1984.

254. Crane Flat blister rust camp barracks and office, 1984

255. Lake Vernon snow survey/patrol cabin, 1986

256. Interior of Lake Vernon cabin, 1986.

257. Snow Flat snow survey/patrol cabin, 1984 :

258. Ruins of Lake Wilmer snow survey/patrol cabin, 1986

259. Sachse Springs snow survey/patrol cabin, 1986

260. Interior of Sachse Springs cabin, 1986 : : :

261. County library and residence (former post offrce) El Portal, 1985

262. El Portal post office, 1985 :

263. EI Portal chapel (former school), 1984.

264. El Portal elementary school, 1985.
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856
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864
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868
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874
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914
918

924

928

934
940
940

942
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952
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958

962
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964
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982
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988
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265.
266.
267.
268.
269.
270.
271.
272.
273.
274.
275.

El Portal fire department, 1985 : :
Carroll Clark Community Center, EI| Portal, 1985
El Portal Hotel, rear, 1984 : : :
El Portal Hotel, front and side, 1984

El Portal Market, 1984

El Portal Motor Inn, 1984 : : : :
Rancheria Flat MISSION 66 housing, El Portal, 1985
Chevron building, EI Portal, 1985. : :
Old sewage treatment plant, ElI Portal, 1985
New wastewater treatment plant, EI Portal, 1985
Ruins of Cuneo mill, El Portal, n.d
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1004
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Chronologies

The following chronologies for various areas of Yosemite National Park are
presented as an aid to understanding the complex history of the area.
Occasionally they go beyond the report's 1960 ending date in order to
provide information of interest. Robert C. Pavlik compiled the original
information, to which the author added additional data. A variety of
books, government records, and park reports served as source documents

unless otherwise stated.

XXXI11



1833:

1848:

1849:

1851.:

1852:

1853:

1854

1855:

1856:

Yosemite Valley

Joseph Walker party crosses the Sierra Nevada from east to
west, along the divide of the Tuolumne and Merced River
drainages, and may have been the first whites to see
Yosemite Valley.'

James Marshall discovers gold on the American River, and
the subsequent gold rush to California in 1849 and 1850
precipitated the skirmishes between whites and Indians that
eventually led to the discovery and entry of Yosemite Valley
by whites.

Willam Penn Abrams and U.N. Reamer gaze into Yosemite
Valley while lost on a hunting expedition from their camp on
the South Fork of the Merced River.

Major James D. Savage leads the Mariposa Battallion into
Yosemite Valley, in search of renegade Indians. Bunnell,
the Dbattallion surgeon, suggests the name "Yosemite" for the
area after the name of a group of Indians living there (the
Uzemati, or Grizzly Bear clan).

Second entry to Yosemite Valley by Capt. John Boling's
company; captured Indians at Tenaya Lake.

Skirmishes continue between Indians and miners, with two
prospectors killed in Yosemite Valley. Lt. Tredwell Moore
enters valley with detachment. The Yosemites flee the valley
to take refuge with the Mono Lake Paiutes east of the
Sierra.

The Yosemites return to Yosemite Valley. A horse-stealing
incident precipitates a fight between the Paiutes and
Yosemites, with six of the latter, including Chief Tenaya,
killed.

James Capen "Grizzly" Adams visits Yosemite to hunt and
trap grizzlies to train for entertainment purposes.

James M. Hutchings, publisher of California Magazine, leads
the first tourist party into Yosemite. Artist Thomas Ayres
iIs included in the party and renders the first illustrations of
Yosemite's natural features.

Mann brothers® toll trail from Clark's Station (Wawona) to
Yosemite Valley completed.

Coulterville Free Trail blazed from Bull Creek through Deer

Flat, Hazel Green, Crane Flat, Tamarack Flat, and Gentry's
to the valley floor.
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1857:

1859:

1863:

1864:

1866:

1868:

1869:

1870:

1871:

First permanent structure, the Lower Hotel, Dbuilt in
Yosemite Valley.

Bearsley and Hite erect the Upper Hotel, Ilater Cedar
Cottage.

James Lamon arrives in Yosemite Valley, establishes the first
permanent, year-round occupancy, and develops the first
homestead.

Charles L. Weed produces the first photographs of Yosemite
Valley.

Artist Albert Bierstadt visits Yosemite Valley.

J.M. Hutchings takes over control of the Upper Hotel,
changing the name to "Hutchings House."

Florence Hutchings becomes the first white child born in
Yosemite Valley.

Yosemite Valley and the Mariposa Grove of Giant Sequoia
deeded to the state from the federal government as a grant
to be held for the public "in perpetuity." Grant consists of
48.6 square miles. A Board of Commissioners established
with Frederick Law Olmsted as the first chairman.
Galen Clark appointed Guardian of Yosemite Grant.

Yosemite commissioners disallow private claims on Yosemite
lands.

John Muir makes his first trip to Yosemite Valley.
George F. Leidig builds hotel near the Lower Hotel.

Lower Hotel removed; A.G. Black builds Black's Hotel on its
site.

Central Pacific Railroad completed from Sacramento to
Stockton.

Albert Snow builds La Casa Nevada after construction of

horse trail to the area between Nevada and Vernal falls.
Copperopolis branch of Central Pacific Railroad built.
J.C. Smith builds Cosmopolitan Bathhouse and Saloon.

John Conway builds a trail from La Casa Nevada to Little

Yosemite Valley. Conway also begins work on the Four-Mile
Trail to Glacier Point, completed in 1872.
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1872:

1873:

1874:

1875:

1876:

1877:

1878:

1879:

1880:

1882:

Central Pacific Railroad built to Berenda.

Conway builds a stage road on the north side of the Merced

River in Yosemite Valley.
James McCauley begins the firefall from Glacier Point.
Central Pacific Railroad built to Merced.

Conway builds Eagle Peak Trail to the base of the upper

Yosemite Fall.
Coulterville Road reaches floor of Yosemite Valley in June;
Big Oak Flat Road is completed in July.

Hutchings has a wooden boardwalk/roadway built from
Hutchings House up the valley floor (to the east); Hutchings
also has a horse trail built up Indian Canyon, but it quickly
falls into disrepair because of the difficulty of maintaining
the trail.

Private claims in valley purchased by state. Thereafter
commissioners control business concessions.

Wawona Road completed to Yosemite Valley.

George Anderson successfully completes the first ascent of
Half Dome.

School provided for Yosemite Valley.
Sentinel Hotel built by George W. Coulter and A.J. Murphy.

J.K. Barnard takes over Sentinel Hotel, also known as
Yosemite Falls Hotel.

A. Harris establishes first public campgrounds in Yosemite
Valley.

Yosemite Chapel constructed with funds raised by the
Sunday School Union.

California state legislature creates new Board of Yosemite
Commissioners.

J.M. Hutchings appointed Guardian of Yosemite Grant.
State legislature appropriates money to purchase and
maintain trails and roads within the grant constructed and

operated by private parties. The Four-Mile Trail to Glacier
Point is the first acquisition.
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1884:

1885:

1886:

1887:

1888:

1889:

1890:

1891.:

1892:

1893:

1894:

1895:

Anderson Trail from Happy Isles to bridge below Vernal Fall
built.

John Degnans establish a bakery and store.

Hutchings removed as Guardian and replaced by W.E.
Dennison.

George Fiske opens photographic studio.

State legislature appropriates $40,000 to build the Stoneman

House, in honor of the California governor.

Echo Wall Trail from Nevada Fall to Glacier Point built.

All private trails and roads within the grant purchased by
1886 and made available to the public at no cost.

Mark L. McCord becomes Guardian of the grant.

Stoneman House completed.

Black's and Leidig's hotels removed by order of the state

commissioners.
Galen Clark reappointed Guardian of the grant.

Dam constructed at the outflow of Mirror Lake to raise its
water level. This strategy repeated numerous times, along
with dredging, to maintain lake's reflective qualities and to
acquire sand for the roads in winter.

Yosemite National Park (reserved forest lands) created, 1
October.

D.J. Foley establishes print shop and studio.

U.S. Army cavalry unit arrives in park, headquartered at
Wawona. The army is empowered to patrol and protect the
park from poachers, stockmen, sheepherders, fires, mining,
and other threats. Capt. A.E. Wood is first acting
superintendent.

Sierra Club formed, with John Muir as president.

Sierra Forest Reserve established 15 February.

Capt. H. Gale made acting superintendent.

Capt. Alexander Rodgers becomes acting superintendent.
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1896:

1897:

1898:
1899:

1900:

1901.:

1902:

Stoneman House, located near present-day Curry garage
burns.

Lt. Col. S.B.M. Young becomes acting superintendent.
First effort made to keep firearms out of park.

Rock stairway replaces wooden ladders on Vernal Fall Mist

Trail.
Abandoned stage office converted to schoolhouse.

David Curry continues McCauley's tradition of the firefall.

Miles Wallace becomes Guardian of grant. Rodgers continues
as acting superintendent.

La Casa Nevada destroyed by fire.
Archie Leonard appointed first civilian park ranger.

W. Zevely and Capt. J.E. Caine function as acting
superintendents.

Curry Camping Company established.

Artist Chris Jorgensen maintains a studio in Yosemite Valley
from 1899 to 1918.

Lt. Wililam Forse and Capt. E.F. Willcox are acting
superintendents.

First auto enters Yosemite.
Maj. L.J. Rucker becomes acting superintendent.
J.T. Boysen establishes studio.

Camp Yosemite (Camp Lost Arrow) established near foot of
Yosemite Fall.

Geology professor Joseph LeConte dies in his tent at Camp
Curry, 6 Jduly.

Maj. L.A. Craig is acting superintendent.

Happy Isles power plant built by state.

Hutchings killed in accident on the Big Oak Flat Road.
Harry Best opens studio.

Maj. O.L. Hein serves as acting superintendent.
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1903:

1904:

1905:

1906:

1907:

1908:

19009:

1910:
1911:
1912:
1913:

Hallet-Taylor Company builds photographic studio.

LeConte Memorial Lodge built by the Sierra Club.

President Theodore Roosevelt visits Yosemite.

Lt. Col. Jos. Garrard serves as acting superintendent.
Maj. John Bigelow serves as acting superintendent.

USGS and Yosemite Valley commissioners begin water gauging
activities on Merced River.

Boundary adjustment of Yosemite National Park, reducing its

size by 430 square miles.
Capt. Harry C. Benson serves as acting superintendent.

Congress accepts recession of Yosemite Valley and Mariposa
Grove, which become part of Yosemite National Park.

Camp A.E. Wood, army administrative headquarters, moves
from Wawona to the valley and becomes Camp Yosemite.

Maj. Harry Benson continues as acting superintendent.
Yosemite Valley Railroad begins operations.

Arthur C. Pillsbury purchases interests of Hallett-Taylor
Co.

Camp Ahwahnee built at foot of Sentinel Rock by W.M. Sell.
Old stage office/schoolhouse moved to north side of Merced
River, near present "ranger Y" and the foundation of the
Grizzly Hotel.

Supervisor Gabriel Sovulewski serves as acting
superintendent from October 1908 to April 1909.

Maj. W.W. Forsyth serves as acting superintendent.
President William H. Taft visits Yosemite.

Galen Clark dies.

Galen Clark Memorial Bench constructed.

Hospital built by U.S. Army at Camp Yosemite.

Automobiles permitted to enter Yosemite National Park over
Coulterville Road.
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1914:

1915:

1916:

Last year that army responsible for administration of the
park.

Assistant Secretary of the Interior Adolph Miller cancels the
firetalil.

Maj. Willam T. Littebrant serves as acting superintendent.
First year that park managed and patrolled by civilian
rangers.

Mark Daniels appointed first civilian superintendent.

John Muir dies.

Wawona and Big Oak Flat roads open to auto traffic.

Stephen T. Mather becomes assistant to Secretary of the
Interior Franklin K. Lane. He and Horace Albright take
charge of national parks and monuments.

R.B. Marshall becomes superintendent of national parks.

D.J. Desmond Company receives permit to operate hotel and
camp (Camp Yosemite).

Joe Desmond buys the old army camp and converts it to
concession (later to be known as Yosemite Falls Camp and

Yosemite Lodge).

Beginnings of park museum in government building in Old
Village.

Camp Yosemite (Camp Lost Arrow) discontinued.
Yosemite horse-drawn stages replaced by motor stages.

Temporary water gauges established on Merced River above
lllilouette Creek and at its mouth.

National Park Service Act passes 25 August; Stephen Mather
appointed first director of the NPS; W.B. Lewis made
superintendent of Yosemite National Park.

Desmond Company granted twenty-year concession to build
and operate visitor facilities. Desmond begins work on
foundation of Grizzly Hotel.

Automatic water stage recorders set up on Merced River at
Happy Isles and Pohono Bridge.
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1917:

1918:

1919:

1920:

1921.:

Warehouse, storage, and other buildings constructed in
valley maintenance area.

Glacier Point firefall reinstated.

Parts of park opened to grazing.

Desmond Park Service Company becomes Yosemite National
Park Company.

David A. Curry dies.

New schoolhouse replaces old stage office/schoolhouse. That
building converted to residence and used until 1956, when
razed.

Cascade power plant completed at cost of $215,000.

Ledge Trail to Glacier Point built. This trail may have first
been blazed by Hutchings, who led parties of tourists up the
steep incline to Glacier Point prior to construction of
Four-Mile Trail.

George Fiske dies.

Sierra Club members replace worn ropes and eyebolts on Half

Dome with first set of cables.

LeCohte Memorial Lectures instituted.

First airplane lands in valley.

Happy Isles powerhouse removed.

Rangers® Clubhouse constructed.

Yosemite National Park Company reorganized.
Yosemite Nature Guide Service begins.

Tule elk placed in paddock in Yosemite Valley in hopes they

will multiply and eventually be released in park.
Checking station constructed at Gentry's on Big Oak Flat
Road.

Water system developed in Yosemite Valley. Prior to this
time people depended on spring box at Happy Isles or drew
their water directly from Merced River.

First Yosemite museum installations made.
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1922:

1923:

1924:

1925:

1926:

1927:

Visitation to park passes 100,000 mark for the year. In 1919

visitation only reached 50,000 mark.

Yosemite Educational Department created.

Yosemite Nature Notes published.

Final plans for new Yosemite Village completed.
Yosemite Museum Association organized.

Educational Department for all national parks created.

New park administration building completed in November.

Development of new Administrative Center and Vvillage
begins.

Laura Spellman Rockefeller Memorial Foundation makes grant
for construction of Yosemite Museum.

Building constructed by NPS as post office for leasing to
U.S. Postal Service opens.

Pillsbury Best, Boysen, and Foley studios constructed in
New Village area.

Government Center completed.

Plague unveiled commemorating John Muir cabin site, 30 May.
Yosemite Park and Curry Company formed through
consolidation of Curry Camping Company and Yosemite
National Park Company.

Yosemite School of Field Natural History organized.

Ail-Year Highway dedicated 31 July.

Dedication of fish hatchery site at Happy Isles.

Yosemite Museum opens 29 May.

Construction begins on new Yosemite hotel.

Ahwahnee Hotel opens.

Happy Isles fish hatchery opened by California State Fish
and Game Commission.

Pillsbury's theatre burns.
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1928:

1929:

1930:

1931:

1932:

1933:

Board of Expert Advisors appointed to assist in study of

Yosemite's problems.

E.P. Leavitt designated acting superintendent.

Five stone-faced concrete arch bridges built.

Rock barriers placed and ditches dug along roads to prevent
driving of autos onto meadows.

Hospital opens in 1929, later named in honor of W.B. Lewis.
Charles Goff Thomson becomes superintendent.

Camp Curry's new cafeteria and dining room open.

Stephen Mather resigns as director of NPS, succeeded by
Horace Albright.
Stephen T. Mather dies 22 January.

W.B. Lewis dies 28 August.

Interpretive signing program begins in Yosemite Valley and
sequoia groves.

"Live Indian Exhibit" established on grounds of Yosemite
Museum.

Indian Village constructed during 1931 and 1932 west of
present Sunnyside campground.

Living exhibit of native flowers established behind Yosemite
Museum.

Cosmopolitan Saloon destroyed by fire, 8 December.

Tule elk removed from Yosemite Valley to Owens Valley.
Ruins of Cosmopolitan Saloon razed.

Wawona Road and tunnel dedicated 10 June.

ECW programs begin; five CCC camps established in Yosemite
National Park.

Arno B. Cammerer becomes NPS director after Albright
resigns.

CCC, CWA, and F’\NA advance construction and resource
management projects in park.
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1934:

1936:

1937:

1938:

1940:

1941:

1942:

1943:

1945:

CCC crews replace and upgrade cables on backside of Half
Dome.

Use of diamond blazes by NPS personnel for marking trails
discontinued.

Harry Best dies. Daughter Virginia and husband Ansel
Adams continue business.

Yosemite Valley structures, roads, and bridges sustain
tremendous damage during flood of 9-12 December.

Lawrence C. Merriam becomes superintendent, succeeding
Thomson (deceased).

Sentinel Hotel, River Cottage, and Ivy Cottage torn down in

December.

President Franklin D. Roosevelt visits park.

Gabriel Sovulewski dies.

Cedar Cottage (also known as Upper Hotel, Hutchings
House) and_ Oak Cottage razed.

Newton B. Drury appointed NPS director.

Mrs. John Degnan dies.

Bear-feeding programs discontinued.

Frank A. Kittredge becomes superintendent.

CCC discontinued in July.

Yosemite School of Field Natural History abandoned for
duration of war.

Ahwahnee Hotel converted to hospital by U.S. Navy 23 June.

Yosemite Park and Curry Company acquires Boysen Studio.

- John Degnan dies.

U.S. Naval Special Hospital decommissioned 15 December.
Consideration given to removal of some of physical
developments in Yosemite Valley and establishment of new
centers of operation in other locatities.

Yosemite Valley Railroad abandoned 27 August.
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1947:

1948:

1950:

1951:

1952:

1953:

1955:

1956:

1957:

1959:

1962:

1963:

1964:

Meadow and vista restoration program begun.

Carl P. Russell becomes superintendent.

Donald B. Tresidder, president, Yosemite Park and Curry
Company, dies.

Mrs. David A. Curry dies.

Yosemite Field School for naturalist training resumes.

Floods of 19 November, 3 December, and 8 December cause
$454,000 damage to roads, buildinés, utilities, and trails.
Yosemite Centennial observance held.

Arthur E. Demaray appointed NPS director.

Conrad L. Wirth succeeds Demaray.

John C. Preston becomes superintendent.

Indian Village discontinued in accordance with Indian
Housing Policy of NPS.

Yosemite Field School suspended by NPS director.

Flood of 23 December causes $767,000 damage to park
facilities.

MISSION 66 prospectus for park prepared.

New Yosemite Lodge completed and old one razed.

Happy Isles fish hatchery donated to park by California

Department of Fish and Game; hatchery converted to nature
center.
Old Village store, Degnan's old restaurant, Yosemite Park

and Curry Company maintenance warehouse razed.

Curry Company's new store and restaurant dedicated 9 May.
Happy Isles residence destroyed by fire.

President John F. Kennedy visits park.

Flood in valley 29 January to 1 February.

Flood in valley 23-24 December.
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1966:

1968:

1969:

1970:

1971:

1972:

1973:

Old Yosemite Museum closes.

Construction begins on new valley visitor center.

Glacier Point firefall discontinued as being contrary to NPS
standards and because of traffic congestion on roads.
Remaining structures in Indian Village razed.

Free shuttle bus service begins operation.

Stoneman Meadow, riot 3-4 July.

One-way road system established with roads to Happy Isles
and Mirror Lake closed to use by private vehicles.

Mirror Lake dredging operations discontinued.
First bank in Yosemite Valley opens.
Yosemite Institute created.

Yosemite Village parking plaza converted to nonvehicular
mall.

NPS stables, outbuildings, and horses destroyed by fire, 31
July.

Fire destroys cafeteria and kitchen at Camp Curry.

Roundhouse constructed in Indian Village behind the visitor
center.

Music Corporation of America (MCA, Inc.) acquires control
of Yosemite Park and Curry Company.

xlvii



1833:

1851:

1864:

1874:

1890:

1906:

1907:

1913:

1916:

1917:

1918:

1920:

1926:

Cascades/Arch Rock

Joseph R. Walker crosses the Sierra Nevada through
present-day Yosemite National Park.

Lafayette Bunnell gives the name "Cascades" to the waterfall
in that area of the Merced River canyon.

The Cascades area lies just outside (west of) the state grant
providing protection of the Yosemite Valley and Mariposa
Grove.

The Coulterville Road into Yosemite Valley is completed in
June, running from the town of Coulterville through Hazel
Green, Big Meadow (Foresta), down the canyon wall to the
Merced River, and through the Cascades area into Yosemite
Valley.

Yosemite National Park created, encompassing Cascades
valley.

Yosemite Valley and Mariposa Grove re-ceded to federal
government by the state of California.

The Yosemite Valley Railroad completed and operational to El
Portal. A wagon road from El Portal to the Coulterville Road
junction used to transport visitors to the valley from the
railhead.

Automobiles allowed to enter the national park, replacing
horse-drawn wagons.

National Park Service is created.

Construction begins on the diversion dam, penstock, and
powerhouse in the Merced River canyon.

Three residences completed at Cascades for powerhouse
employees.

Diversion dam, penstock, and powerhouse completed at cost
of $215,000.

Construction begins on All-Year Highway from Merced.
All-Year Highway completed to Yosemite Valley, up Merced
canyon, and through Arch Rock and Cascades. Entrance

stations and ranger residence constructed in Arch Rock
area.
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1933:
1937:

1940:

1950:

CCC camp established at Cascades for all-year occupation.

Flooding occurs in Yosemite Valley, Wawona, Cascades, Arch
Rock, ElI Portal. CCC camp at Cascades destroyed as are
roadbed and bridges. At Arch Rock, ranger residence and
duplex washed off foundation.

Between the end of 1937 and 1939, extensive repairs and
building projects take place at The Cascades, powerhouse,

and Arch Rock.

Floods of 19 November, 3 December, and 8 December wash
out road bridges at Cascades. |



1849-50:

1861:

1873:

1860s-1870s:

1887:

1884-85:

1879:

1887:
1897:

Early 1900s:
1902:

1905:

1907

El Portal

James Savage establishes trading post at the confluence of
the South Fork and main fork of the Merced River. Post
attacked by Indians in 1850, and Savage follows his
attackers up the river canyon, probably entering into the
area of present-day EI Portal before turning back.

Hite's Cove Mine discovered, named for John R. Hite.

James Hennessy establishes farm on the Merced River, now
the site of the EI Portal trailer park. Hennessy's trail to
the valley crossed the Merced to the south side of the river
and climbed the canyon wall to intersect with the Mann
brothers' trail from Wawona to Yosemite Valley. Hennessy
raised fruits and vegetables for the mines on the east side
of the Sierra, as far away as Bodie.

Horse and foot trail follows the Merced River upstream to
Yosemite Valley.

John R. Hite acquires Hennessy Ranch; later sold to A.H.
Ward.

Leonidas Whorton acquires eighty acres in ElI Portal west of
Crane Creek. This area encompassed a large portion of
present "old EI Portal.”

Whorton listed as locator of Potosi Mine on north side of
Merced River and in 1887 as locator of Southside Mine, on
south side of Merced. They were described as "quartz
veins." However, the descriptions and Ilocations indicate
that they may have been barite deposits.

Whorton shot by Abel Mann during family quarrel.

John B. Lembert murdered in his cabin below E| Portal near
Rancheria Flat.

A.H. Ward acquires properties of Whorton and Hennessy.
Yosemite Valley Railroad incorporated.

Survey work begins for construction of Yosemite Valley
Railroad.

Yosemite Valley Railroad begins operation. It ran from
Merced to its terminus at El Portal, where a wagon road led
up the Merced Canyon to intersect with the Coulterville
Road. D.K. Stoddard held the contract to transport
passengers via stage from El Portal to Yosemite Valley.
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1908-1909:

1912:

1913:

1917-18:

1920:

1923-24:

1925:

1926:
1929:

1932:

1937:

1944:

1945:

1950:
1951:
1955:
1958:

First hotel to serve tourists in El Portal consists of tent
structure.

Bob Halstead and Bill Grenfels begin mining barium in El
Portal area, possibly Whorton's former claims on the
Southside.

Hotel Del Portal constructed.

Incline for Yosemite Lumber Company constructed on south
side of Merced River.

Road from Foresta to El Portal completed.

First year autos allowed to enter Yosemite National Park.

Hotel Del Portal destroyed by fire 27 October 1917.

Another, smaller hotel--the EI Portal Inn--constructed.
Construction begins on All-Year Highway from Merced to
Yosemite Valley via Merced River canyon.

Yosemite Lumber Company relocates incline to north side of
Merced.

Portland Cement Company of Emory begins operations.

All-Year Highway dedicated 31 July.
National Lead Company takes over barium mines in El Portal.

A mine superintendent's residence and houses for mine
workers constructed.

Fire of July 1932 destroys third EI Portal hotel. Managers
Ben and Dolly Gardner rebuild hotel on new location near
highway.

Flood of 11 December wreaks havoc in ElI Portal, washing
away bridges, portions of the highway, and thirty miles of
Yosemite Valley Railroad track.

Portland Cement Company disbands.

Last run of Yosemite Valley Railroad, 24 August. Operations

abandoned.
November flood.
Barium mines close.
Flood.

NPS acquires 2,000+ acres in El Portal as administrative site.



Carlon, Hodgdon Meadow, Foresta/Big IVleadow, Aspen
Valley, Crane Flat, Gin Flat, and Tamarack Flat

Prehistory - Native peoples living in Yosemite region followed animal paths
as a means of traveling through the Sierra. The Mono Tralil
comprised one such footpath that evolved as a major trade
route from Big Meadow through Gin and Tamarack flats, past
Tenaya Lake, through Tuolumne Meadows, and down Bloody
Canyon to the Mono Lake country.

1833: The Joseph Walker party may have followed the Mono Trail in
their east-west crossing of the Sierra on their way to the
San Joaquin Valley. They are believed to have been the
first white men to see Yosemite Valley and the giant
sequoias.

1856:: George W. Coulter, Lafayette Bunnell, and a small party of
men from Coulterville pass through Crane Flat, naming the
area for the sandhill cranes that were abundant at that time.
Tamarack Flat was also named on that excursion to blaze a
route--the "Coulterville Free Trail"--to Yosemite Valley.

1865: Hodgdon Meadow originally known as Bronson Meadows;
Jeremiah Hodgdon established a homestead there in May 1865.
He built his cabins and barns at Hodgdon Meadow and later
a two-story cabin at Aspen Valley in 1879.

1868:: J.D. Whitney, state geologist, writes of a deserted cabin in
the Crane Flat area, believed to have belonged to shepherd
Hugh Mundy. Mundy tended flocks during the summer at
Crane and Gin flats. Earliest non-Indian habitation.

1869: Builders of Big Oak Flat Road granted exclusive franchise to
construct a road into Yosemite Valley from north side of
Merced River.

Yosemite Turnpike Road Company incorporated 15 April.

1870: Alva Hamilton credited with being first white settler at
Tamarack Flat, operating stage stop called Tamarack House.
In mid-1870s Tamarack House burned and was rebuilt by
David Woods, who also built a barn, store, and saloon at
Tamarack Flat. The Woods family abandoned Tamarack Flat

in 1891.
1870s: Louis D. Gobin and son "Ed" ran sheep and cattle in Crane
Flat area during the summer months. They supplied

travelers to Yosemite Valley with room and board, soon
expanding their business into a comfortable stage station.
Gobin's place burned in 1886 and rebuilt in 1888. According

lin



1870s:

1870:

1871:

1872:

to Paden and Schlichtmann, Gobin's stopping place stood
about one hundred feet east of present buildings at Crane
Flat (blister rust camp). Immediately across the road stood
Billy Hurst's saloon. Hurst was also a proprietor at Crane
Flat, operating a saloon for stockmen, shepherds, and
Indians. Hurst was marooned at Crane Flat in winter of
1889-90 and after his rescue died as a result of the ordeal.

Gentry's settled by Colonel E.S. Gentry, who established a
hotel for travelers to Yosemite Valley making the trip on
horseback, prior to the completion of the Big Oak Flat Road.
The road that Gentry championed actually led to his failure,
enabling tourists traveling by coach to continue on into
Yosemite Valley or toward Crane Flat.

George Meyer takes over brother Henry's homestead in Big
Meadow. Ranch becomes stage stop on Coulterville Road.

Big Oak Flat Road reaches Crane Flat.
Coulterville and Yosemite Turnpike Company incorporated.

Builders of Big Oak Flat Road incorporate as Yosemite
Turnpike Road Company.

Due to difficulties encountered by Yosemite Turnpike Road
Company, builders of the Big Oak Flat Road, the company
forfeited their exclusive franchise to construct a road into
Yosemite Valley from the north side. The Yosemite Valley
commissioners then granted the exclusive franchise to
builders of the Coulterville Road in July 1872. The builders
of the Big Oak Flat Road once again appealed to the
commissioners for the right to finish their road, but were
denied because of possible conflict with the Coulterville Road
builders. However, Galen Clark, Guardian of the grant and
one of the Yosemite commissioners, granted the Big Oak Flat
Road builders permission to complete an improved saddle trail
from the road terminus at Gentry's to the floor of Yosemite
Valley. In February 1874 the state legislature granted,
permission to the Big Oak Flat Road builders to complete the
road, on the basis that the Yosemite commissioners had no
right to issue an exclusive franchise. The two companies of
road builders worked feverishly to completion.

During construction of the Coulterville Road, the surveying
crew discovered the Merced Grove of Giant Sequoias. The
route for the Coulterville Road was redesigned to pass
through the grove, bypassing Crane Flat and the Big Oak
Flat Road on its way to Yosemite Valley. Instead, the road
wound past Big Meadow and down to the Merced canyon,
where it followed the river into Yosemite Valley. Six miles
of road were abandoned between Hazel Green and Crane Flat
for the new route and many more miles of road constructed.

liv



1874:

1876:
1878:

1879:

1882:

1883:

1885:

1890:
1891:

1897:

Coulterville Road completed in June; Big Oak Flat Road in
July. The Big Oak Flat Road originally ran through what is
now the blister rust camp at Crane Flat; it was rerouted in
1940 to meet with the new sections of the Tioga and Big Oak
Flat roads.

George Anderson builds cabin near Big Meadow.

David and James Lumsden cut a tunnel through the Dead
Giant Tree in the Tuolumne Grove.

Title to Yosemite Turnpike Road Company road conveyed to
J.M. Hutchings 16 May.

Big Oak Flat and Yosemite Turnpike Road Company
incorporates to purchase Big Oak Flat Road. On 19
November Hutchings conveys road to new company.

Jeremiah Hodgdon builds two-story log cabin in Aspen
Valley.

John B. Curtin, California state senator, files for
government patent on land at Gin Flat.

Gin Flat named, as story goes, from barrel of gin that fell
off a wagon. Some laborers working in the area spied the
errant keg and proceeded to attempt draining the container
of its contents. When the work party failed to return a day
or so later, a search party was organized to either rescue
the victims or bury them. The Ilaborers were discovered
alive, albeit intoxicated.

James McCauley purchases land for ranch in Foresta area.

Joseph Hutchins claims Gentry's abandoned homestead and
erects sawmill where he mills lumber for the Stoneman House,
constructed in Yosemite Valley by the state in 1886-87.

Yosemite National Park created 1 October.

U.S. Army cavalry unit arrives in Yosemite National Park for
the purpose of protecting it from stockmen, sheepherders,
poachers, fires, and other threats to the environment. In
order to impress upon stockmen the seriousness of the
situation, stock was not allowed to graze on lands (even
patented lands) within the park boundary. The cavalry
threatened to drive cattle through the park to Mono Pass,
then down Bloody Canyon into the Mono Lake country, which
they did with some limited success.

James McCauley becomes year-round resident of ranch in
Foresta area.



1905:

1906:

1911:

1912:

1913:

1914:

1915:

Drastic boundary changes occur, reducing size of Yosemite
National Park by 430 square miles.

Big Meadow placed within Yosemite National Park.

The problem of grazing on patented lands within the park
boundary becomes more volatile with the appointment of
Capt. Harry C. Benson as acting park superintendent in
1905. His zeal for protecting park lands leads to court
battle with Senator J.B. Curtin, who was denied the right to
graze his cattle on his own property or to use public
roadways for access, the property and roads being within
the park boundary. The Supreme Court of the United
States found in Curtin's favor in 1911.

Yosemite Valley and the Mariposa Grove re-ceded to federal

government to become a part of the national park.
James McCauley dies in accident on Coulterville Road.
Foresta Land Company incorporated.

The U.S. Army cavalry patrols the park for the last year.

The first automobile enters Yosemite National Park 16 August
via Coulterville Road.

Fred McCauley sells 200 acres of McCauley ranch to C.P.
Snell.

Wagon road built from Foresta to El Portal.
Automobiles allowed to enter the park via Big Oak Flat Road.

Tamarack House moved from Tamarack Flat to Gin Flat and
placed next to Curtin's cabin, where it proceeds to fall into
ruin.

Civilian rangers assume responsibility for patrol and
protection of park.

Three ranger/patrol cabins built in Yosemite: one at the
Merced Grove on Coulterville Road, one at Crane Flat on Big
Oak Flat Road, one at Hog Ranch (Mather). Merced Grove
cabin replaced 1934; Hog Ranch cabin replaced by Mather
ranger station/residence in 1935.

In July Tuolumne County buys Big Oak Flat Road for
$10,000 and donates it to state of California, which begins
improvements.  Shortly thereafter the national park became
responsible for all roads within its boundary.

Vi



1916:

1917:

1918:

1922:

1923:

1930:

1931:

1933:

1940:

1942-45:

1946:

Carl Inn erected by Dan and Donna Carion. Burned 1920;
rebuilt and again burned (date unknown).

George Meyer dies in San Francisco.
Fire destroys structures at Foresta.
Robert Bright begins erecting structures at Aspen Valley.

Fred McCauley sells remainder of McCauley ranch to Horace
Meyer.

7,000 acres of land in South Fork of Tuolomne River
watershed, including land at Crane Flat, Gin Flat, Sugar
Pine Pass, and Carion added to park. John D. Rockefeller,
Jr., donates $1.7 million matched by congressional funds to
purchase private lands in Crane Flat area. The Yosemite
Lumber Company actively logging in this area when stopped
in August 1929 with passage of Albright-Fleming agreement.
Final paperwork signed May 1930. Dr. Don Tresidder of
Yosemite Park and Curry Company donates $10,500 to be
matched by congressional funds to buy 520 acres of private
inholdings at Crane Flat and Gin Flat. Total property added
to park in 1930 equaled 8,681.19 acres.

First fire lookout constructed in park at Crane Flat.

CCC camps established in Yosemite National Park for
reforestation efforts, including clearing of fire roads and of
giant sequoia groves of debris; control of bark beetle and
blister rust; and fire-fighting duties. Two  camps
established in Crane Flat area in 1933, with one there from
1934 to 1942, when the CCC was discontinued.

Official dedication of the Big Oak Flat Road from Crane Flat
to El Portal road (Highway 140) and of new section of Tioga
Road from Crane Flat to McSwain Meadows (at intersection of
White Wolf road and present Yosemite Creek campground
road) on 23 June. A ranger duplex and checking kiosk at
Crane Flat also erected. The old Big Oak Flat Road
converted to one-way (downhill) scenic route into the valley.
Closed permanently by rockslide in 1943.

Ribes eradication continues at reduced manpower, employing
mostly high school students.

With decommissioning of U.S. Naval Special Hospital and
transfer of buildings from DOD to DOI, the buildings
constructed on the grounds of the Ahwahnee Hotel in
Yosemite Valley were dismantled and reconstructed at Crane
Flat and Carl Inn for use as blister rust camps.
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1951.:

1952:

1955:
1960:

1961:

1965:

1966:

1973:

1974:

1982:

In the winter of 1951 there were twenty-four feet of snow at

Crane Flat; only the peaks of the buildings showed through.
NPS acquired private inholdings at Gentry.
Acquisition of private land in Aspen Valley.

Accelerated land acquisition at Foresta.

Crane Flat ranger cabin moved to Pioneer Yosemite History
Center at Wawona. Building occupied until early 1950s, then
stood empty and in terrible state of repair. The building
was dismantled, the floor cut into pieces, and transported to
the new  site. The chimney was dismantled and
reconstructed using the original building materials, with new
mortar. According to Mike Adams, the mason that was
reconstructing the chimney built it in too "neat" a fashion
and had to tear it down and rebuild it in a more rustic
fashion. Reconstruction completed in 1961 at cost of
$8[,054.65.

The Pioneer Yosemite History Center opens to the public,
with a formal dedication 11 September. Jeremiah Hodgdon's
two-story cabin is also at the history center.

Crane Flat campground opens with 160 sites.

Crane Flat checking station razed.

Residence area at Hodgdon Meadow constructed.

Section of new Big Oak Flat Road from Crane Flat to
Hodgdon Meadow completed. New employee housing,

entrance station, and utility building also finished.

Yosemite Institute acquires special-use permit for Crane Flat
blister rust camp.

Coulterville and Big Oak Flat roads celebrate centennials.
NPS acquires McCauley ranch in Foresta/Big Meadow area.

The Leaning Giant, a sequoia in the Tuolomne Grove, topples
during snowstorm.
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1850:

1858:

1860:

1871:

1900:

1901:

1903:

1908:

1910:

1912:

Hetch Hetchy and Lake Eleanor

Joseph (Nathan?) Screech discovers Hetch Hetchy Valley.

San Francisco's first water supply system put into use by
San Francisco Water Works.

Spring Valley @ Water Works begins operation; later
consolidates with San Francisco Water Works.

First investigations with view to municipal control of water
supply.

New city charter in effect, 8 January.

Appropriation made on water at Hetch Hetchy and Lake
Eleanor by Jas. D. Phelan, recorded 6 August.

City engineer recommends upper Tuolumne River as source
of future water supply for San Francisco. Filing of same at
Stockton land office 16 October.

Phelan's applications denied by Secretary of the Interior
Hitchcock, 20 January. Petition for rehearing by Franklin
K. Lane, city attorney, in February. Filings assigned to
city 20 February. Application again denied by Secretary of
the Interior on 22 December.

Original applications approved by Secretary of the Interior
Garfield on 11 May. Gives city rights of development of
Eleanor and Hetch Hetchy.

Special election authorized construction of Tuolumne System
and issuance of $600,000 in bonds to buy lands and water
rights, 12 November.

Bond election, $45,000,000 in bonds authorized by vote of 20
to 1, 14 January.

Secretary of the Interior Ballinger orders city to show cause
why Garfield permit should not be revoked, 25 February.

Board of Army Engineers appointed to act as advisory
board.

"Freeman Plan" (John R. Freeman) of Hetch Hetchy
development published and submitted to army board in July.

M.M. O'Shaughnessy appointed city engineer 1 September.
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1913:

1914:

1915:

1916:

1917:

1918:

1919:

1920:

Hearings before Secretary of the Interior Fisher, attended
by mayor, city engineer, city attorney, and consulting
engineers, 25 to 30 November.

Army board report upholds selection of Tuolumne River as
$20,000,000 cheaper than any other system and having
greatest power possibilities, 9 February.

Hearings by committee on Public Lands, House of
Representatives, 25 June to 7 July.

Hetch Hetchy Grant, or "Raker Act," signed by President
Wilson 19 December.

Report of Consulting Engineers, W.F. Durand, J.D. Galloway
and F.G. Baum received in July.

Bids received by Board of Public Works for Contract No. 1,
for constructing road from Hog Ranch (now Mather) to Hetch
Hetchy, 8 July. Contract awarded to Utah Construction
Company.

Begin manufacture of lumber at Canyon Ranch 21 July.

Begin construction of camp buildings at Hetch Hetchy,
clearing of Hetch Hetchy reservoir site, and construction of
diversion tunnel in September.

Bids received for construction of Hetch Hetchy Railroad 24
November.

Contract for Hetch Hetchy Railroad awarded 6 December.

Bids received for "Drifting Tunnels, Lower Cherry

Aqueduct,"” already begun by day labor, 9 August.
Hetchy Hetchy Railroad operation begins in October.

Lower Cherry power house begins operations (Early Intake
plant) 6 May.

Begin commercial sale of power from Cherry power house 21
September.

Contract awarded for construction of Hetch Hetchy dam to
Utah Construction Company 1 August.

Contract awarded for construction of aqueduct tunnels in
mountain division 3 May, this work having been carried on
to this point by day labor.



1921:

1922:

1923:

1924:

1925:

1926:

1927:

1928:

1930:

1931:

Pouring of concrete on Hetch Hetchy dam commences in

August.

Work begins on Priest dam in fall.

Work begins on Moccasin power house in fall.

Contract awarded for construction of Pulgas tunnel 23 June.

Contract awarded for construction of Bay Crossing pipe line

18 May.
O'Shaughnessy Dam dedicated 7 July.

Special election $10,000,000 in bonds authorized to construct
foothill tunnels and begin Coast Range tunnels, 7 October,
vote 20 to 1.

Delivery of power begins 14 August from Moccasin power
plant.

Bay Crossing aqueduct begins full operation 21 May.

Contracts awarded for driving portion of foothill tunnels 20
September. Remainder done by day labor.

Coast Range tunnel construction begins at Mocho shaft in
April. Sinking begins in May.

Bond election, $24,000,000, 'to construct Coast Range tunnel
and San Joaquin pipe, and $41,000,000 to purchase Spring
Valley Water Company system.

Tunnel driving begins at Tesla portal of Coast Range tunnel

6 September.

Foothill tunnel-driving completed 6 December.
Frog Creek trout egg-taking operations begin.

San Francisco Water Department takes over operation of

system bought from Spring Valley Water Company on 3
March.

Tunnel 4.4 miles long "holed through" from Tesla portal to
Thomas shaft in Coast Range.

Contract awarded for construction of San Joaquin pipe line
22 May.

Tunnel 3.4 miles long "holed through” from Alameda Creek to
Irvington portal.
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1932:

1933:

1934:

1936:

1937:

1938:

1949:

1956:

Sources:

New charter in effect. Public Utilities Commission takes over
management of Hetch Hetchy and San Francisco Water
Department from Board of Public Works on 8 January.

Bond issue of $6,500,000 for completion of Hetch Hetchy
aqueduct authorized on 3 May.

Water brought to Tesla portal of Coast Range tunnel in
September.

Bond issue of $3,500,000 for enlargement of O'Shaughnessy

Dam authorized 7 November by vote of 3 to 1.
Fish trap built at Frog Creek.

Last section of Coast Range tunnel "holed through" from

Mocho shaft to Mitchell shaft.
Hetch Hetchy water brought to Crystal Springs reservoir 28
October.

Cabin built at Frog Creek.
Flora severely damages Frog Creek egg-taking facilities.
O'Shaughnessy Dam raised to increase storage capacity.

Frog Creek trout egg-taking operations resume at Lake
Eleanor.

Frog Creek trout egg-taking operations close along with
Yosemite Valley fish hatchery.

City and County of San Francisco, "O'Shaughnessy Dam
Dedication Number,” Municipal Record 16, no. 29 (19 July
1923): 229-35.

, Public Utilities Commission, San Francisco Water
and Power, September 1967, in Box 85 (Hetch Hetchy),
Yosemite Research Library and Records Center, Yosemite
National Park, California.
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1850s:

1870s:

1882:

1883:

1884:

1890:

1915:

1926:

1927:

1931:

1930s:

1937:

White Wolf

Deidrich, Heinrich, and John Meyer Ileave Germany for
California goldfields. Instead of mining, they take up cattle
ranching in Tuolumne County.

Indians steal some of the Meyers' horses, and John Meyer
goes in pursuit. He never recovers the horses, but
discovers an alpine meadow at 8,000 feet elevation that he
names for a headman of the Indians, "White Wolf."

Survey work begins on Great Sierra Wagon Road through
White Wolf on its way to Tioga Mining District.

Mining road completed on 4 September.

On 6 November John D. Meyer acquires 120 acres of land,
including White Wolf meadow, for $200 in gold from Johnson
Ridley, a stage driver on construction crew of mining road.

Yosemite National Park created, encompassing many private
parcels of land within its boundary, including White Wolf.

Stephen T. Mather, with the assistance of interested
friends, buys Great Sierra Wagon Road for $15,500 and
donates it to federal government.

Gabriel Sovulewski completes rehabilitation of Tioga Road.

John D. Meyer, Jr., and wife, Alice Wilson Meyer, convert
their modest home at White Wolf into lodge consisting of
dining room, sitting room, and kitchen. Two cabins and
twelve tent cabins erected. Across road from lodge is gas
pump and soda fountain. That building still stands today
behind lodge and used as storage.

The National Park Service maintains a small campground
north of White Wolf Lodge, on Tioga Road, adjacent to Middle
Fork of Tuolumne River.

NPS survey concludes that Meyer family willing sellers of

their property in Yosemite; unfortunately, the government
does not have funds at this time to purchase the land.

Cabins 5 and 6 added to lodge area.
Realignment of Tioga Road begins, from Crane Flat to

McSwain Meadows. The Meyers enjoy the increased business
from road construction crews.
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1940:

1941.:

1945:

1951:

1952:

1961:

1968-69:

1969:

23 June dedication of new sections of Big Oak Flat Road and
Tioga Road. OlIld section of Tioga Road from park line to
White Wolf closed.

John D. Meyer dies.

With advent of World War 11, Alice W. Meyer no longer able
to cook for guests, but continues to rent cabins to long-time
patrons, who supply their own meals.

Alice W. Meyer dies 1 July.

Henry Wilson "Bill" Meyer, son of John D. Meyer, Jr., and
Alice W. Meyer, sells White Wolf property to federal
government for $26,500, with assurance that structures will
be maintained as lodge.

Yosemite Park and Curry Company acquires concession rights
to White Wolf Lodge and opens it as unit of High Sierra
camps in 1953.

NPS upgrades its campground facilities at White Wolf.

Curry Company begins improvements at White Wolf, including
consolidation of cabins 5 and 6 into a duplex as well as
improved restroom and shower facilities.

Heavy winter snows destroy the lodge and cabins 5 and 6.
Repairs to lodge include rebuilding of the fireplace and

chimney and replacing walls and roof. Cabins 5 and 6 are
removed.
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3,500

1833:

1851.:

1852:

1853:

1857:

1860:

B.P.

Tuolumne Meadows

- Evidence in excavations in El Portal reveal that
trans-Sierran trade may have occurred as early as 3500 to-
4000 years before present.

Joseph R. Walker crosses Sierra, through present Yosemite
National Park. Party follows divide between the drainages of
the Tuolumne and Merced rivers but does not cross through
Tuolumne Meadows.

James Savage and Mariposa Battalion enter Yosemite Valley in
pursuit of Indians.

Capt. John Boling's company enters Yosemite for the second
time, 9 May, and captures Yosemite Indians at Tenaya Lake

22 May. Indians escorted to Fresno Reservation but later to
return to Yosemite. Lafayette Bunnell christens Tenaya
Lake.

A party of eight prospectors enters Yosemite Valley and
Indians kill two. Lt. Tredwell Moore and unit of troops
dispatched in June to punish the Indians and return them to
the reservation. Five Indians are killed in Yosemite Valley
and the remaining band flees over the Mono Trail, through
Tuolumne Meadows and Mono Pass, down Bloody Canyon to
the Mono Lake country, to take refuge with the Paiutes.
While Moore's infantrymen are exploring the east side of the
Sierra, they discover some promising mineral deposits and
return to Mariposa without the Indians but with ore samples.

Leroy Vining leads group of prospectors through Tuolumne
Meadows and down Bloody Canyon to explore the country
that Lieutenant Moore described.

16 August James D. Savage murdered by Walter H. Harvey
at King's River Reservation.

A skirmish between the Mono Lake Paiutes and the Yosemite
Indians results in the death of six of the Yosemites,
including Chief Tenaya. Later remnants of Tenaya's band
return to Yosemite Valley.

Tom McGee clears and blazes the western part of the Mono

Trail, following very closely the original Indian route.
Miners flock to the east side of the Sierra near Mono Lake.

California State Geological Survey established, headed by

Josiah Whitney.
"The Sheepherder® Mine located.
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1863:

1865:

1869:

1874:

1878:

1879:

1880:

1881:

1882:

1883:

1884:

1885:

California State Geological Survey begins work in Yosemite
area and continues through 1867.

J.D. Whitney publishes description of the headwaters of the
Tuolumne River and describes Tioga Pass (he referred to it
as "MaclLane's) as a better route of trans-Sierran travel than
Mono Pass, at that time the route of travel and 600 feet
higher in elevation.

John Muir's first summer in the Sierra and in Tuolumne
Meadows with a band of sheep.

Willam Brusky discovers the Sheepherder claim staked in
1860 by George W. "Doc" Chase (later Tioga Mine).

Nine claims established and Tioga Mining District organized.
1 August John L. Murphy homesteads the meadows on the
south end of Tenaya Lake, plants trout, and establishes a
hospice * for visitors to the high country as well as
construction workers on the Great Sierra Wagon Road.

Golden Crown Mine site established by Orlando Fuller.

Dana City granted a post office.

Mining operations begin at Great Sierra Mine.

Silver discovered on Mt. Hoffmann and Mt. Hoffmann Mining
District established. No further activity mentioned.

Sierra Telegraph Company Dbuilds Iline from Lundy to
Yosemite Valley via Bennettville.

Great Sierra Consolidated Silver Mining Company

incorporated.
Construction on Tioga Road begins.

13 March, post office established at Bennettville.

16,000 tons of mining equipment sledded from Lundy to Great
Sierra Mine, a distance of nine miles.

Tioga Road completed at cost of $62,000.
Tioga Mine closes and Great Sierra Consolidated Silver
Mining Company folds, after an expenditure of $300,000 and

no production.

John B. Lembert homesteads Soda Springs area of Tuolumne
Meadows where he raises Angora goats.
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1886:

1890:

1892:

1896:

1898:

1901:

1902:

1911:

1912:

1915:

1916:

1918:

John L. Murphy preempts 160 acres at Tenaya Lake.
Professor George Davidson of the U.S. Coast and Geodetic
Survey occupies summit of Mt. Conness and erects small
(8'x8") wooden observatory on concrete piers for completing
survey work.

1 October, Yosemite National Park created.

Lembert loses his Angora goats in snowstorm; begins
collecting natural history specimens for scientific collections.

Sierra Club formed.

John Lembert murdered in his cabin below EI Portal.
McCauley brothers buy Lembert's Soda Springs property.
First of Sierra Club's Annual Outings based in Tuolumne
Meadows.

McCauleys construct cabin on their Soda Springs property.
Tenaya Lake Trail from Yosemite Valley completed.

Sierra Club purchases Soda Springs property.

January, Stephen T. Mather accepts post of assistant to the

Secretary of the Interior.

Mather enlists assistance of friends and, using his own
money along with their donations, purchases the Tioga Road
for $15,500 and donates it to the federal government.

First appropriation for construction of the John Muir Trail
approved by California Governor Hiram Johnson.

Sierra Cub constructs Parsons Memorial Lodge on their
property at Soda Springs in Tuolumne Meadows.

Tuolumne Meadows Lodge and Tenaya Lake and Merced Lake
camps opened by Desmond Park Service Company.

National Park Service Organic Act passed 25 August, and
Mather becomes first director.

World War | and bankruptcy of the Desmond Company force
closure of High Sierra camps opened in 1916.

Entrance stations established on Tioga Road at Aspen Valley
and Tuolumne Meadows.

IXVii



1922:

1923:

1924:

1925:

1930:

1931:

Early 1930s:

1932:

1933:

1934:

Merced Lake camp opens as sports-oriented boys' camp.

Through encouragement of the NPS, the Hikers' Camps
reopen (Tuolumne Meadows, Tenaya Lake), and in September
Naturalist Carl P. Russell chooses five additional sites for
camps, of which three are chosen by the Yosemite National
Park Company in 1924 for operation as High Sierra camps.

Glen Aulin and Boothe Lake (later known as Vogelsang) High
Sierra camps established.

Building constructed as a ranger station, visitor contact
station, and entrance station for the east entrance over
Tioga Pass via the Tioga Road through Tuolumne Meadows.
Its wuse later superceded by construction of Tioga Pass
ranger station in 1931 and realignment of road through the
meadows in the early 1930s, but the building continues to
serve as a ranger residence and office.

Yosemite Park and Curry Company formed.

California Cooperative Snow Survey Program begins in
Yosemite.

Work begins on Tioga Pass ranger station.

With realignment and improvement of Tioga Road from Tioga
Pass to Tuolumne Meadows area, several rustic buildings
removed and new structures built to replace them along the
realigned route of the road.

Preliminary field survey made of proposed rerouting of Tioga
Road.

Contracts awarded for new Tioga Road section from
Cathedral Creek to Tioga Pass.

Tioga Pass ranger station completed. First stone building of
rustic architectural style built by NPS in Tuolumne
Meadows/Tioga Pass area.

NPS restricts camping in Tuolumne Meadows region in order
to protect the water quality within watershed of Hetch
Hetchy Reservoir, whose waters due to arrive in San
Francisco in 1934.

Mess hall and kitchen, bunk houses, toilet and shower room
constructed at Tuolumne Meadows by Civilian Conservation
Corps.

Three comfort stations constructed Iin Tuolumne Meadows
campground area.
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1936:

1937:

1938:

1940:

1942:

1947:

1952:

1953:

1957:

1958:

Comfort station and entrance gates constructed at Tioga
Pass.

Visitor contact station erected at entrance of Tuolumne®

Meadows campground.
Tuolumne Meadows campground of 300 sites opens.

Section of road realignment from Cathedral Creek to Tioga
Pass completed.

Section of old Tioga Road from McSwan Meadows to
Cathedral Creek oiled for first time in its history. This
twenty-one-mile section would later be bypassed.

Tenaya Lake High Sierra camp removed and replaced by one
at May Lake.

Tuolumne Meadows Visitor Center built by CCC.

23 June, dedication of new section of Tioga Road from Crane
Flat to McSwain Meadows and of new Big Oak Flat Road from
Highway 140 to Crane Flat. The old section of the Tioga
Road from the west park line to White Wolf through Aspen
Valley was closed.

Entrance station kiosk erected at Tioga Pass.

Vogelsang High Sierra camp moves from its second location to
its present location on Fletcher Creek.

CCC is discontinued.

Infestation of lodgepole needleminer moth approaches epidemic
stage in Tenaya Lake and Tuolumne Meadows region.

Yosemite Park and Curry Company acquires concession rights
to White Wolf Lodge and opens it as unit of High Sierra
camps in 1953.

First large-scale control effort against lodgepole pine
needleminer epidemic involves airplane spraying of 11,000
acres of the 45,000 acres of infested area with DDT.

Construction begins on final twenty-one-mile section of Tioga
Road, from McSwain Meadows to Cathedral Creek, including
controversial section around Olmsted Point.

Ansel Adams brings road realignment to a temporary halt to

investigate the threat to the domes at Tenaya Lake and
Olmsted Point. Work resumes.
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1961:

1963:

1964:
1973:

1974:

1980:

24 June, the last twenty-one-mile section of Tioga Road

officially dedicated and opened to public.

High Sierra camp established at Sunrise Lake.

Caltrans begins work on Tioga Road from Tioga Pass to Lee
Vining.

Tioga Pass Road from Tioga Pass to Lee Vining opens.
National Park Service purchases Sierra Club property at
Soda Springs. |

NPS closes Sierra Club walk-in campground at Soda Springs.

Old visitor center at Tuolumne Meadows closes and new one
established in CCC mess hall.
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1851:

1855:

1869:

1870:

1871:

1872:

1874:

1875:

1878:

1882:

1886:

1890:

1895:

Chinquapin, Badger Pass, and Glacier Point

Mariposa Battalion enters Yosemite Valley  following
approximately present route of Wawona Road.

Mann brothers begin construction of toll trail to Yosemite
Valley, following established Indian trails. According to
Carl Russell, the present-day Alder Creek and Pohono trails
follow the Mann brothers' original tourist route completed in
1856.

Charles Peregoy's Mountain View House constructed as hotel
for visitors traveling the Wawona-to-Yosemite Valley trail. It
operated until 1878, although bypassed by the Wawona wagon
road completed in 1875.

The Mariposa-to-Wawona stage road (Chowchilla Mountain
Road) completed.

John Conway, working for James McCauley, begins work on
the Four-Mile Trail to Glacier Point, finishing in 1872.

McCauley begins the practice of the firefall from Glacier
Point.

Washburn, Chapman, Coffman and Company of Mariposa
petition the Yosemite Valley commissioners to extend their
stage road from Wawona to Yosemite Valley, thus completing
the Mariposa route.

22 July, road completed from Wawona to Yosemite Valley via
Chinquapin.

James McCauley builds Glacier Point Mountain House.

State legislature appropriates funds to buy trails in Yosemite
Grant; the Four-Mile Trail is first to be purchased.

Conway builds original Glacier Point Road from Chinquapin
Station.

Section of the Wawona-to-Yosemite Valley road from Ft.
Monroe (on boundary of the grant) to valley floor purchased
by state.

Yosemite National Park created 1 October.
Cabin and property sold to Jack McGurk by Hugh Davanay.
McGurk lost the property in 1897 when evicted by the U.S.

Army over a title dispute. Cabin stabilized in 1958 and still
stands by the meadow bearing McGurk's name.
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1897:

1905:

1912:

1913:

1913-23:

1917:

1918:

1925:

1929:

1930:

1931:

1932:

1933:

David Curry continues McCauley's tradition of the firefall.

Boundaries of park redrawn, with net loss of 430 square
miles.

Act of Congress of 9 April 1912: Iland exchange between
Yosemite National Park and Sierra and Stanislaus national
forests involving land owned in Yosemite National Park by
the Yosemite Lumber Company.

Adolph Miller, Assistant Secretary of the Interior,
discontinues firefall as a method of punishing David Curry
for his effrontery in dealing with the national park
administration.

Yosemite Lumber Company logs approximately 6,000 acres of
privately owned land in the national park. However, a land
exchange between the park and neighboring national forests,
along with an agreement with the lumber company, ensures
that a corridor of virgin timber will remain along the Wawona
Road (including the proposed new road) so that tourists will
be spared the view of cutover lands enroute to Yosemite
Valley or Wawona.

Desmond Park Service Company completes Glacier Point

Hotel.

Glacier Point firefall reinstituted.

Ledge Trail to Glacier Point constructed.

Geology exhibit at Glacier Point constructed as a branch of
Yosemite Museum.

Work begins on new road from Wawona to Yosemite Valley.

Comfort station at Glacier Point campground constructed;
converted into quarters, 1979

Ranger residence and naturalist's residence constructed at
Glacier Point.

Old buildings of Yosemite Lumber Company at Deer Camp
renovated for use in snow surveys.

Comfort station at Glacier Point constructed.

Fire destroys structures at Chinquapin.

Wawona Road and tunnel dedicated 10 June.

Ranger station/residence and comfort station constructed at
Chinquapin.
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1934:

1935:

1936:

1940:

1942:

1946:

1958:

1968:

1969:

Henness Ridge fire lookout constructed.
Realignment of Glacier Point Road.

Yosemite Park and Curry Company constructs ski lodge and
lift at Monroe Meadows, in operation by 15 December.

Eight-Mile Insect Control lab constructed at Eight-Mile on
Wawona Road.

New Glacier Point Road finished.
Ostrander ski hut constructed at Ostrander Lake.

U.S. Army Signal Corps units utilize Park Service facilities
at Wawona and Badger Pass as special summer training
schools.

Blister rust camp established one-half mile south of
Chinquapin ranger station/residence on old Wawona Road.

Campground at Bridalveil improved; parking lots at Badger

Pass, Washburn Point, and Glacier Point enlarged.

Firefall discontinued.

9 August, Glacier Point Hotel, Mountain House, and comfort
station destroyed by fire.
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1851:

1852:

1855:

1856:

1857:

1864:

1869:

1870:

1874-75:

1875:

1878:

1879:

1881.:

Wawona, South Entrance; and Mariposa Grove

Major James D. Savage and the Mariposa Battalion of
volunteer Indian fighters camp on South Fork of the Merced
River enroute to their discovery of Yosemite Valley.

Mariposa Grove of Giant Sequoias discovered by a party of
prospectors.

Mann Dbrothers begin construction of a toll trail to Yosemite
Valley, completed in 1856.

Galen Clark settles in the area of Wawona, homesteads 160
acres, and calls place "Clark's Crossing” or "Clark's
Station.”

Clark builds bridge over the South Fork of the Merced
River.

Clark and Milton Mann explore and publicize Mariposa Grove.
Yosemite Valley and Mariposa Grove deeded to state of
California to be held in trust for the people in perpetuity.
Total size of the grant is 48.6 square miles. Galen Clark

later appointed Guardian of the grant and builds crude,
one-room cabin in the grove.

Edwin Moore acquires half-interest in Clark's Station,

renaming it "Clark and Moore's".

Road from Mariposa to Wawona completed; work begins on
road from Wawona to Yosemite Valley.

Washburn brothers purchase Clark and Moore's and name it
"Wawona," the word used by the Miwoks to describe the
giant sequoias. They derived the word from the sound of

the great horned owl, deity and protector of the great
trees.

Washburn brothers complete the road between Wawona and
Yosemite Valley.

Wagon road constructed into Mariposa Grove.

Clark's original hotel burns and is replaced.

Present Wawona Hotel building constructed.

Wawona Tunnel Tree cut.
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1884:

1886:

1890:

1891:

1892:

1895:

1896:

1900:

1902:

1904

1905:
1906:

1913:

State of California replaces "Galen's Hospice," the cabin in
the Mariposa Grove with another one-room structure.

Clark Cottage constructed, as is the building used today as
the manager's cottage.

Thomas Hill establishes a summer studio adjacent to the
Wawona Hotel, where he paints and displays his works until
his death in 1908.

Seven-mile section of Wawona Road within boundaries of
Yosemite Grant purchased by state.

Yosemite National Park created.

Yosemite's first acting superintendent, Captain A.E. Wood,
arrives in Yosemite with a contingent of troops and
establishes headquarters on the South Fork of the Merced
River at Wawona.

First plant of trout (rainbow) made in Yosemite by California
Fish and Game Commission.

Fish hatchery at Wawona constructed, and operated by the
state.

Moore Cottage (Small Brown) constructed as part of the
Wawona Hotel complex.

Washburn Cottage (Long Brown) constructed as part of the
Wawona Hotel complex.

State adds an additional room to the Mariposa Grove cabin to
serve as an office for the Guardian.
Arboretum established at Wawona.

Boundaries of Yosemite National Park redrawn.

Yosemite Valley and the Mariposa Grove re-ceded to federal
government from the state, to become a part of the national
park.

Camp A.E. Wood moves from Wawona to Yosemite Valley.

Automobiles legally enter Yosemite National Park for the first
time.

This is also the last year that U.S. Army bavalry units took

responsibility for the patrol and protection of the national
park.
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1914:

1915:

1916:

1917:

1920:

1929:

1930:

1931:

1932:

1933:

Civilian rangers replace U.S. Army units in Yosemite.
Wawona and Big Oak Flat roads open to auto traffic.

Motor stages replace horse-drawn stages used in
transporting tourists from Wawona to Glacier Point, the
Yosemite Valley, and the Mariposa Grove.

National Park Service Act passed 25 August; Stephen Mather
becomes first director. W.B. Lewis appointed first
superintendent of Yosemite.

Wawona Hotel Company constructs Annex.

Balance of Wawona Road and Glacier Point branch turned
over to National Park Service.

Chinese laundry building, later the plumbing shop and today
the carriage shop, constructed.

Wawona Hotel Company constructs Sequoia Hotel.
Wawona wagon shop constructed.

Big Trees Lodge built at Mariposa Grove by Desmond Park
Service Company.

Work begins on new Wawona Road to Yosemite Valley.

Old log cabin in Mariposa Grove replaced with new

structure, standing today as the Mariposa Grove Museum.
Mariposa Grove comfort station constructed.

Big Trees Lodge constructed at Sunset Point in Mariposa

Grove, replacing the tent cabins built earlier.
Washburns sell Wawona interests to Park Service and
facilities leased to Yosemite Park and Curry Company.

Wawona Basin acquired through donated funds of $180,300,
matched by congressional appropriation. Presidential
proclamation of 13 August adds 8,785 acres to national park.

Barn constructed at Wawona to replace one removed for a
road right-of-way prior to the acquisition.

Work on Wawona Road and tunnel completed, and structures
dedicated 10 June.

Five CCC camps established in park, two at Wawona.
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1934:

1935:

1936:

1937: -

1938:

1942:

1951.:

1954

1955:

1958:

1961:

1969:

1970:

1983:

South  Entrance construction: ranger residence-duplex,
restroom, and office.

Residence #1000 at Wawona  constructed and majQr
construction at CCC camp.

New road completed in Mariposa Grove.

South entrance garage constructed.

Wawona residence #4003 originally constructed as mess hall;
altered in 1940 to living quarters.

School and teacherage constructed at Wawona.

Residence #4001 constructed at Wawona.

CCC activities discontinued in Yosemite in July.

U.S. Army Signal Corps units utilize Park Service facilities
at Wawona and Badger Pass as special summer training
schools.

Continued acquisition of lands in Wawona Basin.

First scientific study conducted to assess human impact on

giant sequoias in Mariposa Grove.
Flood.

Wawona covered bridge restored following flood damage of

late 1955.
Campground at Wawona enlarged and improved, including
new facilities.

Plans developed for Yosemite Pioneer History Center at
Wawona, a part of the MISSION 66 plan to reduce crowding
and congestion in Yosemite Valley by establishing other
centers of interest in outlying areas of the park.

Yosemite Pioneer History Center dedicated 11 September and
opened to public.

During a record year for precipitation, the Wawona Tunnel
Tree in the Mariposa Grove falls.

Mariposa Grove road closed to private cars and tram system
instituted.

California Conservation Corps workers tear down Big Trees

Lodge, unoccupied since the early 1970s and only used since
that time by trail and maintenance crews.
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CHAPTER 1: EARLY HABITATION AND EXPLORATION
OF THE YOSEMITE REGION

A. The First Inhabitants
Yosemite National Park lies on the west slope of the Sierra Nevada in

central California, between the San Joaquin Valley to the west and the
Great Basin to the east. Pleistocene glaciers cut deep gorges and formed
broad, U-shaped valleys in the area, which, later filled by
stream-deposited sediment, became level and attractive habitation sites.
The approximately 1,176 square miles of mountains and meadows included
in the park contain an abundance of water sources, including lakes,
springs, *and the tributaries of two major westward-flowing streams of the
Sierra--the Tuolumne and Merced rivers. The five life zones represented
in the park, ranging from Upper Sonoran to Arctic-Alpine, support a
diversity of flora and fauna that provided the earliest native inhabitants

with foodstuffs and trade goods within a relatively small area.

Differences in altitude, temperature, and precipitation produce
varied environments in the Sierra, and those variables have determined
the duration and extent of human occupancy of the region. Carbon-14
analyses of samples from recent archeological projects in the park indicate
occupancy of the Yosemite area between 3,000 and 4,000 years ago.
Ancestors of the historic Sierra Miwoks probably began entering the
foothills and higher elevations of the Sierra from the Central Valley about
2,000 years ago, probably to escape the summer heat and spring floods;
to exploit montane resources such as nuts, berries, and large game
animals; and to trade with tribes east of the mountains for goods
unavailable in the foothills or along the Pacific Coast. Although they
probably resulted in some early permanent occupancy of the Sierra, those

movements primarily entailed seasonal occupancy of sites such as Yosemite

1. Scott L. Carpenter, archeologist, Yosemite National Park, "Review of
Historic Resource Study," 24 September 1986, 2.



and Hetch Hetchy valleys, Wawona, Crane Flat, and the High Sierra
meadows. Later population increases in the Sierra may be attributable in
some degree to native population displacement as the first Europeans
began to exploit the Ilowlands formerly held by the Indians. The
mountains also became a place of refuge from periodic Mexican raiding for

slaves and from disease.

Within late prehistoric and early historic times, the Central and
Southern Sierra Miwoks constituted the primary inhabitants of the
Yosemite National Park area and of the foothills and valleys west of the
park, extending their influence over both sides of the mountain range.
The Central Sierra Miwoks resided in the foothill and mountain portions of

the Stanislaus and Tuolumne river drainages, while the Southern Sierra

3
Miwoks held the upper drainages of the Merced and Chowechilla rivers.

Within historic times, a tribelet of the Southern Sierra Miwoks, the
Ahwahneeches, lived in and around Yosemite Valley. They called their
home "Ahwahnee,” from the Indian word for "mouth,"” likening the valley's
shape to a huge, gaping mouth. Historical accounts usually refer to them

as the Yosemite Indians.

According to Dr. Lafayette Bunnell, one of the members of the
Mariposa Battalion that "discovered"” Yosemite Valley in 1851, in the year
1800 a terrible disease inflicted Yosemite Valley's early residents, perhaps
contracted through contact with coastal Indians who had been infected by
whites. The Ahwahneeches abandoned their villages and lived with

neighboring tribes. The valley remained uninhabited for several years

2. Michael J. Moratto, An_Archeological Research Design for Yosemite
National Park, Publications in Anthropology No. 19 (Tucson: National
Park Service, Western Archeological and Conservation Center, 1981), 32;
L. Kyle Napton, Archeological Overview of Yosemite National Park,
California (Tucson: ~ National Park Service, Western Archeological Center,

1978), 65.

3. Richard Levy, "Eastern Miwok,” in Robert F. Heizer, ed.,
California, vol. 8 of Wiliam C. Sturtevant, ed., Handbook of North
American Indians (Washington: Smithsonian Institution Press, 1978), 398.




thereafter until Tenaya, the son of a headman of the Ahwahneeches, who
had grown up among the Monos along the eastern base of the Sierra,
decided to return to the deep, grassy valley that had been his family's
home. Collecting the remnants of his father's people and some scattered
members of other tribes, he reoccupied Yosemite Valley with this group
about 1821. Tenaya's band lived peacefully in Ahwahnee for several

4
years. Bunnell is apparently the only source for this story. If

accurate, it implies that a very mixed group of Indians occupied Yosemite

Valley immediately prior to white penetration.

The Yosemite area's isolation, beauty, and abundance of game, fish,
plant foods, and water made it an ideal haven for early peoples. There
the Miwok hunted grizzly and black bears, deer, and elk, and smaller
mammals such as rabbits and grey squirrels. They also utilized several
bird species and trout. The Miwoks underwent elaborate ceremonies prior
to the hunt, purifying themselves in sweatlodges such as those Bunnell
noted in the valley in 1851. The native population gathered clover and
bulbs in the spring; seeds and fruits in the summer; acorns, nuts, and
manzanita berries in the fall; and mushrooms in the late winter and early
spring. Black oak acorns, the preferred starch of the California Indian's
diet, occurred in the Yosemite region in abundance. Each spring and
summer the Miwoks journeyed into the high country to hunt deer and to
trade. They also moved seasonally up and down the Merced River,

frequently passing through the present ElI Portal area.

Other tribes also occupied and regularly visited the Central Sierra,
including the Yosemite region, primarily the Washo, who occupied High
Sierran mountain meadows and ranged east and west from Lake Tahoe and

Washo Lake, and the Mono Paiutes, living immediately east of Yosemite in

4. Lafayette Houghton Bunnell, Discovery of the Yosemite, and the
Indian War of 1851, Which Led to That Event (Freeport, New York:
Books for Libraries Press, 1971), 64. First published in 1880 in Chicago
by Fleming H. Revell.




llustration 1.
Location of Indian tribes in the vicinity of Yosemite National Park.

From James A. Bennyhoff, An  Appraisal of the Archaeological Resources
of Yosemite National Park, 1956.
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the western Great Basin in an area including Mono Lake. The Paiutes
claimed that occasionally they hunted in Little Yosemite Valley and spent
the winter Iin Yosemite Valley and also inhabited Hetch Hetchy Valley.
The Central Sierra Miwoks occupying the higher altitudes of Yosemite had
a village in Hetch Hetchy Valley and evidently quarreled over the area
with the Paiutes. Most of this Paiute settlement probably occurred after
dissemination of the Ahwahneeche population following white penetration
and the death of their Ieader.5 Both the Washos and the Paiutes traded
and intermarried with the Miwoks, transmitting Great Basin influences into
the Central Sierra and beyond. Yokuts, a stock occupying the San
Joaquin Valley and the foothills south of the Fresno River, also traded

with the Miwok and extended some Central Valley influence over them.

These Indian groups jointly visited the Yosemite uplands, such as
Tuolumne Meadows, to escape the heat and aridity of the lowlands while
at the same time exploiting new food resources and trading while the
passes remained free of snow. From the Paiutes the Miwoks obtained
baskets, obsidian, finished projectile points, salt "loaves," rabbitskin
blankets, pinon nuts, sinew-backed bows, red and white pigments,
buffalo robes, and fly pupae. In return the Paiutes received baskets,
clamshell disk beads, arrows, and manzanita berries. The Washos
provided the Miwoks with pinon nuts and rabbitskin blankets in addition
to dried fish and baffalo skins, in return for acorns, shell disks,
soaproot fibers, redbud bark, and manzanita berries. The Miwoks
supplied the Yokuts with baskets and bows and arrows in return for shell
beads and dog pups. The various Miwok groups also exchanged among
themselves. This aboriginal trade across the Sierra constituted an
ancient and important part of the subsistence patterns of the Indian

groups involved.6

5. James A. Bennyhoff, An Appraisal of the Archaeological Resources of
Yosemite  National Park, Reports of the University of California
Archaeological Survey, No. 34 (Berkeley: The University of California
Archaeological Survey, Department of Anthropology, 1956), 3, 7.

6. Moratto, Archeological Research Design, 37-38.




The Miwoks were loosely organized politically. Their foremost
political unit was the tribelet, which functioned as an independent nation
and lived within a defined territory. Habitation sites within Yosemite
Valley consisted of permanent villages, occupied throughout the vyear
although depleted in winter; summer villages, occupied from May to
October, after which the Miwoks moved down to the milder climate of the
Merced River canyon; and seasonal hunting, fishing, and gathering
c:amps.7 Occupational patterns in those villages depended on the season,
the year, and the number of Indians present in the valley at any
particular time. Dr. Clinton Hart Merriam noted two classes of villages
among the Miwoks, those of the families of the chiefs and those inhabited
by commoners. Several of the latter surrounded each of the former.

The inhabitants of the adjacent minor villages used the names of the

larger villages to designate themselves and the place they lived.

Actual population figures for the Yosemite Indians are uncertain. In
the disrupted period immediately prior to white contact, there may have
been only about 200 Ahwahneeches, less than the prehistoric population.
The population of the Yosemite uplands can best be estimated on the basis
of aboriginal population densities in the Central Sierra.g As stated
earlier, an epidemic around 1800 might have severely impacted the
tribelet. By the contact period, the Ahwahneechees had declined,
undoubtedly through a combination of factors including disease, warfare,

and the disruption of cultural and subsistence patterns. By 1855 the

7. C. Hart Merriam, "Indian Village and Camp Sites in Yosemite
Valley," Sierra Club Bulletin 10, no. 2 (January 1917). 202.

8. C. Hart Merriam, Ethnographic Notes on California Indian Tribes,
comp. and ed. by Robert F. Heizer, in Reports of the University of
California Archaeological Survey, No. 68, Part Ill (Berkeley: University
of California Archaeological Research Facility, Department of

Anthropology, 1966, 1967), 340.

9. Napton, Archeological Overview, 95; Moratto, Archeological Research
Design, 51-52.



James Hutchings tourist party found no Indians in the valley, and indeed
Ahwahneechees were rarely seen for several years after that time.

The limited accessibility of the High Sierra region resulted in
discovery of the Miwok villages in Yosemite Valley late in the contact
period, after mining in the Sierran foothills had led to conflicts between
Indians and whites. The Yosemite Valley is one of the few Sierra areas
where  historic and protohistoric  villages have been identified
ethnographically. Extant narratives of early visits by whites contain
accounts of Miwok lifestyles in the park and the locations and names of
some of the village sites. Stephen Powers made the earliest report on
Miwok habitation in 1877, identifying nine villages along the Merced
River. 10 Dr. Bunnell, on a map accompanying his 1880 narrative of the
discovery of Yosemite Valley, located five villages and a group of
sweathouses in use when the Mariposa Battalion entered the valley in
March 1851. The 1878-79 George Wheeler topographical survey recorded
only one village. In 1917 Dr. Merriam conducted a pioneer study in
Yosemite National Park consisting of fieldwork for ethnographic data.
Aided by resident Indians, he located thirty-six Indian habitation sites on
the valley floor both north and south of the Merced River and another in
Little Yosemite Valley beyond the head of Nevada Fall. Few of the sites
were occupied at that time, however. At least six of those sites were
occupied in 1898. Merriam located sixteen more sites on the Merced River

below EI Portal (see Appendix A).11 The variation in the number of

10. Stephen Powers, Tribes of California (Berkeley: University of
California Press, 1976), 365. Also published as "Tribes of California," in
Contributions to North American Ethnology, vol. 1Il, U.S. Geographical

and Geological Survey of the Rocky Mountain Region, Washington, D.C.,
1877.

11. Napton, Archeological Overview, 88. See Merriam, "Indian Village
and Camp Sites In Yosemite Valley." Merriam devoted his early years to
ornithology and the practice of medicine. Later he turned to mammals,
but primarily devoted himself to studies of California Indians in an
attempt to record information on their lifeways before primary informers
passed away. He pursued those studies from 1910 to 1937.




village sites recorded in each instance might reflect differing definitions
of a "village" and/or difficulties in distinguishing between village and
camp sites. Bunnell saw the valley in the winter and thus his description
does not include summer villages. Merriam's study comprises the first

accurate, detailed study of pre-white Indian settlements of the area.

The largest and most important village in Yosemite Valley, containing
a large, earth-covered ceremonial house, stood on the north side of the
Merced River just below Yosemite Fall and stretched southwest for
three-fourths of a mile. The U.S. Army took possession of that village,
known as Koomine, for use as a camp in 1907 and forced out its
inhabitants. To the east stood the village of Ahwahne. Because it
comprised the Ilargest tract of open, level ground in the area outside
Indians applied its name to the entire valley. Another large village,

Yowatchke, occupied into the 1930s, stood at the mouth of Indian

Canyon.

The Miwoks built several kinds of structures in the Yosemite region.
They framed umachas, conical-shaped winter dwellings, with several long
poles covered with slabs of incense cedar or pine bark. As late as the
1920s, a few of those structures could still be found in use in Yosemite.
Impermanent conical brush shelters sufficed in summer. In association
with Miwok dwellings, villages contained large, semi-subterranean dance
or assembly houses, forty to fifty feet in diameter, dug to a depth of
three or four feet. One of the last Miwok dance houses is located near
Mariposa, California, and another is near the town of Ahwahnee,
southwest of the park. The most recent example of this type of
structure was erected by Miwoks and other Indians on the grounds of the
park interpretive center. Sweathouses--circular, earth-covered, and
between six and fifteen feet in diametei—also commonly appeared in
village areas. Bunnell reported several in the Happy Isles locality.

Chukahs, granaries for acorn storage, consisted of four tall incense cedar

12. Merriam, "Indian Village and Camp Sites in Yosemite Valley," 205.



Illustration 2.

Indian villages and sweathouses in Yosemite Valley noted by Lafayette
Houghton Bunnell in 1851.

Frontispiece in Bunnell, Discovery of the Yosemite, and The Indian War
of 1851, Which Led to that Event.
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poles supporting elevated Dbasket-like structures that held the acorns.
Remains of small, conical grinding houses made of bark slabs are also

found.

The principal Miwok settlements in Yosemite National Park existed at
Wawona and in Yosemite and Hetch Hetchy valleys. Big Meadow, Crane
Flat, Mather, and the present Lake Eleanor area also comprised favored
activity and habitation sites. The Eleanor Creek valley became a popular
summer and fall home for Central Sierra Miwoks and Owens Valley
Paiutes. 13 Because of Wawona's high elevation, it might not have been
occupied the entire year, but only as a summer camp for a tribelet from
the foothills. On the other hand, the availability of resources might have
occasionally permitted winter occupancy. It is unclear to what extent the
Indian population remained in the present park area throughout the year,
but the fact that some of the village sites in Yosemite Valley stood closer
to the north wall than to the river, enabling them to take full advantage
of the sunshine, indicates possible occupation during at least part of the
winter months. The fact that members of the Mariposa Battalion found
Indians in Yosemite Valley in March is inconclusive evidence of winter
occupation of the area, because by that time the Ahwahneeches used the

valley on a full-time basis as a refuge from white reprisals.14

13. Scott L. Carpenter and Laura A. Kirn, "New ‘'Underwater’
Archeological Discoveries at Lake Eleanor,” Yosemite Association (Summer
1986): 8. University of California (Berkeley) archeologists conducted a
survey at Lake Eleanor in 1956 and recorded sixteen prehistoric Indian
sites. A more extensive 1985 survey found twenty-nine prehistoric and
historic cultural sites. These included a large village site as well as
numerous small village or large camp sites, most with bedrock mortar
outcrops and stone tools. Historic resources found included the site of
one of the sawmills used by the city of San Francisco during clear-cutting
of the reservoir basin prior to construction of the dam, cabin foundations
and a rock-lined well from early homesteading activity, and the original
log dam (ca. 1917) at the mouth of Lake Eleanor. Ibid., 9.

14. Moratto, Archeological Research Design, 41-42; Napton, Archeological
Overview, 91.
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Permanent villages near EI Portal received additional people from
Yosemite when cold weather came and heavy snows made the higher
elevations untenable. In the pre-contact period, the Miwoks may have
occupied sites near ElI Portal and other lowland areas west of the park
during the winter and then, as the snow melted, worked their way back
into the valleys and high country of Yosemite. The old Indian trails from
El Portal and the Ilower end of Yosemite Valley leading toward the
Foresta/Big Meadow area would have intersected the Mono Trail there and
provided quick and easy access to Tuolumne Meadows. EI Portal, because
of its location on the Merced River, its habitable land area, and its
proximity to higher elevations such as Crane Flat and Big Meadow, was
widely used by prehistoric as well as later historic populations, both

Indian and Anglo.

B. The Joseph Walker Party Skirts Yosemite Valley

The Joseph Rutherford Walker expedition became the first party of
white explorers to approach Yosemite Valley. Walker had been engaged
by Capt. Benjamin Louis Eulalie de Bonneville, a frontier U.S. Army
officer who had applied to the War Department for leave to explore the
country between the Rocky Mountains and the Pacific Coast. Allegedly he
would be collecting geographical information, mapping the area, gathering
data on the disposition of Indian tribes, observing the British Hudson's
Bay Company operations in Oregon Territory and the Mexicans in the
Southwest, and determining ways America could best utilize that frontier.
To finance the expedition, Bonneville entered the Western fur trade and
outfitted a party of trappers and hunters in Missouri. Because most of
the streams in the Rocky Mountains had already been exhaustively
trapped for beaver, Bonneville decided to push his men further afield in

search of virgin streams.

As one of Bonneville's assistants, Walker took a company of men to
California and the Pacific Coast in July 1833 to trap beaver and report on
the fur trade potential there. According to Bill Gilbert, Walker's
biographer, from the Green River in Utah the party reached the Sierra's

main crest northeast of Tuolumne Canyon. Turning south, they moved

13



west along the crest between the Merced and Tuolumne rivers. After
grueling days in the cold with insufficient food and after floundering
through snowdrifts and over rough granite ridges, the company finally
made its way across the Sierra Nevada into the San Joaquin Valley.
Although impressed by the scenery, especially by the "Big Trees" (giant
sequoias) they passed through and described as incredibly Ilarge
specimens of the redwood species, Walker's party did not immediately
make their probable discovery of the valley known, but turned their
attention to the primary task of setting traps and hunting for food. As a
consequence, the valley's existence remained generally unknown yet in
1851 when the Mariposa Battalion entered it, although Indians had long

hinted of a formidable mountain fortress in that area.15

Although one of the members of the Walker expedition, Zenas
Leonard, published an account of the group's difficult experience crossing
the Sierra in 1839, which proves that the party traveled extensively in
the mountains north of Yosemite Valley, it is unclear whether they
actually gazed down into it.'1ch At one point Leonard described
encountering several small streams that ran through deep chasms before
eventually flinging themselves over a precipice into a valley below. The
description of that abyss appears to fit Yosemite Valley. Walker also
later recounted how he and his men had gazed in amazement from the rim
of a huge valley at its towering cliffs and waterfalls. This fatigued

group probably also saw the canyon of the Tuolumne River, in addition to

15. See Bil Gilbert, Westering Man: The Life of Joseph Walker (New
York: Atheneum, 1983), for information on the Walker expedition. Gilbert
also discusses the activities of Captain Bonneville, whose fur-trading
operations may have masked a covert assignment to gather military and
commercial intelligence.

16. See Milo M. Quaife, ed., Narrative of the Adventures of Zenas
Leonard (Chicago: Lakeside Press, 1934). Originally printed and
published by D.W. Moore, Clearfield, Pennsylvania, in 1839, as
"Narrative of the Adventures of Zenas Leonard." Two independent
researchers in Yosemite National Park--Linda Lee and Steve Spohn--have
been actively studying all available Walker party information in an attempt
to document their precise route.
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being the first white men to see the giant sequoias of the Sierra, in

either the Tuolumne or Merced grove.

C. Gold Discoveries Generate Indian-White Conflicts

1. Effects of Euro-American Settlement on the Northern

California Indians
The Spanish and Mexican occupations of California wreaked

havoc on the culture and subsistence patterns of the California Indians.
The Spanish mission system of Alta California, beginning in 1769, served
several purposes. Although the twenty-one missions supported the
Spanish presidios, or military forts, they also proved instrumental in
controlling Indian populations, such as the Miwoks, through forced
assimilation and conversion to Catholicism. Initially the coastal tribes
were most intimately affected by the Spanish presence, which resulted in
relocation of Indian families to missions, where the spread of contagious
diseases and changes in diet and nutritional standards resulted in a rapid
decline of native populations. The initial mission Indian response to
Spanish atrocities involved escape into the interior, but occasionally
violent, rebellion ensued. By the 1820s the people of the interior
valleys, having heard the horrors of mission life, had embarked on a
policy of physical resistance, aided as time went on by the acquisition of

the horse.

The secularization of the missions in 1834-36 during the Mexican
occupation did not lessen the growing conflict. It only resulted in more
exploitation of native labor on the large estates created for wealthy
Mexican landowners. Many of those Indians formerly under mission
influence sought refuge in white settlements, where they quickly suffered
a loss of cultural identity and tribal organization. Others became
laborers on the private ‘ranchos where they suffered greatly from the
forced labor and ill treatment inherent in the peonage system. Others

fled to the mountains seeking refuge in their tribal homelands.

The increased settlement of the Sacramento Valley by Mexican

colonists in the 1840s exerted more pressure on the Northern California
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Indians, who suffered periodically from virulent diseases such as
smallpox, scarlet fever, cholera, diptheria, and tuberculosis. Conflicts
continued as small parties of Mexican soldiers made occasional forays
against the Indians to wreak reprisals for stock stealing or to acquire
slaves. These raids frequently disturbed the Miwoks, who also began to
feel pressure from American colonists entering the Central Valley in the
mid-1840s.

The American settlement period proved even more disastrous to
the Indians after 1848, when a vast horde of settlers and miners invaded
California seeking land and mineral riches. This period marks the most
serious penetration of the Miwoks' mountain territory. Before the Gold
Rush of 1849, the Sierra Nevada had been largely undisturbed except for
occasional Spanish raids into the foothills after captured horses or fleeing
mission fugitives. The Spanish had no interest in the mountain areas and
did not even stay long in the interior. During Spanish colonization, the
Indian had to a certain extent been able to retain his lifeways and social
order and had even appropriated a few features of white civilization and

incorporated them into his own system.

Although the Spanish and Mexicans had valued the Indian as a
source of cheap labor, the new American settlers considered the Indian
population worthless unless assimilated to the ways of the white man.
Two centuries of conflict had imbued Americans with a hatred of Indians
that made no distinction between tribes or individuals. From the Ilate
1840s on, the Miwoks suffered greatly, both because of the low esteem in
which the white man held them and because the principal gold-bearing
regions of California lay within their ancestral territory. When the
Americans arrived they took over the Indian habitat, penetrating their
foothill and mountain retreats in their search for gold. Indians had no
civil or legal rights, and their cultural and subsistence activities fell into
disarray as miners and settlers burned their villages, felled oak groves,
fenced land, slaughtered game, and depleted meadows of grasses and
acorns by overgrazing their cattle and hogs. Native economies faltered
as mining operations and farming and ranching activities disrupted the

Indians' balanced relationship with their environment.
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Many incoming whites found money not only in mining but also
in providing food for miners, and the raising of cattle and horses became
an important business enterprise. With their own food supplies
dwindling, the Miwoks began focusing their food-gathering activities on
those herds. Increased frustration due to continuing deprivation of their
rights and confiscation of their lands led to more intense raiding.17 That
in turn fostered strong resentment on the part of the mining camps,

trading posts, and ranches in the area.

2. Formation of the Mariposa Battalion

Trader James D. Savage, who became a central figure in the
history of the Mariposa region from 1849 to 1852, and in the Mariposa
Indian War, had come to California in 1846 and served in the Mexican War
before becoming a miner and trader. He knew the Indians well,
recruiting many of the Southern Sierra Miwok and Yokut tribelets to work
for him in his mining operations. He learned their languages, adopted
their customs, and, by marrying several of their women, became a
powerful man in the Mariposa area, although many Indians resented his

exploitive techniques.

By 1849 Savage had established trading posts at Big Oak Flat,
at the mouth of Piney Creek on the Merced River, and at the mouth of
the South Fork of the Merced River a few miles below Yosemite Valley.
In May 1850 Indians attacked his post on the Merced River and then in
December destroyed his Fresno River post southwest of Yosemite and
killed three clerks. Later, at his Mariposa Creek station, near Agua
Fria, another raid took place and more men were murdered in a general
outbreak in the Mariposa country and the region to the south. The open
conflict of the Mariposa Indian War, centering in the mining district of

Mariposa County, consisted primarily of a series of skirmishes in which

17. Edward D. Castillo, "The Impact of Euro-American Exploration and
Settlement,” in Robert F. Heizer, ed., California, vol. 8 of Wiliam C.
Sturtevant, ed., Handbook of North American Indians (Washington:
Smithsonian Institution Press, 1978), 102-9.
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both sides displayed their anger. The Indians battled dispossession,
near-starvation, and exploitation, while the whites protested stock raiding

and vented racial animosities.

Following the assaults at Savage's Fresno post in December
1850, appeals were made to the state government of California and to the
U.S. Army for help in preventing a general outbreak of hostilities. The
army pleaded lack of authority, while Governor John McDougal, who at
one time spoke to the state Ilegislature of the inevitability of the
extermination of the Indian race, authorized formation of a local militia to
protect property and lives in Mariposa County. 18 Composed of 200
mounted men, the Mariposa Battalion was mustered into service 24 January
1851. The governor commissioned Savage major of the battalion, with
John J. Kuykendall, John Boling, and Wililam Dill named as captains of
the three companies composing the unit. Savage hoped to retaliate for
Indian attacks on his trading posts, in which he assumed the Yosemite
Indians had played a major role. Others in the battalion had also lost
property and friends to the "hostile" Indians. Just as the battalion
prepared to commence operations, Governor McDougal ordered the men to
suspend their activities momentarily due to the arrival of federal Indian

commissioners.

In 1851 three U.S. Indian commissioners--Redick McKee, George
W. Barbour, and O.M. Wozencraft--arrived in California from Washington,
D.C., to study California Indian problems, obtain information on tribal
customs and manners, and make treaties with the various California tribes
as appropriate. The commissioners urged moderation in Indian treatment
and had come to the Mariposa region first to try and prevent further
bloodshed. A number of tribes in the area sent representatives to talk to
the commissioners and sign an agreement to live on designated
reservations. Others, including the Ahwahneeches in the mountain

18. Ibid., 109.
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fastness of Yosemite Valley, refused to consider leaving their homeland
and hoped to stave off invaders from what they considered to be an
impregnable stronghold. In response, the state legislature authorized the

governor to proceed with local action.

The battalion immediately left for the head of the Merced River
to subdue the Yosemites and Nutchus who had not appeared at the camp
of the commissioners. Crossing the Chowchilla Mountains via an old
Indian trail, along approximately the same route as the present Chowchilla
Mountain road, the volunteers surprised and captured a Nutchu rancheria
on the South Fork of the Merced River near present-day Wawona.
Establishing headquarters probably near Alder Creek or Bishop Creek
above the South Fork, Savage sent a messenger ahead demanding the
peaceful surrender of Chief Tenaya of the Ahwahneeches and relocation to
a reservation on the Fresno River. Tenaya himself came to the camp,
arguing unsuccessfully that his people would die on the plains and
preferred to stay in the valley where they could protect themselves
against their enemies. Savage sent him back to bring in his people,

threatening to annihilate the tribe if they resisted further.

On Tenaya's advice, the Yosemites agreed to make a treaty,
and the old chief himself traveled ahead to report to Savage that his
people were coming in. After three days with no sign of new Indian
arrivals, Savage took part of the battalion and set out for Yosemite Valley
with Tenaya as guide. Following an Indian trail, about halfway to the
valley they came upon a straggling line of seventy-two Yosemites leaving
the valley, mostly old women, mothers, and children, struggling with
great difficulty through the snow. Suspicious because there were no
young men present, Savage sent Tenaya back to the South Fork camp
with the women and children while he and his soldiers continued on in
search of the rest of the Yosemites. They probably ascended via Alder
Creek, through Peregoy Meadow, to Old Inspiration Point, basically along

the route of the later Yosemite Valley-Wawona trail.
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Illustration 3.

Route of Mariposa Battalion into Yosemite Valley, first expedition, March
1851.

From Elizabeth Godfrey, Yosemite Indians, Yesterday and Today.
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From a clearing there, Savage's small band first viewed the
incomparable valley. On 27 March 1851, they became the first white man
to descend to the valley floor, successfully negotiating the heretofore
unchallenged cliffs. Although the grandeur of the valley must have been*
overwhelming, only one of the party, Dr. Lafayette Houghton Bunnell,
battalion surgeon, seems to have been deeply moved by the overpowering
beauty. He suggested that the valley be called "Yosemity,” after its
native inhabitants. His companions agreed, too intent on capturing

Indians to belabor the point. B

19. For many years the accepted date for the first view of Yosemite
Valley by whites remained 25 March 1851, the date recorded by
Dr. Bunnell. The discovery date later became 27 March on the strength
of a diary entry of Pvt. Robert Eccleston, another member of the
battalion. A final surprise came with discovery of a diary kept by William
Penn Abrams, a millwright, who stated that sometme between 7 and 17
October 1849, he and a friend gazed into Yosemite Valley from a spot
probably near OIld Inspiration Point. Abrams and U.N. Reamer, both of
whom worked at Savage's trading post on the South Fork of the Merced,
became lost while hunting and suddenly emerged from the woods to face
the amazing vista of Bridalveil Fall, ElI Capitan, and Half Dome. Despite
the Dbelief of some historians that members of the Walker party first
viewed the valley, this 1849 date has been accepted by most as the first
sighting. Shirley Sargent, Wawona's Yesterdays, rev. 1973 (Yosemite
National Park: Yosemite Natural History Association, 1961), 4.

The precise derivation of the word "Yosemite" is uncertain.
(Lieutenant Tredwell Moore, in his report of the 1852 expedition,
substituted an "e" as the final letter in the name of the valley, and that
spelling was adopted. In 1855 James Hutchings tried to popularize
"Yo-Hamite," which he thought was a more accurate phonetic rendition of
the Indian word for grizzly. Bunnell, Discovery of the Yosemite, 63,
67.) Bunnell applied the name to the valley spread” out before him in
honor of the Indian tribe who lived there, known to neighboring whites
as the Yosemites and to other tribes and among themselves as
Ahwahneeches. The exact derivation of the word will probably never be
known, for few present-day native Miwok speakers are familiar with the
source of many early tribal words. The noted California anthropologist
A.L. Kroeber believed that the word Yosemite was derived from uzumati
or uhumati, meaning grizzly bear. This seemed to tie in with the tribal
clan system, under which members were divided into either the land or
water moiety--social and sometimes ceremonial divisions, with various
animals linked to each. The grizzly bear was identified with members of
the land moiety. Linguistically, however, the pronunciation of the word
becomes Yohemiteh, meaning "they are Kkillers,” and would tend to
suggest a warlike attitude on the part of that particular tribe.




The next day Savage and his men searched the valley floor on
both sides of the Merced River, finally scouting up the Tenaya Creek
canyon beyond Mirror Lake and ascending the Merced River canyon above
Nevada Fall to Little Yosemite Valley, but their search went mostly
unrewarded. They found only an old Indian woman, who, unable to keep
up with her tribesmen, had been left behind. With supplies running low,
Savage and his men remained in the valley only long enough to fire the
Indian dwellings and food caches that had been left behind, hoping to
starve out the inhabitants and thereby compel them to move to
reservations. After Savage's departure, the Indians returned to salvage
what they could from the smoldering ruins of food and clothing.

The Yosemite campaign of the Mariposa Battalion was notably
unsuccessful in its primary mission. Not only did it not find the young
men of the tribe, but before the troops reached the Indian commissioners’
encampment on Mariposa Creek with those Indians who had agreed to
settle on the reservation, Tenaya and the Ahwahneeches and Nutchus who
had followed him escaped into the night. The main achievement of the

battalion--the discovery of Yosemite Valley--went unheralded.20

19. (Cont.) Some additional theories have been advanced regarding the
choice of the word Yosemite to designate this group of Indians: that the
word referred to the fact that the tribe inhabited the mountains and
valleys that were favorite haunts of the grizzly bear, which Tenaya's
people reputedly became expert in hunting; that the tribe adopted the
name to instill fear in the hearts of its enemies; and that it is associated
with an old legend in which a chief of the tribe distinguished himself in
combat with an enormous grizzly bear. James E. Cole, "Origin of Name
Yosemite," 1936, typescript, 7 pages, in Yosemite Research Library and
Records Center, Yosemite National Park, California; Elizabeth Godfrey,
Yosemite Indians, rev. 1977 (Yosemite National Park: Yosemite Natural
History Association, 1973), 35; Craig Bates, "Names and Meanings for
Yosemite Valley," Yosemite Nature Notes 47, no. 3 (1978): 42-438.

20. See C. Gregory Crampton, ed., The Mariposa Indian War 1850-1851,
Diaries of Robert Eccleston: The California Gold Rush, Yosemite, and the
High Sierra (Salt Lake City: University of Utah Press, 1957) for
information on the Mariposa Battalion provided in the personal records of
one of its volunteer members and by extensive editorial notes.
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3. Captain John Boling Enters Yosemite Valley

A company of the Mariposa Battalion under the command of
Capt. John Boling made a second attempt to surprise and thoroughly
subdue the elusive inhabitants of Yosemite Valley in May 1851. Following
the same route into the valley pioneered by Savage, Boling established
his first camp near the site of present Sentinel Bridge. Initially his men
captured five Indians. They subsequently released one son of Tenaya
and a son-in-law upon their promise to bring in the elderly chief and all
his people. Meanwhile another hostage managed to escape; when the
remaining two also worked free of their bonds, they were shot as they
tried to break away. Upon his arrival in the camp as a captive, Tenaya
was grief-stricken to find his youngest son among the dead. When his
band failed to join him in surrendering, Tenaya also attempted

unsuccessfully to escape.

Pursuing the rest of the band, numbering some thirty-five
people, who seemed to be heading for the land of the Mono Lake Paiutes,
Boling and his men surprised them encamped on the shores of present
Tenaya Lake. Hungry and exhausted, the Yosemites surrendered. The
first expedition into the high country from the west, it was on this
occasion that Bunnell applied the name Tenaya to the lake, despite the

old chief's protestations that it already had a name, Py we' ack, "Lake of

the Shining Rocks."21 Tenaya and his people were subsequently assigned
to the Fresno River reservation in company with other bands, and the
battalion was mustered out of service on 1 July 1851. Unhappy with the
lowland humidity, the forced cohabitation with traditional enemies, and the
lack of traditional food stuffs, Tenaya repeatedly appealed to return to
Yosemite Valley. His wish was granted upon his promise to remain
peaceful. Other Indians of the band who managed to quietly leave the

reservation later joined him there.

21. Carl P. Russell, ICM Years n _Yosemite: _The Story of a Great
National Park (Yosemite National Park: Yosemite Natural History
Association, 1957), 39.

24



4, Lieutenant Tredwell Moore Enters Yosemite Valley

Peace continued until May 1852 when a party of eight
prospectors from Coarse Gold Gulch in Mariposa County entered Yosemite
Valley. While five of the group were absent from their camp on the
Merced River west of Bridalveil Fall hunting and prospecting, the
Yosemites attacked and killed two men, the others barely escaping with
their lives. The exact cause of the Indian attack is unclear. One
version states that an Indian child was murdered shortly after the miners
left their camp and that the Indians attacked in retaliation. Another
states that the Yosemites had been incited by one of the prospectors who
had lured his partners into the valley so that they would be killed and he

could take possession of their mine. The two incidents could somehow be

2
related.—'2

Fearing a general Indian outbreak, a detachment of regular
army troops under Lt. Tredwell Moore journeyed to the valley from Fort
Miller, on the south bank of the San Joaquin River, in June 1852. They
shot five Indians found in the wvalley in possession of white men's
clothing, suspected to be those of the murdered prospectors. Tenaya
and the rest of his band, who might have witnessed the executions,
apparently escaped across the Sierra Nevada and took refuge with the
Paiutes near Mono Lake. The army unit in pursuit explored around Mono
Lake and collected ore samples before returning west again, via Bloody
Canyon and Mono Pass, to Tuolumne Meadows and ultimately back to the
post through Little Yosemite Valley. Moore's expedition  effectively
ended Indian depredations in the area and concluded the "Mariposa'
Indian War" of the previous three years. Tenaya and his band remained
with the Paiutes until late summer 1853, when they again established
themselves in their old valley home.

22. Margaret Sanborn, Yosemite: Its Discovery, Its Wonders, and lts
People (New York: Random House, 1981), 57-58; Godfrey, Yosemite
Indians, 10.
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D- Decline in Strength of the Yosemites

Stories differ concerning the breakup of the Yosemites around 1853.
According to a member of the original band, it resulted from a hand game
between the Yosemites and the Paiutes at Mono Lake. In the excitement
of the game, a quarrel developed. In the ensuing fight, the Paiutes
stoned to death the old chief and five of his braves. After Tenaya's
death, the remnants of the Yosemite band dispersed. Some stayed on the
east side of the Sierra Nevada with the Mono Lake Paiutes, while others
joined the Miwok bands along the Tuolumne River. Some possibly moved

to Tuolumne Meadows or Pate VaIIey.23

E. Historical Indian Occupation of Yosemite Valley

The only known direct ethnographic observations of Yosemite's early
Indian villages come from Bunnell, who described one as it appeared at
the moment of white contact, and from James Hutchings, who described a
village and Indian daily life in 1886. Throughout the early white period
in  Yosemite Valley, references appear to its Indian inhabitants, the
Central and Southern Miwok, the Paiute, and the mixed-blood descendants
of the early Ahwahneeches who had maintained villages in the park area
in the pre-contact period. No aboveground remains of the first Indian
settlements and sweathouses reported by Bunnell exist. The Indians
living in Yosemite Valley during its early settlement by whites occupied
three main villages off and on up until the 1930s. One stood near the
present Lewis Hospital at the mouth of Indian Canyon, one near the

23. Different explanations exist for the absence of the Ahwahneeches
from Yosemite Valley over the next several years. Another story relates
that shortly after the tribe had reestablished itself in the valley, a group
of young braves raided the camp of their former protectors, the Mono
Lake Paiutes, and stole some horses. In retaliation, a war party
descended on the Yosemite camp, attacking with stones. One of the
victims was Tenaya. A few of the braves escaped and the older men and
women who survived the onslaught were allowed their freedom. The
young women and children, however, were enslaved and taken back to
Mono Lake. This version was told to Doctor Bunnell by some members of
the tribe years later, but was disputed by others. Russell, 100 Years hi
Yosemite, 46-47, and Sanborn, Yosemite, 59-60.
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National Park Service maintenance yard, and one near Sentinel Rock,

used by visiting Indians from Mariposa and Mono Lake.24

During the pioneer period, Indians were part of the daily life of
Yosemite, working for concessioners and later the federal government.
The control of Yosemite Valley and its resources by the whites meant the
end of the traditional Indian way of life. The native population, once
able to roam the valley at will, harvesting acorns and hunting game,
became dependent on the white man for food and money to support
themselves. The women served as maids and cooks and sold baskets to
tourists, while the men worked on trail and road crews and at small jobs
such as woodcutting and fishing. Two shacks inhabited by Indian
woodcutters existed at Wawona and an Indian camp of shacks and more
traditional dwellings lay across the South Fork from the Wawona Hotel in

the 1800s.?°

Acting Superintendent A.E. Wood reported that about thirty-five
Indians lived within the park in 1891. In summer they fished, chopped
wood, harvested hay, washed clothes, and worked about the hotels for a
living. In winter they hunted, placer mined, and performed whatever
odd jobs they could find. In that year the chiefs and headmen of the
existing members of the Yosemite tribe sent a petition to the President of
the United States declaring that they had been unfairly deprived of their
land and compelled to witness the daily encroachment of white men on
their valley. They complained that the state of California was turning

24. Craig Bates, "A History of the Indian People of Mariposa County,"
ms. no. 10937, 1975, 30, in Yosemite Research Library and Records
Center, Yosemite National Park. See Bennyhoff, Appraisal of the
Archaeological Resources of Yosemite National Park, 8-9, for a discussion
of valley village sites.

25. John C. Whittaker, Archeology [n Yosemite National Park: The
Wawona Testing Project, Publications in Anthropology, No. 18 (Tucson:
National Park Service, Western Archeological and Conservation Center,

1981), 67.
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the valley into a hay farm and cattle range rather than a park, and that
a few whites who desired only to make money controlled the lands. The
destruction of trees and the extensive grazing by large herds of horses
and cattle restricted the gathering of acorns and nuts and the hunting of
game. These- conditions, plus the decimation of fish in the river, were
slowly driving the small Indian population away. The Indians petitioned
the U.S. Government for one million dollars, for which amount they would
convey all their natural right and title to Yosemite Valley and its
environs. (It should be remembered that the Ahwahneeches had never
signed a treaty giving up their tribal lands.) Not surprisingly, the
Indians proved unsuccessful in this attempt at reimbursement for the loss
of tribal lands.—"

By the 1920s, most of the Indian population in Yosemite Valley had
settled in the village at the mouth of Indian Canyon in semi-aboriginal
houses with boards and canvas added. Their children attended boarding
school in Nevada to learn English, and many of the old customs, such as
dancing, acorn harvesting, and basketry, began to die out. At that time
the Park Service attempted to recreate Indian culture and crafts by
encouraging basket making and through such means as the short-lived
Indian Field Days. In 1933 the Park Service established a new Indian
Village in the valley, just west of Camp Sunnyside--the last village of
Indian people in the Yosemite region. As the older members died, their
children were not allowed to take over the homes and ultimately moved
away. In 1969 the Park Serviced moved the one remaining family in the

Indian Village to a residential section and burned the village.27

26. "Petition to the Senators and Representatives of the Congress of the
United States. In behalf of the remnants of the Former Tribes of the
Yosemite Indians Praying for Aid and Assistance," in Letters Received by
the Office of the Secretary of the Interior Relating to National Parks,
1872-1907 (Yosemite), Record Group (RG) 79, National Archives (NA),
Washington, D.C.

27. Bates, "History of the Indian People of Mariposa County,” 30-33.
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F. Historical Indian Occupation of El Portal

It is known that Indians occupied Rancheria Flat at ElI Portal, north
of the Merced River, during the 1850s and 18803.‘?8 Little information
exists on Indians in the area until the early 1900s, when several Indian
people lived at scattered sites in the Merced River canyon. A few
individuals stayed at EIlI Portal Rancheria south of the Merced, mostly in
tents. They earned money during this time in a variety of ways. The
native women sold traditional basketry and beadwork and did laundry,
while the men worked in the former Hennessey ranch garden or cultivated
their own orchards. Occasionally the EI Portal native population hosted
Indian celebrations of two to three days' duration, attracting people from

as far away as Mono Lake.

In the late 1920s, Indians from Yosemite Valley still came to ElI Portal
in the winter, although some journeyed east across the mountains to the
Paiute camps. By the 1930s, most of the Indian population of EI Portal
lived near Crane Creek. Other individuals briefly occupied Indian Flat in
the 1930s, though later some moved to Yosemite Valley on a permanent or
part-time basis, many to find employment, returning to ElI Portal in the
winter. After World War 11, a few people still lived on Crane Creek, but
by the late 1940s the last Indian village in ElI Portal had been

abandoned. 29

G. Remains of Indian Occupation in Yosemite National Park

Recent archeological work in Yosemite National Park during 1985-86
has revealed over 100 sites Iin Yosemite Valley alone. Archeological’

remains there, at ElI Portal, at Wawona, and in other park areas consist

28. Craig D. Bates and Karen P. Wells, Late Aboriginal and Early Anglo
Occupation of J Portal, Yosemite National Park, California (Tucson:
National Park Service, Western Archeological and Conservation Center,
1981), 5.

29. Ibid., 6-12.
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of habitation sites; bedrock mortars, hammerstones, manos, and pestles
for grinding acorns and vegetable materials into meal; midden deposits,
containing artifacts and food by-products; rock shelters; lithic scatters;
petroglyphs; and pictographs. Some isolated burials have been found.
The Yosemite Valley Archeological District was added to the National
Register of Historic Places in 1978, comprising 8,100 acres of valley floor
and ninety-eight sites. Other significant cultural areas listed in the
register are: Wawona Archeological District, forty-two sites; Foresta-Big
Meadow Archeological District, twenty-two sites; Tuolumne Meadows
Archeological District, fifty-nine sites; and the EI Portal Archeological
District, eleven sites. Determinations of eligibility have been acquired
for archeological districts at Aspen Valley, five sites; Crane Flat, seven
sites; Eagle Peak, three sites; Hetch Hetchy, two sites; Mariposa Grove,
three sites; Snow Creek/Mt. Watkins, four sites; White Wolf, four sites;

and Yosemite Creek, five sites.

El Portal contains settlement sites at Rancheria Flat and ElI Portal
Rancheria, where a few historic frame Indian houses stood until the
1930s. Upslope from the latter site is a Native American cemetery used
during the early twentieth century. It contains an undetermined number
of unmarked graves and one marked grave (1930). The historic and
prehistoric settlement at Rancheria Flat is important for the data it

provides on both aboriginal and early Anglo occupation.

Many of the known archeological resources in Yosemite have been
damaged or destroyed by visitor pothunting; by construction of roads,
trails, parking Ilots, sewage treatment facilities, and buildings; by
excavations for utility trenches; by the digging of borrow pits; and by
landscaping activities. These impede the detailed recordation of features,
the collection and analysis of artifacts, and the professional excavation
work necessary to acquire valuable information for archeological and
environmental studies. The importance of archeological and historical
archeological resources in Yosemite National Park is in providing data on
the prehistoric and early historic environment and occupation of the

Yosemite region. Information in aboveground remains and subsurface
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deposits can aid in the formulation of a cultural chronology of tribal
development in the Central Sierra and can serve as a comparative base
for regional studies dealing with Central Valley, Great Basin, and Sierra
populations, environment, settlement and trading patterns, and other
interrelationships. A more immediate management need is a continuing
basic inventory of archeological resources to facilitate the cultural
resources management process. (See Appendix B for a chronological

overview of archeological investigations in Yosemite National Park.)

H. Remains of White EXxploration in Yosemite Valley

No tangible remains exist from the Mariposa Battalion passage
through Yosemite Valley or from the expeditions under Captain Boling or
Lieutenant Moore. The old Indian trail troops followed over Chowchilla
Mountain approximated the Ilater route of the Chowchilla Mountain road to
Wawona. Their route into Yosemite Valley became the saddle trail used
by early tourists and eventually evolved into the Wawona-Yosemite Valley
wagon road. It met the present road above Bridalveil Fall. Savage's
overlook into the valley, OIld Inspiration Point, can be reached by a hike

up the Pohono Trail from the new road.

On entering Yosemite Valley, the members of the first expedition of
the Mariposa Battalion camped near the foot of Bridalveil Fall, probably in
Bridalveil Meadow; they pitched their second camp at the mouth of Indian
Canyon. According to Bunnell, their longest encampment occupied an
area near the later site of Barnard's Hotel.30 Captain John Boling and
his company followed Savage's route, establishing their first camp near
present Sentinel Bridge. The site of the 1852 prospector's camp lay
probably on or near Bridalveil Meadow. The marked graves of the two

murdered miners--Sherburn (Shurbon, according to Bunnell) and

30. L.H. Bunnell, in Biennial Report of the Commissioners to Manage
Yosemite Valley and the Mariposa Big Tree Grove, For the Years 1889-90
(Sacramento: State Printing Office, 1890), 12.
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Rose--lay close to Bridalveil FaII.31

An early valley resident stated that
one of the men, however, possibly fled as far east as the terminal
moraine at El Capitan, upon which he was buried. A large stone and

crude marker, both later removed, marked that site.32

l. Tourism to Yosemite Valley Begins
1. A Three-Year Lull
In the fall of 1853 more prospectors entered Yosemite Valley,

but, despite finding some promising ore along the Merced River, did not
attempt to stay and explore further for fear of Indian attack. The next
year James Capen Adams, a hunter and wild animal trainer, visited the
valley to capture grizzly bears. Despite those occasional visits and the
resulting Dbrief allusions to the valley's stupendous rock formations,
impressive waterfalls, and magnificent forest scenery, general knowledge
of the valley did not spread quickly. Gold deposits held more interest
for Californians of that day than scenery, and so the spectacular valley
remained practically undisturbed.

2. James M. Hutchings Inspects Yosemite Valley

By 1855 several accounts written by members of the three
military expeditions to Yosemite had been published in San Francisco
newspapers. One entry by the only other member of the Mariposa
Battalion who felt compelled to mention the amazing sights he had seen,
including a 1,000-foot-high waterfall, caught the attention of James Mason
Hutchings. Hutchings had come to America from England and gradually
worked his way across the plains to the California mines during the Gold
Rush. At that time a magazine publisher, Hutchings remained always on

31. Carl P. Russell, "The Geography of the Mariposa Indian War (No.
3)," Yosemite Nature Notes 30, no. 6 (June 1951): 54.

32. E. Beatty, "Early Historical Sites and Information Obtained from a
Personal Tour with Charles Leidig," 21 July 1933, in Separates File,
Yosemite Research Library and Records Center, Yosemite National Park,
2.
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the lookout for new material, and besides, his curiosity to see such a

marvel was piqued.

In 1855, therefore, he organized the first tourist party to
journey to the mysterious valley. The group comprised Hutchings, the
pioneer artist/illustrator Thomas A. Ayres, Wesley Millard, and Alexander
Stair. Some difficulty arose in finding reliable guides, but finally two
Yosemite Indians living on the Fresno River agreed to perform that
service. They followed the route of the earlier Mariposa Battalion, from
Mariposa, over the Chowchilla Mountains to present Wawona, and then
along the Alder Creek Indian trail to Yosemite Valley via OIld Inspiration
Point. Thrilled almost beyond words by the panorama of peaks, meadows,
creeks, and waterfalls spread out below him, Hutchings became an instant
Yosemite devotee. He gathered copious notes on the scenery while Ayers
tried to capture on paper the cliffs, domes, and falls--the first sketches
ever made in Yosemite--and Millard and Stair hunted and fished to sustain

the expedition.

After five days of glorious vistas and frantic note-taking,
Hutchings's party turned back toward San Francisco, stopping briefly in
Mariposa. As a result of his description of the trip to the editor of the
Mariposa Gazette, on 12 July 1855 the first printed description of

Yosemite Valley appeared, written by an enthusiastic sightseer not the
least concerned with looking for gold or hunting for elusive Yosemites.
Additional articles illustrated with Ayres's lithographs appeared in

Hutchings's California Magazine, which were copied and republished by

papers throughout California and the rest of the country. It may fairly
be said that public knowledge and appreciation of Yosemite Valley began
with the 1855 Hutchings visit.

3. Publicity on Yosemite Valley Reaches the East Coast

During the ten years after Hutchings's first descriptions of
Yosemite Valley appeared, both local and national interest in the area and
the nearby Big Tree Grove grew rapidly. Only a year after Hutchings's
introductory article appeared Iin the Mariposa Gazette, the East was
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provocatively informed of the striking natural wonder on the Pacific Coast

through an article in the California Christian Advocate republished in

Country Gentleman.:?’3 In the summer of 1859 Horace Greeley, owner and

editor of the New York Tribune, visited Yosemite, unfortunately on a

very hurried trip. Exhausted and saddlesore from a sixty-mile nonstop
mule ride from Bear Valley, Greeley was in a foul mood by the time he
reached Yosemite Valley. He stayed only one day, grumbling most of the
time, but wrote later that Yosemite was truly the most amazing of nature's

marvels.

The first descriptions of Yosemite to reach the East were
sketchy, written by people without particular literary abilities.
Easterners read the articles, therefore, with interest, but also with a
grain of salt. The best descriptions of Yosemite, and those which carried
the most weight with Eastern readers, comprised those submitted by
Thomas Starr King, the noted Unitarian minister and lecturer and author
of several books on the American landscape. The series of eight articles

that he sent to the Boston Evening Transcript, from 1 December 1860 to 9

February 1861, acquainted Eastern readers with the beauties of Yosemite
as nothing had previously. Because he was widely respected, the East
took King's comments seriously. His eight letters printed in the

Transcript "constituted the first thorough description of the Yosemite
34

Valley to obtain widespread national circulation." Yosemite's attributes
were finally nationally accepted as scenically outstanding when praised by

writers of the repute of King and Greeley.

33. Hans Huth, "Yosemite: The Story of an Idea,” reprinted by
Yosemite Natural History Association from the Sierra Club Bulletin (March
1948): 26.

34. Stanford E. Demars, "The Triumph of Tradition: A Study of
Tourism in Yosemite National Park, California" (Ph.D. diss., University
of Oregon, 1970), 32.

34



Publicists also helped arouse national support for preservation
of Yosemite Valley by introducing readers to the wonders of the West in
popular works that enjoyed tremendous followings. Samuel Bowles, editor
and publisher of the Springfield (Mass.) Republican and one of the most

influential newspaper editors of his time, published important essays in
Across the Continent (Springfield, Mass.: Samuel Bowles & Co., 1865)
and Our New West (Hartford, Conn., 1869), while Albert D. Richardson,

correspondent for the New York Tribune, produced Beyond the

Mississippi in 1867. Each of these publications helped promote fascination

with the American West.

In addition to written reports, landscape painters and
photographers produced pictures that were equally important in arousing
public interest in America's scenic values by showing visually what was
being written about and dramatizing what would be lost without proper
concern for natural resources. Albert Bierstadt and Thomas Moran
stimulated the public appreciation of Yosemite with their beautiful if
somewhat exaggerated replications of its grandeur. The photos of C.L.
Weed displayed in California in 1859 and others taken by Carleton E.
Watkins in 1863 and constantly exhibited in New York galleries also helped
spread the word of the Dbeauties of the valley and the Big Trees and
contributed to an wunderstanding and appreciation of their values in
Congress. These photographic efforts seem especially superb when
viewed in light of the tremendous difficulties involved in hauling
cumbersome equipment around on pack animals. Israel W. Raymond, one
of the proponents of the Yosemite Grant, wisely supplied Sen. John
Conness of California with a collection of Watkins's Yosemite views to use

when he submitted his draft for the Yosemite Act.

4. Publicity Encourages Visitation

a) Trails and Tourist Facilities on the Way to Yosemite Valley

Not surprisingly, Hutchings's accounts of the wonders of

Yosemite Valley stimulated excited interest in nearby mining camps, such
as Mariposa, and even farther away in the larger cities of San Francisco,

Stockton, and Sacramento. Tourist travel to Yosemite began as those
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readers became Interested in viewing such extraordinary grandeur for
themselves. A few crude trails worn by the Indians as they followed
game into the mountain wilderness, pursued trade, or visited neighboring
tribes constituted the only means of entering the valley, and the way was
long and arduous. Regularly wused Indian paths were not initially
recorded but memorized by all who needed them and rerouted periodically
as conditions dictated. Gradually extended use "improved" the footpaths,
which became passable horse trails for visitors. These did not form a
trail system as we know it today, but were merely direct routes running
up and down hills. Seldom marked other than with sticks or pine
needles, and therefore difficult to discern, those rough trails served
early travelers well, although they often required Indian guides. By the
time the first tourist parties entered the valley, most of the trails earlier
white explorers had followed had been almost obliterated due to lack of
use.

In the foothills regions west and south of the park a
number of ancient Indian paths provided a network through the hills over
which miners and packers threaded their way east across the Sierra
Nevada. Sheepherders driving their flocks into the high country during
the summer also followed some of those trails as well as pioneering their
own. All Indian trails leading over the mountains from the south toward
Yosemite Valley converged at the South Fork of the Merced near the
former Nutchu camp at present Wawona. From there two routes went
north. The easier trail followed Alder Creek to its source on the plateau
and led from there across to the rim of Yosemite Valley. The other trail,
more passable in winter but also more difficult, followed further down the
South Fork before cutting over to the predecessor of the later Hennessey
trail into Yosemite Valley, which cut south from EI Portal and then ran

east toward Grouse Creek.35

35. Hazel M. Whedon, "The History of the Roads, Trails, and Hotels in
and Near Yosemite National Park" (M.A. thesis, University of Southern
California, 1934), 10-11.
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The Ahwahneeches could climb up out of Yosemite Valley
through Indian Canyon, possibly by following Yosemite Creek, or via the
Vernal and Nevada falls' gorge of the Merced River. The Foresta/Big
Meadow area and the Mono Trail could be reached from near El Portal via
Crane Creek. The Old Inspiration Point-Wawona-Fresno Flats
(Oakhurst)-Coarse Gold route gave access to the foothills to the west.
The Merced River gorge seldom served as access to the valley. Other
ancient routes in and around Yosemite Valley were probably only
periodically used by Indians and were inaccessible to the average white

tourist.

One of the primary prehistoric lanes of travel across the
Sierra Nevada north of Yosemite Valley was the Mono Trail, which, on its
way west from the Mono Lake area, passed up present Bloody Canyon,
over Mono Pass, down the Dana Fork of the Tuolumne River, through
Tuolumne Meadows to Cathedral Pass, and past Tenaya Lake. It left the
present Tioga Road corridor near Porcupine Flat, headed west-southwest
to Yosemite Creek, then south to Bluejay Creek, which it followed west to
Ribbon and Big meadows. There, at a major Indian settlement, it
connected with routes to Big Oak Flat, the Merced River, and other
points in the San Joaquin Valley. Current archeological and historical
data indicates that this is one of the oldest continuously used trails in
the Sierra Nevada and possibly the western United States, having been
used first probably by game animals and then successively by Indians,
explorers, sheepherders, miners, poachers, the U.S. Army, early High
Sierra tourists, and finally by trans-Sierra auto travelers. As mentioned
previously, Walker probably followed portions of this route, as did
Lieutenant Moore in his pursuit of the fleeing band of Yosemites in 1852.
Later, around 1857, Tom McGee, a businessman of Big Oak Flat, further
blazed the trail, joining it to the Big Oak Flat Trail to facilitate passage

by miners and packers to the mining towns east of the Sierra.

The main Mono Trail had several branches to Yosemite
Valley and other parts of the high country. In addition to taking

travelers west, the trail divided at Cathedral Pass, with one branch
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[llustration 4.

Historical Base Map No. 1. Early trails, Yosemite National Park (compiled
by author).

DSC, #104 25013, May 1987.
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passing Tenaya Lake and entering Yosemite Valley near Mirror Lake. The
other branch came down north of Cathedral Peak and south of Half Dome
to Little Yosemite Valley and continued southwest across lllilouette and
Bridalveil creeks. There the trail forked again, one branch dropping via
Old Inspiration Point to the lower end of the valley floor while the other

crossed the divide to Alder Creek and continued south.

Although miners, who comprised most of the early visitors,
were not deterred by the hardships involved in following Dbarely
discernible Indian trails, few less hardy individuals were likely to attempt
the journey. Two participants in an early sightseeing trip, Milton and
Houston Mann, began to envision the large number of tourists that might
be attracted if an easier way into Yosemite Valley existed. In 1856
Andrew A., Houston, and Milton Mann, Ilivery stable owners from
Mariposa, obtained permission from the Mariposa County Board of

Supervisors to construct a trail or toll road for horse and foot traffic

commencing near the Mormon Bar on the Mariposa Creek, and
thence eastwardly and to the left of the ranch known as the
ranch of McVicar & Co. continuing thence in the same general
direction to an intersection with the wagon road leading to the
Saw Mill of McNeill & Co. Thence to a Ranch on the middle fork
of the Chowchilla--known as the Potato Ranch. Thence
eastwardly to the south fork of the Chowchilla, then
northwardly, crossing the divide between the Chowchilla and
the South Fork of the Merced River. Thence crossing the
heads of Alder Creek to the lower end of the YoHamite Valley,
thence through the said Valley to the upper end thereof near
the great Natural Falls. The entire distance being about Forty
miles. So

The Mann brothers obtained authority to collect toll on this
route for twenty years and immediately commenced building. Upon
completion of the trail in 1856, at a cost of $700.00, foot travelers paid

$1.00 and horseback riders $2.00 each way. The trail ran east of the

36. Court of Sessions, Mariposa County, C:129, in Separates file,
Yosemite--Roads, #20, Yosemite Research Library and Records Center,
Yosemite National Park.
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present Wawona highway. Midway along the trail, travelers arrived at a
scenic meadow at the South Fork of the Merced River. There another
early visitor, Galen Clark, settled and established a simple hotel. A
Canadian by birth, and plagued by tuberculosis most of his life, Clark
had resided in New Hampshire, Missouri, and Pennsylvania before
journeying to the California goldfields in 1853, where he mined and
surveyed. In 1855 he accompanied a tourist party to Yosemite Valley,
and still in poor health and believing that he had only a short time to
live, in 1856 filed a claim on the site of the 1851 camp of the Mariposa
Battalion at the South Fork of the Merced River. By 1857 he had built a
twelve-by-sixteen-foot cabin on the west end of the meadow, an area that
iIs now part of the Wawona Hotel golf course. His rude hostelry became
known as Clark's Station or Clark's Crossing and functioned as a rest
stop for travelers journeying from Mariposa to Yosemite Valley. In 1857,
or perhaps 1858, Clark constructed a bridge across the South Fork of the

Merced River as part of an early road to the valley. Originally an open

frame structure, it consisted of heavy handhewn Iogs.37

37. The Wawona covered bridge measures 15 feet wide and 125 feet long.
After the Washburn brothers purchased Clark's interests in 1875, they
roofed the bridge and enclosed the sides to keep water and snow off the
trestles. Lumber for the covering came from their nearby sawmill. In
1900 approach spans were added to each end of this bridge. It was used
until 1931 and then replaced by a modern concrete bridge on the new
Wawona Road. The Civilian Conservation Corps completed general repair
work, including the addition of stone masonry to the substructure, in
1937. The flood of December 1955 damaged the bridge, and, as a result,
Superintendent John Preston received an order from National Park Service
Director Conrad Wirth to pull the structure ashore pending a decision as
to whether money could be found to reconstruct it. MISSION 66
envisioned developing an interpretive center at Wawona, and the Park
Service determined that the bridge could be an important part of that
endeavor. A crew built a trestle beneath the bridge, raised it and
placed it on rollers, and pulled it ashore with cables from a
bulldozer-powered winch. The Park Service dismantled and reconstructed
the bridge in 1956-57 utilizing many original members. Some timbers were
replaced in 1961 and again in 1983 when the Park Service corrected
structural safety hazards following an inspection of the structure. The
Wawona covered bridge is the only one in the Yosemite region and one of
the few in the West. It is used daily by horses and visitors as a central
feature of the Pioneer Yosemite History Center. Such structures are
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Sometime prior to June 1859, Clark relocated to the eastern
side of the meadow, where the present Wawona Hotel stands. He began
his small hotel as a tent tavern, where guests slept around an open fire.
He later built a log cabin as a dining facility and used tents as
dormitories. A simple and kindly host, although never much of a
businessman, Clark became an expert on the geography, geology, and
botany of the Yosemite region and an influential advocate of the
preservation of Yosemite Valley as well as its state Guardian for many

years.

The toll for the Mann brothers' trail was collected at White
and Hatch's, a farm and sawmill about twelve miles from Mariposa that
later became an inn. Those miles were rough, and the track on to
Clark's Station even more difficult. From there, the scenic trail ascended
Alder Creek to its headwaters in Westfall Meadows, crossed over to the
Bridalveil Creek drainage, and ultimately reached OIld Inspiration Point on
the south rim of Yosemite Valley. From that summit it dropped abruptly
to the valley floor near the foot of Bridalveil Fall. The Mann brothers
were forced in 1859 to sell their trail at one-third its original cost to
Mariposa County, which made it a free route. Sometme during the next
few years sheepherders established camps in the lush meadows crossed by
the Mann brothers' trail. Westfall Meadows contained two rough shelters,
Westfall's and Ostrander's cabins, that were sometimes used by travelers
who did not wish to complete the exhausting trip to Yosemite Valley in
one day. Harvey J. Ostrander settled near Bridalveil Creek in the early
1860s.

From the 1850s to the early 1870s, Stockton served as a

major point of departure for Yosemite tourists, so that routes entering

37. (Cont.) uncommon now in California, most having burned, rotted,
or been swept away by floods. Lonnie E. Moss, Western Inspection Unit
Coordinator, "Summary of Findings, Bridge Safety Inspection Report,
S.F. Merced River Bridge (Wawona Service Road), Structure No.
8800-015T," inspected 16 October 1977, in Maintenance Office files, Valley
Administration Building, Yosemite National Park.
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the valley from the north appeared more convenient and highly desirable.
In addition, the amount of business that had been generated along the
Mariposa route for hotelkeepers and liverymen prompted the businessmen
of Coulterville and Big Oak Flat to seek similar patronage. In 1857
Lafayette Bunnell, George W. Coulter, and others began construction of
the' Coulterville Free Trail, which ran to Bull Creek, and passed through
Deer Flat, Hazel Green, Crane Flat, and Tamarack Flat to Gentry, before
descending to the valley floor. The route stretched for forty-eight miles,

only seventeen of which could be traveled by carriage.””

Another early free horse trail entering Yosemite Valley
from the north began at the village of Big Oak Flat, six miles north of
Coulterville, and followed a thirty-two-mile-long route north of the
Coulterville Trail through Garrote in Tuolumne County, via Sprague's and
Hardin's ranches on the South Fork of the Tuolumne River, to a junction

with the Coulterville Trail between Crane and Tamarack flats.

According to J.D. Whitney's guidebook of 1868, the Hetch
Hetchy Valley could be reached from Big Oak Flat via the trail to
Yosemite, passing by Sprague's ranch and continuing on to that of
Hardin, where, about eighteen miles from Big Oak Flat, the trail ran to
the north, crossing the Middle Fork of the Tuolumne to Hog Ranch, then

following up the divide between the Middle Fork and main river to another

38. A Belgian miner, Jean-Nicolas Perlot, stated later that because of his
familiarity with the approaches to Yosemite Valley, Coulter and his
associates hired him to open the trail from Coulterville to Yosemite.
Perlot claimed he directed ten Indians in hacking out the trail for pack
mules. See his interesting account of the opening of the Coulterville Free
Trail in Gold Seeker: Adventures of a Belgian Argonaut during the Gold
Rush Years, trans, by Helen Harding Bretnor, ed. by Howard R. Lamar
(New Haven: Yale University Press, 1985), 292-300, and compare to that
of Bunnell, Discovery of the Yosemite, 315-16.
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small ranch called "the Canon.” From there the trail wound d9wn for six

miles to the Tuolumne River.39

b) Early Hotels in Yosemite Valley

According to James Hutchings, between 1855 and 1864 the
number of visitors to Yosemite Valley totalled 653. By 1874, with the
completion of the first stage roads into the valley, travel had increased to
more than 2,700 visitors annually. Because of the vast distances involved
and the slow progress of the journey due to the ruggedness of the
terrain, early travelers to Yosemite did not just come for a one-day visit.
The necessity for tourist accommodations in the valley became obvious.
Most early visitors expected to rough it and, because they were hardy
frontiersmen, could accept the crude accommodations so hurriedly
provided. Hotel keeping played an important part in Yosemite's history

from the very beginning.

The first shelter constructed by white men in Yosemite
Valley consisted of a flimsy plank shack erected in 1855 by a party of
surveyors. Interested in the valley as a supplementary source of water
for Mariposa and for the huge Mexican grant known as the Mariposa
Estate, being developed by John C. Fremont, the survey party probably

assumed that a claim in the valley would ensure water privileges.

The first permanent hotel structure in the valley, begun
in 1856 by Messrs. Anderson, Ramsdell, Coward, and Walsworth, and
finished by Buck Beardsley and Stephen M. Cunningham, stood on the
south side of the Merced River near the foot of the later Four-Mile Trail
to Glacier Point. The hewn-pine-board structure known as the Lower
Hotel functioned more as a saloon until crushed by snow during the

winter of 1857-58. It reopened the next year as an inn, run by John H.

39. Irene D. Paden and Margaret E. Schlictmann, The Big Oak Flat

Road: An Account of Freighting from Stockton to Yosemite Valley
(Yosemite National Park: Yosemite Natural History Association, 1959),
309-10.
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Neal and his wife Jean for Cunningham, who had ended his business

association with Beardsley in the fall of 1857. The structure

looked like a barn, and its "rooms" resembled stalls. Windows
were (lassless, floors of dirt or pine boughs, and beds
springless. Mattresses were ticking stuffed with hay, bracken,
or some other soft material, and sanitary facilities consisted of
a wash pan and a path. Chickens and cows outnumbered wild
animals, and meadows had been planted to hay and grain.
Comforts were at a minimum-.-, but surrounding beauty so great

that few lodgers complained.‘w
Cunningham kept the lodge himself during the 1859-60 season. In 1861
he sold the Lower Hotel to Mrs. Alex G. Black, who rented it to Peter

Longhurst, and to others; eventually G.F. Leidig took it over in 1866.

Prior to their interest in the Lower Hotel, Cunningham and
Beardsley had attempted to start a store and tent shelter on the site of
the later Cedar Cottage. After Cunningham dropped the venture, Buck
Beardsley and his new partner, Gustavus Adolphus Hite, older brother of
the millionaire miner John R. Hite of Hite's Cove, erected a
canvas-covered hostelry a mile east of Neal's hotel in the later Old Village
area in the fall of 1857. They replaced it in 1859 with a two-story
wooden structure whose timbers, rafters, joists, and siding were hewn
and whipsawed from local timber. The first photograph in Yosemite
Valley, of Beardsley and Hite's new Upper Hotel, was taken that year by
pioneer photographer Charles L. Weed. The business did not prosper,
however, and  ultimately Sullivan and Cashman, creditors Iin San

Francisco, took it over. Charles Peck leased the hotel from 1860 to 1861

and then Peter Longhurst took over before James Hutchings finally

purchased it. 4l

40. Shirley Sargent, Yosemite & ]ts _Innkeepers (Yosemite, Calif.:
Flying Spur Press, 1975), 12.

41. It is interesting to note that each new hotel on the valley floor took
form wupriver from the previous ones. This undoubtedly was due largely
to the fact that those hotels dumped their sewage directly into the Merced
River. The only clean water after development began existed upstream.
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5. Discovery of Giant Sequoia Groves

a) Tuolumne Grove

As mentioned earlier, Joseph Rutherford Walker may have
seen the Tuolumne Grove in 1833 as he made his way over the Sierra
Nevada into the San Joaquin Valley. Whether the giant "Red-wood
species” he and his men noted stood in the Tuolumne or Merced groves is
uncertain. This particular grove consists of some twenty-five Big Trees
beside the present Big Oak Flat Road. The grove remained unknown and
unvisited for years.

Dr. J.L. Cogswell stated in 1910 that he and eight others
discovered the grove on 10 May 1858. Their party had left Garrote, near
Big Oak Flat, for a sightseeing trip to Yosemite Valley. While encamped
at Crane Flat, one of the party shot a deer, but the wounded animal ran
away. The next day the party set out on the trail of the deer and came
by accident upon a group of magnificent trees. So overawed were they
that they forgot the deer and spent the day exploring the area.

They particularly noted a giant tree with its interior
hollowed out by fire. They named it King Solomon's Temple, although it
late’r came to be called the Dead Giant. Cogswell immediately reported his

discovery to the San Francisco Daily Evening Bulletin, and the grove
42

quickly became a regular stop for tourists on their way to the valley.

William McCarthy, Dave Lumsden, and James J. Lumsden
carved out the Dead Giant Tree in 1878, creating a tunnel through which
stages passed for many years.43 According to Hutchings, this was the
first giant sequoia tree cut through. W.G. Marshall, who visited the Big
Tree groves and Yosemite Valley in June of that year, related:

42. John Adam Hussey, "Discovery of the Tuolumne Grove of Big
Trees," Yosemite Nature Notes 16, no. 8 (August 1937): 60-63.

43. J.B. DeMartini to Carl P. Russell, 20 January 1950, in Separates
File, Y-4b, #18, Yosemite Research Library and Records Center, Yosemite
National Park.
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We <came to the Tuolumne Big Tree Grove, [and came
upon] ... a tunnel through the stump of one of the largest
sequoias in the grove, through which the road passes, and the
stagecoach is driven. . . . The tunnel measures 12 feet, and
it is 10'i feet wide at the top. . . . The tunnel had only been
completed a week before our visit to the grove, the first
coachful having passed through the stump on the afternoon of
Tuesday, June 18. 4

At Crane Flat, Yosemite visitors have a chance to drive
not only one of the original sections of the old Big Oak Flat Road, but
also through a tunnel tree. A 0.1-mile spur leads into the Tuolumne
Grove and passes through the Dead Giant, returning to the old Big Oak
Flat Road just below that point. This is the only tree in Yosemite that
one can still drive through and has special interest because it contains
several carved signatures of early visitors.

b) Mariposa Grove

Several hundred giant sequoias were discovered possibly
as early as 1849 in this famous grove of Big Trees. L.H. Bunnell
recorded that in 1851 a laborer declared he had seen Big Trees in the
vicinity of the Mariposa Grove two years earlier. Stephen F. Grover, a
member of the prospecting party that entered Yosemite Valley in 1852,
wrote of passing through the grove in that year. In 1857 Galen Clark
and Milton Mann explored the grove of giant sequoias six miles southeast
of Wawona, whose size and age made them an additional highlight of a
sightseeing tour to Yosemite Valley, especially after Mann built a horse

trail to the site.45

44. W.G. Marshall, Through America, or Nine Months ‘m the United
States, cited in Wililam C. Godfrey, "Tunnelled Big Trees," Yosemite
Nature Notes 10, no. 6 (June 1931): 54, -

45. Grover's manuscript states that the prospectors followed up Coarse
Gold Gulch into the Sierra Nevada and took an Indian trail through the
Mariposa Big Tree Grove and on along the South Fork of the Merced into
the valley. Those men probably comprised the first party of whites to
enter the Mariposa Grove of Big Trees. Russell, 100 Years in_ Yosemite,
40. According to James Hutchings, a Mr. Hogg first discovered the
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At first few visited the grove because no wagon road
reached it or continued on from there to Yosemite Valley. After the
Washburns constructed those roads, the grove became a popular stopping
place on the way to the valley. It is almost two groves within one,
because there is a lower section containing the Grizzly Giant and an
upper one with the Wawona Tunnel Tree and the scenic overlook at
Wawona Point.  Altogether the grove contains about 500 mature giant
sequoias spread over 250 acres.

The grove came under state protection in 1864 along with
Yosemite Valley. The giant sequoias are not as tall as the coast redwood,
but are older and more massive. Some are more than 3,500 years old.
In the late 1800s, thousands of sequoias were logged in the Sierra, even
though their lumber is brittle. This activity continued until 1890 when
the expansion of Yosemite and the creation of Sequoia National Park
protected some of the remaining groves.

When Caroline Churchill visited the Mariposa Grove in
1881, she noted that many of the Big Trees bore the names of various
states, e.g., Indiana, Ohio, lowa, and Illinois. At that time, any person
could name a tree. Parties desiring a permanent designation were
required to donate a sign with the name painted on it. Some people sent
white marble name plates and others metal ones. Most were jappaned tin

and placed high on the tree to avoid vandalism.46

45. (Cont.) Mariposa Grove in late summer 1855. He passed by the
trees but did not stop to thoroughly investigate them. On hearing of his
discovery, Clark and Mann determined in 1856 to visit and explore the
grove; they were definitely the first to publicize the area. James M.
Hutchings, JJQ the Heart of thre Sierras (Oakland, Calif.: Pacific Press
Publishing Co., 1886), 256.

46. Caroline M. Churchill, Over the Purple Hills, or Sketches of Travel
[H California (Denver: Mrs. CM. Churchill, publ., 1884), 203. By 1930
it was no longer park practice to identify trees by tablets or signs. All
of those remaining were removed in 1929.
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The Wawona Tree was tunnelled in 1881. Again according

to W.G. Marshall:

The Wawona tree is the most conspicuous of all the big
trees . . . . the tunnel was cut . . . by two brothers named
Scribner, who were paid $75, for their labor by the Yosemite
Stage and Turnpike Company shortly after completion of the
first road into the Mariposa Grove.

The Scribner brothers enlarged an old burn scar to a tunnel size of S\ to
8 feet wide, 9 feet high, and 26 feet long. The Wawona Tunnel Tree fell

in 1969 under a heavy snow load in its upper branches.

About 100 yards along the path beyond the Grizzly Giant
iIs the California Tree, the other of the two sequoias in Mariposa Grove
that have been tunnelled. Cut through in 1895, it served as a substitute
during periods when heavy snows made the Wawona Tunnel Tree
inaccessible. The Park Service abandoned the access through the

California Tree in 1932 during realignment of the grove road.

C) Merced Grove
As stated, this small grove of Big Trees might have been
seen by the Joseph Walker expedition in 1833. During survey work for
the Coulterville and Yosemite Turnpike Road in 1871-72, Dr. John T.
McLean discovered the grove and named it for its proximity to the Merced

River.

47. Marshall, cited in Godfrey, "Tunnelled Big Trees," 54.
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CHAPTER 1I11: YOSEMITE VALLEY AS A STATE GRANT,
AND ESTABLISHMENT OF YOSEMITE NATIONAL PARK, 1864-1890

A. Interest Mounts Toward Preserving the Yosemite Valley and

Mariposa Grove
1. Yosemite Act of 1864
a) Steps Leading to the Preservation of Yosemite Valley

The widespread publicity on Yosemite Valley, coupled with
a nascent thrust toward scenic preservation, prompted a few respected
far-seeing California residents to push for passage of a law to protect
Yosemite's outstanding features for all time. The conviction that man was
destined to use and unreservedly exploit the country's wilderness
prevailed by the mid-1850s. The westward-moving pioneers had
ruthlessly conquered both the Indian populations they met and the land
acquired from their dispossession. As farms and towns appeared, settlers
overplowered fields, overgrazed grasslands, ravaged forests for building
materials and firewood, and exterminated wildlife for food and profit. It
was then that a countermovement began, spearheaded by such respected
authors as Ralph Waldo Emerson and Henry David Thoreau, and by
important painters such as George Catlin, who saw the need to preserve
some of America's landscapes. The discovery of Yosemite Valley provided
the first Dbelievable evidence that the United States had a valid claim to
cultural recognition through scenic wonders. Yosemite became the object
of scenic nationalism and was popularized as such in the press of the

time.

At the same time, during the 1850s and 1860s, many in
California lamented the loss of rare giant trees to Ilumber interests, of
alpine meadows to sheepmen, and the misuse of lands in Yosemite Valley
for commercial exploitation and economic gain. Foremost among those
individuals were Starr King, who became one of the leaders in the effort
to save Yosemite Valley; Judge Stephen Field, who early visualized the
site's need for a geological survey and who had much to do with its
accomplishment by Josiah Dwight Whitney, assisted by Wililam H. Brewer
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and Clarence King; Frederick Law Olmsted, regarded as the founder of
landscape architecture in America, who had designed Central Park in New
York City--a revolutionary attempt to develop a natural landscape in the
heart of a Ilarge city. Immediately after his arrival in California in
September 1863 to manage the famed Mariposa Estate grant formerly owned
by John Charles Frémont, Olmsted became enthusiastic about Yosemite
Valley and worked tirelessly for its conservation; Jessie Benton Fréemont,
wife of John; Israel W. Raymond, one of the most active workers on the
Yosemite park proposal; Dr. John F. Morse, a San Francisco physician;
Josiah D. Whitney, California's state geologist; and Wiliam Ashburner of

the Whitney survey party.

Those individuals were astute and practical enough to
realize that political action was required to permanently save the natural
wonders of Yosemite from destruction. Israel Raymond, the California
representative of the Central American Steamship Transit Company of New
York, addressed a letter to California's junior senator John Conness,
urging him to present a bill to Congress on the preservation of Yosemite
Valley and the Mariposa Big Tree Grove. That important missive of 20
February 1864 stated: "I think it important to obtain the proprietorship
soon, to prevent occupation and especially to preserve the trees in the
valley from destruction. . . " Conness in turn sent a letter to the
Commissioner of the General Land Office, J.W. Edmonds, in March
requesting that he prepare the final draft of the bill and send it on using
Raymond's language and boundary descriptions of Yosemite and the
Mariposa Big Tree Grove. In introducing the bill on 28 March 1864,
Conness made it clear that the bill had come to him from various
gentlemen in California of taste and refinement and that the General Land

Office also favored it.

Aiding passage of the proposal were memories of an
unfortunate incident in 1852 that had greatly advanced the idea of

preservation of the giant sequoias--the stripping of one-third of the bark

1. Huth, "Yosemite: The Story of an Idea," 29.
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of one of the trees in the Calaveras Grove of Big Trees by two
businessmen, who shipped it East for display and then put it on
exhibition in London in 1854. That act of vandalism created furor in
California, especially when the tree began to decay, and aroused an
overpowering preservationist sentiment in both the East and the West that
forced people to ponder their responsibilities in regard to the protection
of nature. The publicity accorded the sacrifice of that tree advanced the

idea of conservation of giant sequoias by Making their plight known.

On 30 June 1864, Congress passed an act segregating for

preservation and recreational purposes the

"Cleft" or "Gorge" in the Granite Peak of the Sierra Nevada
Mountains, situated in the county of Mariposa . . . and the
head-waters of the Merced River, and known as the Yosemite
Valley, with its branches and spurs, in estimated length fifteen
miles, and in average width one mile back from the main edge
of the precipice, on each side of the Valley, with the
stipulation, nevertheless, that the said State shall accept this
grant upon the express conditions that the premises shall be
held for public us£, resort, and recreation; shall be inalienable
for all time. -

2. The Yosemite Guide-Book (Cambridge, Mass.: University Press,
1870), 2. Conness further stated in the Senate hearing that the grant
areas

are for all public purposes worthless, but . . . constitute,
perhaps, some of the greatest wonders of the world. The
object and purpose is to make a grant to the State, on the
stipulations contained in the bill, that the property shall be
inalienable forever, and preserved and improved as a place of
public resort.

Ibid. According to the Yosemite Valley commissioners, the area's
governing body, although the Yosemite Grant covered fifty-six square
miles, only about three percent of the tract could be made useful for any
other purpose than that to which the act of Congress devoted it--namely,
as a place for public resort and recreation. The section of the grant
along the foot of the bluffs was either too high, very rocky, or covered
with such a thick growth of heavy timber that it was rendered "entirely
unfit for purposes of cultivation.” On the valley floor, only 745 acres
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The Yosemite Grant included 36,111 acres and was
entrusted to the state of California with certain stipulations. The act
also granted, under similar conditions, four sections of public land, or
2,500 acres, containing the Mariposa Grove of Big Trees (see Appendix
D). The grove was included in the grant to protect it from logging and
other commercial exploitation. The purpose of the grant, as indicated by
the stringent boundaries that ignored the ecological framework of the
region, was to preserve monumental scenic qualities rather than an
ecosystem. Although the words "national .park" were not used in the
legislation, in effect the Yosemite Grant embodied that concept, although
neither Congress nor the federal government accepted any responsibility
for the valley's preservation or improvement. The act clearly stipulated
that the valley and grove were to be managed by the governor of
California and eight commissioners appointed by him and serving without
pay, although the state would fund their traveling expenses. On 28
September 1864, Gov. Frederick F. Low of California proclaimed the grant
to the state, and, in accordance with the act's stipulations, appointed
eight commissioners to manage the area: Frederick Law Olmsted, J.D.
Whitney, Wililam Ashburner, [IW. Raymond, E.S. Holden, Alexander
Deering, George W. Coulter, and Galen Clark.

As chairman of the first board of commissioners to manage
Yosemite Valley and the Big Tree Grove, Olmsted took the lead in efforts
to organize management of the grant. Because he established a
permanent camp in the valley and directed protection of the area prior to
the state's formal acceptance of the grant, he has been referred to as its
first administrative officer. The commissioners agreed to hire one of

their number as an on-the-scene employee, or Guardian, of the grant.

2. (Cont.) were meadowlands, while the rest were fern lands requiring
clearing and cultivation before they could be farmed. Obviously,
agricultural pursuits were being considered from the beginning. Biennial
Report of the Commissioners to Manage the Yosemite Valley and the
Mariposa Big Tree Grove For the Years 1887-88 (Sacramento: State
Printing Office, 1888), 8. -
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Galen Clark initially served in that capacity, from 1866 to 1880. (See
Appendix E for a list of the state Guardians of Yosemite Valley.) The
Guardian's duties were to patrol the grant and prevent depredations;
build roads, trails, and bridges; bestow and regulate leases for the
erection of hotels and other improvements; use the incomes from those
leases to preserve and improve the valley; and serve as the commission's
liaison with the residents of the valley. The commissioners believed that
the Guardian and/or a sub-Guardian should always be present in or about

the valley and Big Tree Grove, at least during the visitor season, and

that they should have police authority to arrest offenders on the spot.

b) Frederick Olmsted's Treatise on Parks
At this point, note should be taken of an important
document authored by Frederick Law Olmsted in response to a request by
the Board of Yosemite Commissioners. That body asked Olmsted to
prepare a report for the California legislature defining the policy that
should govern management of the grant and making recommendations for

its implementation.

Throughout 1865 OIlmsted worked on this - statement in
which he presented a set of reasons for the establishment of parks and a
detailed plan of management for Yosemite Valley in particular. The plan
conformed with his belief that Congress, by setting aside this area, had
recognized the ideal of free enjoyment of scenic areas by all classes of
people and the state's duty to preserve Yosemite Valley and the Mariposa
Grove for that purpose forever. This document, finished in August 1865,
never received widespread exposure or the critical acclaim due it. Its

significance lies in its philosophical arguments for the creation of state

3- Biennial Report of the Commissioners to Manage the Yosemite Valley
and the Mariposa Big Tree Grove, For the Years 1866-7 (San Francisco:
Towne and Bacon, 1868), 7. Ultimately the lack of authority in the
Guardian position led to the continuance of activities detrminental to the
welfare of the valley and grove.
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and national parks, in the sweeping scope of its political and moral

justifications for establishing pleasure grounds for the masses.

Olmsted believed two factors had influenced Congress to
set aside the Yosemite Valley and Mariposa Grove. One, interestingly
enough, in terms of the "worthless lands" theory of park establishment,
involved Congress's belief that a direct pecuniary advantage would accrue
to the country in terms of tourist dollars as the valley became more
acc:essible.4 Olmsted regarded this as only an incidental factor in
establishment of the grant, however.

More importantly, he felt the government recognized a
duty to protect its citizens in their pursuit of happiness against any
obstacle presented by the actions of selfish individuals, such as the

aggrandizement of land for personal gain:

It is a scientific fact that the occasional contemplation of natural
scenes of an impressive character, particularly if this
contemplation occurs in connection with relief from ordinary
cares, change of air and change: of habits, is favorable to the
health and vigor of men and especially to the health and vigor
of their intellect beyond any other conditions which can be
offered them, that it not only gives pleasure for the time being
but increases the subsequent capacity for happiness and the
means of securing happiness.

If we analyze the operation of scenes of beauty upon the mind,
and consider the intimate relation of the mind upon the nervous
system and the whole physical economy, the action and reaction
which constantly occur between bodily and mental conditions,
the reinvigoration which results from such scenes is readily
comprehended. Few persons can see such scenery as that of
the Yosemite,5 and not be impressed by it in some slight
degree.

4. Frederick Law Olmsted, "The Yosemite Valley and the Mariposa Big
Trees: A Preliminary Report,” 1865, with an introductory note by Laura
Wood Roper, repr. from Landscape Architecture 43, no. 1 (October 1952):
17.

5. Ibid., 17, 20.
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Olmstead noted that although the rich could afford to
provide recreational opportunities for themselves, the government had to
provide them for others, often by withholding scenic places from the
grasp of individuals and opening them to all persons for recreation of the
mind and body: "The establishment by government of great public
grounds for the free enjoyment of the people under certain circumstances,

nit

Is thus justified and enforced as a political duty. The Yosemite

legislation had been enacted, Olmsted perceived, in realization of the fact
that the humble masses could appreciate beauty and art as much as the

privileged classes did.

Olmsted Dbelieved the man duty of the commissioners
entailed enabling the masses to benefit from the major attribute for which

the valley and grove had been set aside--their natural scenery:

The first point to be kept in mind then is the preservation and
maintenance as exactly as is possible of the natural scenery;
the restriction, that is to say, within the narrowest Ilimits
consistent with the necessary accommodation of visitors, of all
artificial constructions and the prevention of all constructions
markedly inharmonious with the scenery or which would
unnecessarily™® obscure, distort or detract from the dignity of
the scenery.-

Olmsted warned the state to use care to protect the values
of the area as a museum of natural science and not permit the sacrifice of

anything of value to future visitors:

it is important that it should be remembered that in
permitting the sacrifice of anything that would be of the
slightest value to future visitors to the convenience, bad taste,
playfulness, carelessness, or wanton destructiveness of present
visitors, we probably vyield in each case the interest of
uncounted millions to the selfishness of a few individuals.

6. Ibid., 21.

7. Ibid., 22.
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An injury to the scenery so slight that it may be unheeded by
any visitor now, will be one of deplorable magnitude when its
effect upon each visitor's enjoyment is multiplied by these
millions. But again, the slight harm which the few hundred
visitors of this year might do, if no care were taken to prevent
it, would not be slight if it should be repeated by millions.

Olmsted recommended laws to prevent the unjust use of
this public property, to prevent carelessness of the rights of posterity as
well as of contemporary visitors. In addition to its preservation duty,
the state had an obligation to make the park accessible to the masses,
including provision of transportation facilities, camping accommodations,
and a good access road to the park to shorten the trip and lessen its
cost. Such a road would also enable bringing in supplies and provisions
so that trees would not have to be cut down in the grant or the valley
floor farmed.

Olmsted noted that the commission also proposed a road to
and around the Mariposa Grove as a fire barrier, a road around the
valley floor with turnouts, footpaths from that trail to outstanding scenic
points, and construction of five cabins in the valley to be used as free
resting places for visitors and to rent camp equipment and sell
provisions. Finally Olmsted recommended that because of the beautiful
scenery, natural scientists and artists be represented on the board of

commissioners.

It is unfortunate that Olmsted's views did not gain a wider
audience in the state Ilegislature and elsewhere. Certainly if his
recommendations had been followed, at least some of the later problems in
park administration might have been avoided and the park values have
suffered less. Obviously Olmsted was philosophically years ahead of his
time and voiced thoughts whose significance the majority of people were

as yet unable to comprehend.

8. Ibid.
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The California legislature met every two years, and that of
1864 had already adjourned when President Abraham Lincoln signed the
Yosemite Grant into law. Therefore not until 2 April 1866 did the state
legislature pass an act accepting the grant from Congress, confirming the
appointment of the commissioners, and conferring on that body full power
to manage and administer the trust by making all rules, regulations, and
by-laws for the government, improvement, and preservation of the area.
The act also contained provisions making it a penal offense to commit
iInjurious acts on the premises and other sections relative to further
survey work, while appropriating %$2,000 for carrying out the above

actions.

C. Significance of the Yosemite Grant
At the time the legislation setting aside the Yosemite Grant
passed Congress, it caused little stir across the nation, despite the fact
that it set an important national precedent. It constituted the first
instance of a central government anywhere in the world preserving an
area strictly for a nonutilitarian purpose—the protection of scenic values

for the enjoyment of the people as a whole:

This was not an ordinary gift of land, to be sold and the
proceeds used as desired; but a trust imposed on the State, of
the nature of a sotemn compact, forever binding after having
been once accepted.

Additionally, many have expressed their belief that the
Yosemite Grant marked the beginning of the national park movement in
America and in the world and should be regarded as the first unit of the

later National Park System. Finally, the Yosemite act constituted the

9. Quoted by Douglass Hubbard, "Olmsted - Prophet,” in Yosemite,
Saga of a Century: 1864-1964 (Oakhurst, Calif.: The Sierra Star
Press, 1964), 9.
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first establishment of a state park and was thus the beginning not only of

the California State Park System but of state parks nationwide.10

In 1864 George P. Marsh published Man and Nature, the

first treatise to approach the theme of -conservation in a scholarly
fashion.” A widely read author, Marsh's ideas probably influenced the
men responsible for the Yosemite Grant. As early as 1865 a group of
dignitaries from the East Coast, representing the nation's press, Vvisited
the new Yosemite state park as guests of Mr. Olmstead. Among those
important people were Schuyler Colfax, speaker of the U.S. House of

Representatives; Samuel Bowles, editor of the Springfield (Mass.)

Republican; Charles Allen, the attorney-general of Massachusetts; and

Albert D. Richardson, war correspondent of the New York Tribune. In a

travel account published later, Bowles stated that

10. Frederick A. Meyer, "Yosemite - The First State Park,"” in Yosemite,
Saga of a Century, 16. To bolster the argument that Yosemite was the
point of departure from which a new theory of conservation evolved, the
following quotations are presented that predate the establishment of
Yosemite National Park: '

Most fittingly has Congress set the Yosemite apart from the
public domain, and consecrated it to mankind, as a National
Park and pleasure-ground forever, (p. 458)

the Mariposa Grove being also included in the
Congressional grant which set aside the Yosemite as a National
Park. . . . (p. 462)

From notes made on a trip in May 1867 by Gen. James F. Riesling, Across
America, 1874. And,

the Yosemite Valley is a unique and wonderful locality: it
IS an exceptional creation, and as such has been exceptionally
provided for jointly by the Nation and State - it has been made
a National public park and placed under the charge of the State
of California, (p. 22)

This, the first application in print of the term "national park" in
reference to Yosemite, is from J.D. Whitney, The Yosemite Book, 1868.
Memorandum, Granville B. Liles, Actg. Supt., Yosemite National Park, to
Regional Director, Western Region, NPS, 7 November 1963.
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This wise cession and dedication [of the Yosemite Valley] by
Congress, and proposed improvement by California .
furnishes an admirable example for other objects of natural
curiosity and popular interest all over the Union. New York
should preserve for popular use both Niagara Falls and its
neighborhood and a generous section of her famous
Adirondacks, and Maine one of her lakes and its surrounding
woods.

The national scope, permanence, and importance to future
generations attributed to the Yosemite grant were also apparent in a

Saturday Evening Post editorial in 1868:

The Great American Park of the Yosemite. With the early
completion of the Pacific Railway there can be no doubt that the
Park established by the recent Act of Congress as a place of
free recreation is folr? all the people of the United States and
their guests forever. ~

The preceding statements indicate that from the beginning
the true significance of the Yosemite Grant was perceived as being not
simply preservation of one particular local scenic area, but the possible
initial step in a precedent-setting systematic approach to a national
program of preservation of areas of unique scenic interest, beauty, and
curiosity. It became the first official recognition that man should not
always subjugate nature, but also enjoy it recreationally and aesthetically,

and that the government's role was to preserve areas for that purpose.

11. Samuel Bowles, Across the Continent (Springfield, Mass.: Samuel
Bowles & Company, 1865), 231. Albert Richardson referred to Yosemite
as "A Grand National Summer Resort® in Beyond the Mississippi,
published in 1867 but based on his trip to the valley two years earlier,
quoted in Wiliam R. Jones, "Our First National Park: Yellowstone? .
or Yosemite?' Audubon Magazine 67, no. 6 (November-December 1965):
383-84.

12. New York Evening Post, quoted in Sacramento (Calif.) Daily Union,
29 July 1868, 3.
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The Yosemite Grant was not the product of a nascent
public concern for ecological values of the environment. Preservation of
scenery and natural curiosities for public enjoyment dictated its
establishment, not its Dbiological attributes. Few in America yet
understood watershed functions, forestry principles, or the Dbasic

interrelationship between plants, animals, and man.

The Yosemite Grant constituted possibly the initial major
manifestation of a growing American concern with the loss of its
wilderness and its pioneer values. The Yosemite Grant tied in with an
early reaction to despoliation and avarice and a fear of the private
appropriation of large tracts of land in the public domain.13 By the late
1860s and early 1870s, the American public began experiencing a variety
of emotions as a result of fundamental changes in society during and after
the Civil War. A period of romantic idealism expressed nostalgia for a
dwindling frontier experience. At the same time, Americans felt alarm at
the rising tide of materialism, which would increase during the period of
the Industrial Revolution. That repugnance fostered and strengthened an
emotional reaction--a spiritual attachment to Nature and its basic, simpler
values. Feelings of inadequacy in terms of cultural background as
compared to the great European civilizations led to a fascination with
monumentalism. Celebrating the scenic grandeur of America's West became
a way of competing successfully with European culture and traditions.
Yosemite Valley certainly was regarded by its early visitors as a
nationalistic resource, an outstanding example of America's worth in the

eyes of the world.

One of the prerequisites of Congress's acceptance of early
national parks would be that they have little economic value and thus be
worthless for anything other than pleasuring grounds. Early

preservationists found that resistance to the establishment of public

13. Joseph L. Sax, Mountains Without Handrails: Reflections on the

National Parks (Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press, 198?), 8.
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scenic areas could be offset if they were touted as so remote as to be
economically worthless to the country. Legislators continued to feel for
many Yyears in regard to the establishment of new park areas that
valuable commercial resources should be either excluded at the outset or
opened to exploitation regardless of their Iocation.14 Proponents of the
Yosemite Grant assured Congress that the valley would be worthless for
mining, logging, grazing, or agricultural interests. It is interesting,
however, that the state intended from the beginning to make money from
the area, through lease arrangements, which could be reinvested in park
development. The valley also was a money-making proposition for settlers
who sold provisions and provided accommodations to tourists. Through
the years the valley has proven a lucrative source of money from tourism
and commercial recreation activities. It was actually the potential value of
the valley and the Mariposa Grove in terms of commercial tourism and
logging activities that many backers of the grant feared would lead to its

exploitation and eventual destruction.

The wording of the legislation and comments by visitors
and writers of the time are sufficient proof that the object of the grant
was to preserve a scenically outstanding area of nationwide value, to
establish a true national park, even though it was a park to be managed
by a state government. The fact is that in 1864 the federal government
was far less diversified than now and no one yet envisaged
all-encompassing federal legislation to conserve state areas for national
park purposes. In addition, the country's Ileaders were much too
involved in the problems and strategies of the Civil War to ponder the
philosophical implications of what they were doing for the nation at large.
President Lincoln himself probably had little inkling of the impact of his
sighature on the Dbill setting aside Yosemite Valley as a park. Other

matters were occupying his thoughts: an attempt within the Republican

14. Alfred Runte, National Parks: The American Experience (Lincoln:
University of Nebraska Press, 1979), 48.
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party to unseat him as president; Maj. Gen. Willam T. Sherman's repulse
at Kennesaw Mountain, Georgia; and Lt. Gen. Ulysses S. Grant's
investment of Petersburg, the key to Richmond, Virginia. It is easy to

see how

The Yosemite Act was lost in the tides of war, and only in
recent years has its monumental significance been evaluated by
historians. It is clear now that the reservation of Yosemite
marked perhaps the most significant single event in tt]g
changing relationship of Americans to the land they live on.

Despite the fact that Yellowstone was the first federal
venture in the field of preservation, it did not advance the concept of
conservation in the first years of its existence. Yosemite, on the other
hand, began growing and developing as soon as it was set aside, and
became a proving ground for new ideas in conservation and park
management. Olmsted quickly formulated plans for the best management
of the park, and the California legislature voted appropriations for
improvements as soon as possible. The early establishment of Yosemite
Valley as a park unit under state control significantly influenced the later
development of both the National Park System, the California State Park
System, and state park systems nationwide, which all benefitted from the
experience and knowledge of park principles and management gained in
those early Yosemite years. Olmsted's penetrating analyses of park
problems and opportunities were strongly influenced by his Yosemite
experience, and his reports are the origin of much of the best of today's
park principles.

Carl P. Russell stated that it was apparent that the
original proponents of the Yosemite act--the scientists, educators, and

15. Harold Gilliam, "Centennial of a Pioneer's Dream,” San Francisco
Chronicle, 28 June 1964.

16. Meyer, "Yosemite - The First State Park,” in Yosemite, Saga of a
Century, 17.
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journalists who visited and described Yosemite and the congressmen and
senators who envisioned the initial concept and formulated the
legislation—thought of the Yosemite Grant as more than the first state
park. They also perceived it as the first official embodiment of the
concept that there are places of beauty and of scientific interest that
should not be appropriated by individuals or private interests. This was
the birth of the National Park idea. 7 And it should be noted that when
the National Park System was extended in 1890, it was to protect
additional areas in California, around Yosemite as well as the present
Sequoia National Park and General Grant Grove—areas in a state where
the concept of national and local parks was developing in a thoughtful

way.

B. State Management of the Yosemite Grant

1. Land Surveys

The state legislature had created the California Geological
Survey in 1860 and appointed Josiah Whitney, one of the most respected
geologists in America, as its head. Whitney was instructed to make a
complete geological survey of the state and submit a report of his
findings containing maps and diagrams, scientific descriptions of

geological and botanical discoveries, and specimens of same.

As soon as the state of California accepted the Yosemite Grant,
it determined to obtain certain statistical data. Land surveys, necessary
to establish the boundaries of the grants, were made in the fall of 1864
by Clarence King and James T. Gardner, appointed U.S. deputy surveyor
for that purpose. (Gardner later changed the spelling of his name to
Gardiner.) Their notes were filed in the office of the U.S. surveyor
general of California, who forwarded the official plat of the grant to
Washington and to the commissioner of the General Land Office. Gardner
also drew a map of the Yosemite Valley, showing the grant boundaries

and the topography of its immediate vicinity.

17. Carl P. Russell, "Birth of the National Park Idea,” in ibid., 7.
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The legislative act accepting the grant also authorized the state
geologist to further explore the grant and the adjacent Sierra Nevada in
order to prepare a full description of the country with maps and
illustrations, to be published and sold to prospective visitors. In 1865 a
party consisting of King, Gardner, H.N. Bolander, and C.R. Brinley set
out to make a detailed geographical and geological survey of the High
Sierra adjacent to Yosemite Valley. Another geological survey party

under Charles F. Hoffmann continued additional surveys during 1866.

Two editions of the Yosemite survey work originally published
in the state geological survey publication Geology in 1865 were planned
for publication, both with text, maps, and illustrations, but only one with
photographs. It would be called The Yosemite Book (1868), the other the

Yosemite Guide-book (1869). The text was a thorough guide to the valley

and surrounding mountains, while the accompanying map was acclaimed as
the first accurate map of a high mountain region prepared in the United
States. Carleton E. Watkins's photographic illustrations complemented the
text. The book greatly increased visitation to the valley by providing
information necessary to travelers. Hoffman and his party also surveyed
the valley floor and plotted on a map the number of acres in each tract of
meadow, timber, and fern land and the boundaries of individual settlers's
claims and the number of acres each had enclosed. They also surveyed
the BIig Tree Grove, and measured, plotted, and numbered the largest

trees. 18

2. Immediate Problems Facing the State

Yosemite Valley's reputation as one of the most scenic wonders
of the world continued to grow. The long, tiring stage or horseback
trip; the expense of hiring horses, guides, and paqkers; and the
exorbitant charges demanded by hotelkeepers, however, Ilimited the

number of visitors.

18. Report of the Commissioners to Manage the Yosemite Valley . . . ,
For the Years 1866-7, 3-6.
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Access to the valley was one of the main problems addressed
after establishment of the grant. From the north, travelers on horseback
usually took the seventeen-mile wagon road from Coulterville to Black's
Hotel at Bull Creek, where they stayed overnight, covering the
thirty-two miles into Yosemite Valley the next day. These travelers had
to pay to cross the Merced River on Ira Folsom's ferry, three-fourths of
a mile below the Lower Hotel. The only alternative was to follow an
unsatisfactory trail farther up the valley on the north side and cross the
Merced over a log bridge Hutchings had erected prior to 1865 opposite his
hotel, between Yosemite Fall and Sentinel Rock, replacing the crude log
structure Hite Dbuilt in 1859. In order to improve this situation, the
Yosemite commissioners prior to 1866-67 erected a good saddle horse
bridge across the Merced at the foot of Bridalveil Meadow, near where the
trail from the north entered the valley. This Lower Iron Bridge (later
Pohono Bridge) enabled visitors to make a full circuit tour of the valley if

desired, without the delay and expense of the ferry ride.

The commissioners did not consider it their duty to improve the
approaches to the valley, much to the disappointment of neighboring
counties. They decided rather that this should be left to competition
between the counties, towns, and individuals interested in securing that
travel Dbusiness. The commissioners slightly improved the trail from
Yosemite Valley up the Merced Canyon to Vernal Fall so that visitors
could ride nearly to its foot. They also placed a bridge across the river
above Vernal Fall, facilitating the trip to the top of Nevada Fall. They
proposed soon to place a convenient staircase near the ladders at Vernal
Fall to make the ascent easier and less dangerous. In the valley the
commissioners intended to increase accessibility to all points  of
interest; remove all obstacles to free circulation, such as trail charges;

improve the road around the valley floor; and build a bridge over

llilouette Creek. They considered bridges across the Merced at the

upper end of the valley and across Tenaya Creek imperative.:l‘9

19. Ibid., 11, 13.
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High water in the winter of 1867-68 swept away all bridges

across the Merced River. James Hutchings vividly described that flood:

On Dec. 23, 1867, after a snow fall of about three feet, a
heavy down-pour of rain set in, and incessantly continued for
ten successive days. . . . Each rivulet became a foaming
torrent, and every stream a thundering cataract. The whole
meadow land of the valley was covered by a surging and
impetuous flood to an average depth of 9 feet. Bridges were
swept away, and everything floatable was carried off. And,
supposing that the wusual spring flow of water over the Yo
Semite Fall would be about 6 thousand gallons per second, as
stated by Mr. H.T. Mills, at this particular time it must have
been at least 12 or 14 times”™that amount, giving some eighty
thousand gallons per second. -

Nothing was left of the new bridge built by the commissioners,
although the timbers of Hutchings's bridge were carried only a short
distance away. A traveler to the valley in April 1868 mentioned that he

found that the valley

had been nearly all overflowed during the past Winter. The
water was up to his [Hutchings's] hotel, all around his Winter
cabin, and over his garden. It was nearly six feet higher than
Hutching's [sjc] bridge, (or rather where the bridge was)--for
it lays on the bank below. The covering can be made available
for another bridge, which is already being built, and will
probably be ready for use as soon as travel will commence. All
the bridges are carried away; a small portion of Yo Semite
bridge remains in a wretched condition; the fences are mostly
washed away, and the general damage done is very great; the
ferry boat has”xjone, together with the tree to which it was
fastened. . . .~

20. Hutchings, hi the Heart of the Sierras, 492.

21. "A Trip to the Yo Semite Valley on Snow-Shoes,” Mariposa (Calif.)
Gazette, by G.C., 17 April 1868; Mariposa (Calif.) Gazette, 10 April
1868. Hutchings replaced his previous log bridge with a finished timber
bridge with a superstructure. In 1878 the state replaced that with an
all-metal, steel-arched iron truss bridge (Upper Iron Bridge, Ilater
Sentinel Bridge). In 1872 Hutchings noted that his bridge across the
Merced was the only one in the valley. J.M. Hutchings, Scenes of
Wonder and Curiosity in California (New York: A. Roman and Company,
publ., 1872), 111. The Sentinel Bridge was refurbished in 1898 and used
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The major tasks facing the commissioners in the years
immediately following passage of the Yosemite act involved increasing
visitation by improving access routes, accommodations, and rates for
visitor services, and at the same time exercising some control over
development and land use. The first step in accomplishing these goals

was to acquire all structures and land in the new park.

3. Settlers' Claims

Prior to the establishment of the state grant, land in Yosemite
Valley was a part of the public domain and therefore open to pre-emption
and settlement under the homestead laws of the United States. Because
the land was unsurveyed, no plats were filed in the U.S. Land Office.
Locations given simply by metes and bounds were entered on the county
records and considered to be legal guarantees of title until the land was

surveyed.

The Yosemite act stipulated that the Yosemite Valley and
Mariposa Grove of Big Trees would no longer be open to homestead entry.
Instead, ten-year leases would be granted for portions of the park, with
the incomes derived from the leases to be used for the preservation and
improvement of the grant and its roads, two obviously incompatible
activities.  Although proponents of the Yosemite bill, in an effort to
eliminate delays, had assured Congress that there were no settlements in
the valley, several claims had, in fact, been filed prior to passage of the

legislation. Those individuals had occupied land in good faith under the

21. (Cont.) wuntil 1918. A new concrete bridge, completed in 1919, was
widened in 1960. Another iron truss bridge was built about 1878-79 at
the foot of Cathedral Rocks. Destroyed during the heavy winter of
1889-90, for many years its wreckage lay across the river alongside the
new timber bridge that replaced it before the ironwork was finally
salvaged.. To prevent destruction of valley bridges by heavy snow loads,
it was the practice for many years to rip up the plank flooring of some of
them just before the snow fell, leaving the floor timbers open until
spring. Laurence V. Degnan to Douglass H. Hubbard, 8 August 1957, in
Separates File, Yosemite-Bridges, Y-19, #2, Yosemite Research Library
and Records Center.
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pre-emption laws of the United States, and several had also bought the
iImprovements of earlier settlers for rather large sums of money, assuming

that their rights would be protected despite the new conditions.

The two men especially concerned over the prospect of losing
their Yosemite Valley property were J.M. Hutchings and James C. Lamon.
Another was Ira B. Folsom, who owned the ferry across the Merced River
and the ladders at Vernal Fall. Although other people claimed houses and
land in Yosemite Valley, they did not officially petition the commissioners.
Many could probably not have claimed rights on the basis of permanent

residence.

According to a petition by Hutchings, the 118 acres he and his
family had settled upon had been homesteaded as early as 1856 by
Gustavus Hite, Buck Beardsley, and others. In 1858 and 1859 Hite had
built the two-story Upper Hotel on the site and a bridge across the
Merced River. In addition he had cultivated the land and planted fruit
trees. Hite ultimately went bankrupt, and his title to the land and
improvements had been sold at public auction to Sullivan and Cashman of
San Francisco. The property was then leased to various parties until the
spring of 1864, when Hutchings purchased the rights and improvements

and moved his family to Yosemite Valley.

Hutchings proceeded to erect several farm buildings, consisting
of a small log house, a large barn and shed, corrals, fences, a bridge
across the Merced River, and another over Yosemite Creek. In addition
to cultivating a vegetable garden and planting grapevines, he established
an orchard of 200 fruit trees in the vicinity of the present Yosemite
Village and set out strawberry, raspberry, blackberry, gooseberry, and
currant bushes. He also grew cereals and grasses and dug irrigation
ditches. Although Hutchings had made his improvements after the state
grant was established, the commissioners decided to deal leniently with
him because they felt that the development had been done with an eye to
the preservation of the beauty of the valley. In addition, Hutchings had

done more than anyone to publicize the wonders of Yosemite, through his
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California Magazine and his lithographic reproductions of Thomas Ayers's

drawings.

James Lamon, born in Virginia in 1817, had come to California
in 1851 and worked in the sawmill and Ilumber business in Mariposa
County until 1858. After visiting Yosemite in 1857 and 1858, he bought
the possessory rights of Charles Norris, Milton Mann, |I.A. Epperson, and
H.G. Coward, who had filed on 160 acres each. The land had not been
officially surveyed nor had the original petitioners validated their claims
by residence or improvement. Lamon took possession of 219 acres in 1859
at the upper end of Yosemite Valley, east of the present Ahwahnee Hotel
and north of Curry Village. Near the junction of Tenaya Creek and the
Merced River, he built the first log cabin in Yosemite and established the

first bonafide homestead through settlement.

In 1861 Lamon filed claim to another 160-acre homestead. In
the vicinity of the present concession stables, he established two
orchards of about 500 fruit trees each, bearing apples, pears, peaches,
plums, nectarines, and almonds; planted more than an acre of
strawberry, blackberry, raspberry, gooseberry, and currant plants;
cultivated several acres for a vegetable garden; sowed crops; and
constructed irrigation ditches, cabins, and outbuildings.22 He also
helped construct the Upper Hotel in 1859. At first Lamon lived in the
valley only during the spring and summer, moving to the foothills when
snow fell; he Ilater became a year-round resident. Lamon sold the

products of his orchards and garden to early hotel keepers and tourists.

Public opinion tended to oppose the maintenance of such

homesteads, although most Californians felt that Hutchings and Lamon

22. "The Settlers of Yo-Semite. Memorial of J.M. Hutchings and J.C.
Lamon." (To the Senate and Assembly of the State of California),
December 18677, in library, Society of California Pioneers, San Francisco,
California, 1-2; National Register Nomination--lnventory Form, Lamon
Orchard, 5 October 1975.
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should not be ejected without liberal compensation for their loss. Some
believed that because the state could not conduct farming, gardening, or
hotel keeping services for visitors, men such as Lamon and Hutchings
should be allowed that privilege. On the other hand, the Mariposa
(Calif.) Gazette reported:

We have heard considerable complaint on the part of visitors to
the Yo Semite Valley about the fencing in of the better part of
the grazing land. By this the parties going there have trouble
in obtaining proper grazing for their animals, and are annoyed
in passing through the Valley. . . . Whatever may be the
squatable [sjc] rights of these individuals [Hutchings and
Lamon] it is evident that their fencing in any part of the Valley
will prove a nuisance so far as it effects the public, and is
contrary to the evident intention of Congress. . . . The law
enacted by the last Legislature gives ample power to the
Commissioners to take charge of this property, and to remove

all intruders. It is certainly the desire of the people :
that this law be strictly enforced. . . . they [Hutchings and
Lamon] should receive a favorable consideration . . . but they

should be required to keep their fences dov™n, and the lands
claimed or occupied, free for all to pass over.~

It was evident even to the Yosemite commissioners that the
claims of Hutchings and Lamon, because of the improvements that had
been made, would have been valid under the laws of the United States if
the land had been surveyed and opened to pre-emption. Because it had
not been, and never would be now that it was in a state park, neither
Lamon nor Hutchings nor any of the other settlers in the valley held
valid title to the land they occupied nor could they hold any hope of ever
obtaining a right to it in fee simple. Hutchings and Lamon protested
that, in view of all the labor and expense they had contributed to open
and develop the valley both for their families and for the public, it was
unjust to wrest the fruits of their toil without warning or adequate

recompense.

23. "Yo Semite Valley," Mariposa (Calif.) Gazette, 14 July 1866.
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The Yosemite commissioners proposed to buy the claims of the
valley settlers and . lease the land back to them. Because Lamon's
holdings were inconspicuous, and in recognition of the useful work he
had accomplished in the valley, the commissioners offered Lamon the best
deal they could under the circumstances--a lease of the premises for ten
years at a nominal rent of $1.00 per year. Hutchings's long residence in
the valley and his careful efforts not to mar the landscape, as well as the
fact that his hotel was not a particularly lucrative proposition, disposed
the commissioners to offer him the same arrangement—a ten-year lease of
his 160 acres, including the hotel and house, at % low rent. Hutchings,
however, still claiming the rights of a settler on the basis of having
purchased Iland already pre-empted, and probably hoping that public
sympathy would influence the legislature to grant better terms, refused to
accept a lease or acknowledge the right of the Yosemite commissioners to

the land, and convinced Lamon to do the same. At that point legal

proceedings were instituted against both men as trespassers.24

Fearful that they would be ejected from their homes, Hutchings
appealed to the California legislature, asking that it grant him the land
he occupied in Yosemite Valley under the National Pre-emption Law and
the Possessory Law of California. In 1868 that body passed a bill,
subject to Congressional ratification, allowing Hutchings the 160 acres of
land occupied and improved by him at Yosemite, with the proviso that the
state could lay out roads, bridges, paths, and whatever else was
necessary for the convenience of visitors anywhere they wanted in the
valley, even through homestead lands. The act would take effect after
its ratification by the U.S. Congress.

Governor H.H. Haight was less sympathetic when Assembly Bill
No. 238 granting lands in Yosemite Valley to Hutchings and Lamon
reached his desk. He ultimately returned the bill to the legislature,

24. Report of the Commissioners to Manage the Yosemite Valley . . .,
For the Years 1866-7, 8-10.
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leaving the responsibility for its passage with that body. His strongest
objection to the act was that he believed it was a repudiation and
violation by the state of the trust and related obligations that had been
accepted with the specific intent of using it only for specific public
purposes. Granting Hutchings's request would be tantamount to
approving conversion of the entire valley to private ownership.

Haight pointed out that although the grantees were only asking
’for a portion of the Iland, others in the valley also had made
improvements and would want to retain ownership of them. With such a
large portion of the lands withdrawn from supervision, it would then, be
useless for the state to attempt to control the valley. Hutchings and
Lamon, holding 320 acres, would in effect have a monopoly of the usable
land in the park. Also it was imperative that public access to every part
of the valley be wunrestricted if this was to remain truly a public
reservation as contemplated by Congress. Governor Haight suggested
that it was improper for the state to take such approval action without
the assent of Congress. Instead of setting such a dangerous precedent,
he continued, the petitioners should be either paid the fair value of their
Improvements as of the date of the act of Congress establishing the grant

: : : 25
or given a lease at a nominal rent for a certain term of years.

The California legislature voted to approve the grant over the
governor's veto, and petitioned Congress to ratify their actions. Leading
Eastern newspapers were adamant in their opinions on the subject of the
alienation of lands in Yosemite. Pronouncing the action of the California
legislators extremely unwise, a New York Tribune editorial reiterated the

widespread feeling that Yosemite was not just a state park, but a
pleasuring ground for the world:

Certainly, we do not think we make too large a claim when we
ask of Congress, in the name of the whole country and of the

25. "Veto Message of the Governor in Relation to Assembly Bill No. 238,
an Act Granting Lands in Yosemite Valley," 4 February 1868, in Bancroft
Library, University of California, Berkeley, California, 3-4.
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world of civilized men, to refuse this petition. ... let
Congress absolutely refuse to acknowledge their [Hutchings's
and Lamon's] right to settle upon the land itself, and so defeat
the object for which the valley was ceded to the State. That
object was one of the largest and noblest that any State any
where, or at any time in the world's history, has proposed to
itself with a view to the health and enjoyment of its people; and
the fact that the General Government gave the land for such-a
purpose, and that the State accepted it, showed a high state of
civilization. Barbarian or half-civilized States do not so respect
great natural wonders, nor propose to devote them to the
enjoyment of the world. ... If Californians do not see their
own interests more clearly, and if they will not respect the
rights of the whole country, it is the bounden duty of
Congress to protect us in the possession of this most splendid
of Nature's gifts to the American people. b

Although Congress pointed out that federal jurisdiction over the
lands had ceased, its members proceeded to offer some comments. The
House agreed with the state legislature's decision, declaring that the two
homesteads constituted so small a fraction of the entire valley that their
retention in private ownership could in no way interfere with public
enjoyment of the valley as a "pleasure ground." Attempts to dispossess
them, it was argued, could imply serious trouble for other settlers who in
good faith had settled on public lands under the pre-emption and
homestead laws of the United States. Many House members were
sympathetic to Lamon and Hutchings, who they felt were not speculative
squatters, but adventurous pioneers:

as regards the question of a pleasure-ground, it only concerns
the comparative few who will have the means and leisure to visit
the valley, and these could see and enjoy quite as much if its
thousands of acres were carved up into smiling homesteads,
whose owners would probably guai%i the valley as carefully as
any official appointed by the State.“’

26. "Yo Semite at the East,” New York Tribune, 24 June 1868, reported

n

* San Francisco Bulletin and quoted in Mariposa (Ca.) Gazette, 17 July
1868.

27. Report of Comm. on Public Lands on House bill no. 184 - "An act to
confirm to J.M. Hutchings and J.C. Lamon their pre-emption claims in the
Yo-Semite valley, in the State of California," in U.S. Congress, House
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The bill in favor of Hutchings and Lamon passed the House but
was blocked in the Committee on Public Lands by the Senate. The
resolution, therefore, was not acted upon before the final adjournment of
Congress, and as a result the act of the state legislature had no force.
Still refusing to accept leases, Hutchings and Lamon took their dispute
into the courts. The District Court of the Thirteenth Judicial District
found for the defendant Hutchings, a decision the governor and the
Yosemite commissioners appealed to the state supreme court. In 1871 that
body reversed the judgment of the district court. In 1873 Hutchings lost

his final appeal in the U.S. Supreme Court.

Both the California Supreme Court and the U.S. Supreme Court
ruled that the act of the state legislature granting Hutchings 160 acres of
land violated two of the conditions of the trust--that the lands be held
for public use, resort, and recreation, and that they be inalienable for
all time. The U.S. Supreme Court noted that the act of the legislature
was inoperative, by its own terms, until ratified by Congress. Congress
had never taken that action and probably would never sanction "such a

n—J

perversion of the trust solemnly accepted by the State.

In 1874 the California legislature established the precedent for
land acquisition in Yosemite by appropriating $60,000 to extinguish all
private clams in Yosemite Valley, and the Hutchings interests, after
bitter contention, were adjudged to be worth $24,000. Lamon received
$12,000 as compensation for his claims; A.G. Black received $13,000 and

27. (Cont.) Committee on Public Lands, "The Yo-semite Valley and ;the
Right of Pre-Emption," no date, in Bancroft Library, University of
California, Berkeley, California, 10.

28. John T. McLean, "A Statement Showing the wrong done to, and the
pecuniary damage and loss suffered by, The Coulterville and Yosemite
Turnpike Company (a Corporation) from the illegal action of the
State. . . .," January 1887, in Letters Received by the Office of the
Secretary of the Interior Relating to National Parks, 1872-1907
(Yosemite), RG 79, NA, 2, 9-12.
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Folsom $6,000. The balance of the fund was returned to the state
treasury. Although Hutchings continued to refuse a lease, Lamon finally

accepted one.

Hutchings, Lamon, and the other settlers in the valley failed to
see how their efforts to commercialize and homestead the land and farm
and hunt in the valley posed any threat to Yosemite's unique beauty and
wilderness character. Although the adverse decision by the U.S.
Supreme Court engendered many ill feelings between the state and the
valley residents, it helped insure the future of a new concept—that

certain lands should be protected and preserved for the public good.

4. Trails
a) Early Survey Work

The beginning of tourism to Yosemite increased the state's
need to know more about the region in order to provide accurate travel
information. As mentioned earlier, efforts began through public surveys
to reproduce on paper the various features of the Yosemite wilderness
and the trails penetrating it. The California Geological Survey cursorily
surveyed the Yosemite High Sierra in 1863, but investigated more
thoroughly from 1864 to 1867 as a result of the creation of the state
grant. A party directed by Capt. George M. Wheeler, in charge of
geographical surveys west of the 100th Meridian, labored in the Yosemite
area in the late 1870s and early 1880s, and produced a large-scale
topographic map of Yosemite Valley and vicinity in 1883. First Lieutenant
M.M. Macomb, 4th U.S. Artillery Regiment, detailed to the Wheeler party,
first surveyed Hetch Hetchy Valley in 1879.

The few old Indian trails and sheepherders® paths that
existed in the Yosemite region were rarely blazed or otherwise delineated
so that it was almost impossible to plot them. The earliest maps show the
old Mono Trail over Mono Pass, branching in the area of Tuolumne
Meadows, with one arm cutting over to the north wall of Yosemite Valley
where it was joined by the Coulterville Trail as it climbed from the valley

to the north rim. Another arm passed over Clouds Rest and Sunrise
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Creek, across Little Yosemite Valley, up Buena Vista Creek, and then
down to the foothills. The Mono Trail also connected with the Mann
brothers' 1856 trail by continuing from Little Yosemite Valley through
Mono Meadow to Ostrander's, near Peregoy Meadow on the present Glacier
Point road. The early survey map also included a route from Ostrander's
to Sentinel Dome that the state survey party blazed in 1864. Travelers
reached the Mariposa Grove of Big Trees by a trail from Clark's Station,
while a trail entered Hetch Hetchy Valley from a point on the Big Oak
Flat Road between Sprague's and Hardin's ranches, west of the present

Big Oak Flat entrance to the park.

b) Routes To and Around Yosemite Valley

Because of their high altitude, all of the early trails to
Yosemite Valley were susceptible to heavy snowstorms beginning in the
fall and continuing well into the spring, so that they could be used only
a small part of the year. Only one route tried to avoid the heavy drifts
of the high ridges by taking advantage of the lower, relatively snow-free
passage through the Merced River Canyon. The Hite's Cove route was
suggested as early as 1871, one of its primary advocates being James A.
Hennessey, who was cultivating a commercial garden in the area now
encompassed by the town of El Portal. The proposed route started from
the settlement of Hite's Cove, on the South Fork of the Merced River
some distance above its confluence with the main channel. A wagon road
already connected that village with Mariposa. From  Hite's Cove the tralil
crossed the ridge to the Merced River, continued upriver to Hennessey's
ranch, then followed the river for a mile or so before diverging from the
stream into the mountains and intersecting the Mariposa-Yosemite Valley
trail at Grouse Creek. That route, probably based on a previously
existing Indian trail, was not heavily used because of its discomforts and
difficult grade. The later winter mail route for Yosemite Valley,
however, connected Jerseydale and Yosemite via the trail through Hite's

Cove and along the Merced River canyon.

Charles Leidig stated that his parents, Fred and Isabel,

came to Yosemite Valley in 1866 over a horse trail via Jenkins Hill down
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into the Merced River canyon. They then followed up the canyon to the
valley, suggesting this is one of the earliest historic routes into Yosemite
Valley. 239 Lieutenant N.F. McClure, Fifth Cavalry, U.S. Army, shows a
trail running along the north side of the Merced River to a point just
below the Coulterville Road junction at The Cascades. The trail appears
to originate from Hazel Green, allowing access from areas west of the
present park. One branch comes south through Anderson's Flat to
Jenkins "Mill," while the other comes south from Hazel Green through Big

Grizzly Flat and the Cranberry Mine area.30

In 1885 the Mariposa Gazette carried an article by James

A. Hennessey, written from his ranch on the Merced River, in which he
stated that a trip in August to Wawona with a cargo of vegetables and
orchard produce had been his first excursion out that way for the
season. He also reported:

My new trail from the ranch intersecting the Mariposa and
Yosemite Road, one mile east of West Woods, is nearly
completed. | passed over it this trip. As soon as | have this
trail completed | will commence on another from Fish Camp to
Fresno Grove of Big Trees and the California Saw-mills. After
that | expect to improve the old Mono and Mariposa Trail. With
these trails in proper condition | can reach Tioga from my place
in  forty-two miles. This route would take in West Woods
[Eleven-Mile Station], Peregoy's Meadows, Little Yosemite,
Clouds' Rest Mountain and Soda Springs. It will be an
excellent route and will bring plenty of tramps through to the
county after it becomes known. -

C) Tourist Trails in the Valley
One of the major deficiencies of the Yosemite Valley floor
was the lack of footpaths enabling visitors to enjoy short walks from their

29. Paden and Schlichtmann, IBJE Oak Flat Road, 278-79.

30. N.F. McClure, "Map of the Yosemite National Park," prepared for
use of U.S. troops, March 1896.

31. 15 August 1885, in Laurence V. Degnan to Douglass H. Hubbard, 3

September 1957, in Separates File, Yosemite-Trails, Yosemite Research
Library and Records Center.
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hotels to scenic points of interest. Only a narrow boardwalk led from
Black's Hotel to the Upper Hotel. By 1864, however, two improved -scenic
trails out of the valley already existed, one to Vernal Fall, the other to
Mirror Lake. The beginning of much of the present Yosemite trail system
was laid after establishment of the state grant, when it became imperative
that the Board of Yosemite Commissioners improve the faint Indian trails
so that eager hikers could reach the valley rim and backcountry beyond.
The small annual legislative appropriations could not accomplish extensive
trail work or many other improvements on grant lands. As a way of
raising revenues, therefore, the commissioners extended toll privileges for
a specific length of time for trail construction just as they had for roads.
Under that system, various grantees constructed the Four-Mile, Snow,
and Eagle Peak trails. In 1882 the commission purchased the Mist and
Glacier Point trails and soon after bought the others. The state did little
further trail building on the valley up to 1906. Trail building in the
backcountry was accomplished by the U.S. Army after 1891.

(1) Four-Mile Trail to Glacier Point

James McCauley, an Irishman, came to Hite's Cove,
California, in 1865 to mine. In 1871 he entered into a contract agreement
with the Yosemite commissioners to build a toll trail from the south side of
the Yosemite Valley floor up to Glacier Point. McCauley selected John
Conway to survey the route and build the trail. Conway was one of the
most famous trail builders in Yosemite, making many of the points on the
valley rim accessible to later visitors. Conway and a trail crew began
work in late November 1871 and worked until snow stopped their
progress. Starting up the next spring, they had completed the trail to
Union Point when Conway was injured in an accident. Because they had
completed the survey to Glacier Point, trail work continued to completion
in early summer 1872.

Helen Hunt Jackson described the Four-Mile Trail as

.o a marvelous piece of work. It is broad, smooth, and well
protected on the outer edge, in all dangerous places, by large
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rocks; so that, although it is far the steepest trail out of the
valley, zigzagging back and forth on a sheer granite wall, one
rides up it with little alarm or giddiness, and with such a sense
of gratitude to the builder that the dollar's toll seems too
small.32

In the 1920s the Park Service slightly rerouted the
trail and changed its grades until it is now nearer five miles long; it
still, however, retains the historic name. When the Yosemite Valley
commissioners initiated their policy of eliminating all private holdings as
rapidly as possible, they requested $7,500 from the state legislature in
1877 to purchase trails from their private owners. An act for the
purchase of trails in Yosemite Valley and the Mariposa Grove finally
passed in March 1881. As stated previously, that bill appropriated
$25,000 from the state treasury, part of which was intended for
purchasing and making free the trails within the Yosemite Grant
constructed and controlled by private individuals. In 1882 the state
purchased the Four-Mile Trail from McCauley for $2,500 and made it toll

free.

The old abandoned trail parallels the present one up
the talus slope below Sentinel Rock. It begins on the valley floor about
fifty yards east of the present trail and proceeds via five switchbacks to
the base of Sentinel Rock, which it avoids by swinging 1,300 yards to the
east. After another 200-yard swing to the west, the old trail enters
another series of switchbacks to avoid a short rock-filled chimney at an
elevation of 1,200 feet above the floor. From there to Union Point is
another irregular series of zigzags, turning to the east and southwest, a
prime example of Conway's engineering competence. Union Point is 2,314

feet above the valley floor, and from there one can see Yosemite Fall,

32. H.H. [Helen Hunt Jackson], Bits of Travel at Home (Boston:
Roberts Brothers, 1894) 127. She also mentioned stopping to rest at
Union Point, where she thought McCauley evidently lived, "in a sort of
pine-plank wigwam, from the top of which waved the United States flag."
Ibid., 133. This was more likely an equipment storage shed.
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Half Dome, North Dome, EI Capitan, Cathedral Rock and Spires, and the
Big Oak Flat and Wawona roads.

The trail continues in  several long, gentle
switchbacks to an elevation of 7,000 feet. There it squeezes east under
and over precipitous granite cliffs, emerging within sight of Glacier
Point's overhanging rock. Then the early-day hiker followed a level
stretch of trail and made the last climb of a 100-yard rise to Glacier
Point.

The impressive engineering and construction skills of
the builder are apparent everywhere. Abandonment of the trail and
construction of the present one in 1923 have hastened obliteration of the
old trail, but only in the narrow, rock-filled chimney below Union Point is
one unable to follow its course. The modern trail, paralleling the old,
traverses an additional 0.6 mile to eliminate a one-step grade. The

present Four-Mile Trail, therefore, is actually 4.6 miles Iong.33

(2) Indian Canyon Trail

This deep ravine in the wall east of Yosemite Point
sheltered an Indian trail to the north rim of the valley. In 1874 James
Hutchings paid for construction of a horse trail up Indian Canyon to
Yosemite Point, which by 1877 had already fallen into disrepair.
Construction of Conway's Yosemite Fall and Eagle Peak trail made this one
obsolete. The trail carried traffic for only a few years. Cosie Hutchings
Mills recalled in 1941 that Fred Brightman, while working at the livery
stable in the valley, had attempted to construct a trail up Indian Canyon,
possibly between 1885 and 1888, but had been deterred from completing it
by a huge rockslide.

33. "Pioneer Trails of Yosemite Valley: The Four Mile Trail," author
unknown, in Separates File, Yosemite-Trails, Y-8, Yosemite Research
Library and Records Center.
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(3) Yosemite Fall and Eagle Peak Trail
In 1867 James Hutchings reported that during the
winter he had constructed "a good, substantial bridge across the Yosemite
Creek ... so that parties can now visit the foot of the lower Yosemite

w34 John Conway

Fall with more comfort and less danger than formerly.
started the Yosemite Fall toll horse trail in 1873 and first completed it
just to the foot of Upper Yosemite Fall. By 1877 he had finished the trail
to the top of the fall on the north rim, and by 1888 to Eagle Peak.
Conway refused to sell it to the state in 1882 for what he considered an
unjust offer. It was subsequently announced in the Mariposa Gazette that
the Board of Yosemite Commissioners had declared all trails and roads in

the valley toll free, except for the Eagle Point Trail, whose owner

refused to recognize the order of the board and surrender his
35 Conway was finally forced to sell in 1885 for $1,500. The
present trail closely follows the original.

franchise.

(4) Rim Trail, Pohono Trail

The Pohono Trail route appeared on Lieutenant
McClure's 1896 map, but its original builder and date of construction are
uncertain. Originally an Indian trail, it led from Yosemite Valley up past
Old Inspiration Point. The rim trail, which meets the Pohono, was
constructed in parts by the state during the 1890s and taken over by the
cavalry after 1905. About 1906 the trail's name changed from Dewey Trail
to Pohono Trail. The rim trail follows the south rim of the valley from
near Sentinel Dome, via The Fissures, deep rock clefts just east of Taft
Point, across Bridalveil Creek some distance behind Bridalveil Fall, then
on to Dewey and Stanford points and the old stage road at Fort Monroe.
It joined the early trail from the South Fork to Charles Peregoy's
Mountain View House in present Peregoy Meadow, which was practically

34. "Yo-Semite Valley," in San Francisco Alta, quoted in Mariposa (Ca.)
Gazette, 1 June 1867.

35. 10 June 1882, in Laurence V. Degnan to Douglass H. Hubbard, 3
September 1957.

83



abandoned after 1875 when the Wawona Road was completed to Yosemite
Valley. That Alder Creek Trail, one of the oldest in the region and a
main early route to Yosemite, led from Wawona through Empire Meadow,
across the headwaters of Alder Creek, and along the level to Westfall and
Peregoy meadows, and eventually struck the Pohono Trail. One can then
turn left to the valley via Old Inspiration Point roughly along the route

of the original Pohono Trail or turn right toward - Glacier Point.

(5) Clouds Rest and Half (South) Dome Trails

The original trail to Clouds Rest formed a segment of
the old Mono Trail. In 1882 the commissioners had recommended that the
trail be shortened, which was accomplished, along with improvements, in
1890. In 1912 the Department of the Interior further improved it.
Wheeler's map also showed the spur trail to the base of Half Dome.
Although several others, including James Hutchings, had earlier attempted
to scale the 8,892-foot monolith of Half Dome, George C. Anderson, the
Scottish blacksmith of Yosemite Valley, was the first to finally climb it,
on 12 October 1875. A carpenter and former seaman, and prominent in
the early trail building days of Yosemite, Anderson accomplished his climb
of Half Dome with only drills and a hammer. By driving wooden pins and
iron eyebolts into the granite five to six feet apart, he could successively
fasten a rope to each bolt and pull himself up, resting his foot on the
last spike while he drilled a hole for the next. He followed this
painstaking process for 975 feet. Within a week six men, including Galen
Clark, then age 61, and one woman, pulled themselves up to the top by
Anderson's rope. John Muir was the ninth person to make the climb, on
10 November 1875. Anderson's plan of building a staircase to the summit
of Half Dome died with him when he succumbed to pneumonia on 8 May
1884.

The cable that Anderson fastened to the bolts enabled
Half Dome to be scaled for several years thereafter by the few who dared
to meet that challenge. During the winter of 1883-84, sliding ice and
snow broke the rope Anderson had installed and ripped out some of the

eyebolts. It was again impossible for others to reach the top until
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several mountaineers duplicated the original climb and replaced the rope.
The ropeway had to be replaced again in 1895 and 1901. Park Supervisor
Gabriel Sovulewski recalled that Paul Segall replaced old pegs in 1908.
John Muir wrote in 1910 that no one had

attempted to carry out Anderson's plan of making the Dome
accessible. For my part | should prefer leaving it in pure
wildness, though, after all no great damage could be done by
tramping over it. The surface would be strewn with tin cans
and Dbottles, but the winter gales would blow the rubbish
away. . . . Blue jays and Clark crows have trod the Dome for
many a day, and so have beetles and chipmunks, and Tissiack
would hardly be more "conquered" or spoiled should man be
added to her list of visitors. His louder scream ”“and heavier
scrambling would not stir a line of her countenance.

(6) Vernal Fall and Mist Trails
The Vernal Fall Trail started at Happy Isles and
followed the south bank of the Merced canyon to the vicinity of Clark
Point. From there one could take either the Mist Trail, passing along the
steep cliffs of the Merced and enveloped much of the way with spray from
Vernal Fall, or the regular Merced River Trail. The latter is one of the
most historic trails in the park, forming one of the earliest segments of

the present trail system.

By 1864, when the state began to manage the
Yosemite Valley, a trail to the top of Vernal Fall along the south side of
the Merced River already existed, its origin unknown. It probably began
as an Indian trail, providing access to Little Yosemite Valley. It may
have been the path followed by members of the Mariposa Battalion as they
searched for Chief Tenaya's band. Occasional references connect Stephen
M. Cunningham to early trail work in the Vernal-Nevada falls area.
Cunningham, born in New York State in 1820, served as a justice of the
peace for Mariposa in 1852 and became a business associate of James
Savage. After serving in the Civil War, he returned to Yosemite Valley

and the Mariposa Grove, where he became a guide and curio seller.

36. Shirley Sargent, John Muir \n_ Yosemite (Yosemite, Calif.: Flying
Spur Press, 1971), 24.
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John Olmsted wrote Iin 1868, upon arriving at a

spectacular view of Vernal Fall from Lady Franklin's rock:

The real hard work was now to be done. Above us the path
grew steeper and steeper, until it led along the face of a
sloping rock partially covered with muck--where the wind blew
furiously, and the spray from the fall was blinding. At this
juncture | availed myself, for once, of the strong hand of the
guide. On a slippery shelving rock, with a seething cauldron
on our left, a precipice on our right, with a boggy, slushy
path rising before us, a thick penetrating spray eddying
around, filling our eyes and ears, the wind roaring, and
bellowing, and lashing against us, and the thunders of the
cataract booming on our ears--surely this was a position to be
sought but once in a lifetime, and to be endured but once
more, and that from necessity.

Soon, however, the whole party were safely at the foot of a
high rock, parallel with the face of the fall, where stood a
ladder about sixty feet long, nearly perpendicular. Stepping
from the top round on to a ledge of rock, | found another
ladder some twenty feet high, at right angles with the first,
from the top of which a little smart climbing brought the party
to ao—1§rnooth expanse of rock at the very verge of the Vernal
Fall.”

During 1869 and 1870, Albert Snow rebuilt the old trail for horse travel
connected with his La Casa Nevada hotel operations and for stock that he

grazed in Little Yosemite Valley.

Today's Mist Trail, from above the present Vernal
Fall bridge on to the top of the fall, is essentially the same as the
original route, except that the trail used to end at Fern Grotto, where a
platform and wooden ladders provided access up and over the rim. They
were Dbuilt either by Cunningham or by Ira Folsom, who operated the
ferry across the Merced River in the valley. A visitor in 1876 recalled
that

There is an awfully pokerish ladder fastened against the cliff,
on which you can go down and get very wet. It is painful and

37. John Olmsted, A Trip to California, 1868, in Separates File, Y-4C, #29,
Yosemite Research Library and Records Center, 80.
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rather dangerous, but a great many,, persons escape, and they
only charge you seventy five cents.”

The Vernal Fall Trail toll house, no longer extant,
measured twenty feet long by fourteen feet wide. It stood under the
edge of an immense granite overhang, called Register Rock, with that
stone forming the back part of the house and half of the roof. That
same boulder sheltered a livery stable and other outbuildings.39 Major
Harry Benson ordered Register Rock, upon which so many early and some
famous visitors to Vernal and Nevada falls inscribed their names, painted
over in 1906-1907.

The state of California purchased the Mist Trail and
the ladders in 1882 for $300. Within the next few years, wooden stairs
replaced the dangerous ladders, and railings were erected in 1892. James
Hutchings, in describing the Mist Trail, wrote in his book published in
1886:

Let us seek the "ladders," so called from the original, but
which have been transformed into substantial steps (to which
the old term "ladders" still clings), by which we can descend &8
Fern Grotto, on our way to the foot of the Vernal Fall wall.

(7) Snow Trail
In 1870 Albert Snow, the first known trail builder in
Yosemite Valley, constructed a horse trail from the valley floor to

38. Dio Lewis, Gypsies (Boston: Eastern Book Co., 1881), 170-71. The
Mariposa (Calif.) Gazette of 10 June 1882 stated that Drew's ladders at
Vernal Fall had been purchased by the Board of Yosemite Commissioners.
Laurence V. Degnan to Douglass H. Hubbard, 3 September 1957. This
must refer to Colwell O. Drew, a cattleman utilizing Drew's Meadows near
Hog Ranch. A co-owner of La Casa Nevada, he married the Snows' only
daughter, Maria.

39. Churchill, Over the Purple Hills, 168-69.

40. Hutchings, In the Heart of the Sierras, 453.
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Register Rock, the beginning of the Mist Trail, and over to the flat
between Vernal and Nevada falls, where he had constructed a hotel. The
route of that original trail, which zigzagged up to Clark Point and down
to Silver Apron, can be picked up at the junction just above Register
Rock. It generally followed the new trail but was much steeper. Then,
just after crossing the bridge near Silver Apron, one can find to the
right a section of the trail leading directly to the site of La Casa Nevada.
The road from La Casa Nevada to Emerald Pool is part of George

Anderson's unfinished trail from Happy Isles.

(8) Anderson Trail

In 1882 George C. Anderson contracted with the
Yosemite commissioners and began construction on a trail up the north
bank of the Merced River from Happy Isles Bridge to Vernal Fall. He
originally planned to build the trail all the way up the north side to the
top of the falls near Snow's hotel, but when costs began to run way over
budget and the trail ran into a granite cliff through which it would be
necessary to blast, the commission ordered the project stopped. In 1885
the commissioners had a connection built from a point on Anderson's trail
uphill to a new bridge below Vernal Fall, across which it joined the Snow
Trail. Anderson's abandoned trail left the present path about three
hundred feet below the bridge at Vernal Fall and continued uphill—broad,
substantial, and wide as a wagon road—until it ended abruptly in a grove
of trees. The earlier south trail along the Merced ultimately fell into
disuse. Anderson built a blacksmith shop along his trail that is
mentioned in some of the old commissioners' reports. Its remains were

cleaned up by National Park Service crews in 1957.

(9) Panorama Trail
In 1871 John Conway laid out a horse trail--his first
trail building venture in the park, possibly prompted by Washburn and
McCready--from Snow's hotel site to the top of Nevada Fall and on to
Little Yosemite Valley along the north side of the Merced River.
Washburn and McCready built the original trail from Glacier Point toward

Nevada Fall in 1872, following lllilouette Ridge and dropping down to join
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the Mono Trail at the bridge in Little Yosemite Valley. In 1885 the Echo
Wall Trail section of the Panorama Trail was built to Glacier Point directly
from Nevada Fall. It later became the Eleven-Mile or Long Trail. In 1893
the commissioners' reports stated that the Panorama Trail had been rebuilt

after long disuse, as had the bridge over lllilouette Creek.

(10) Ledge Trail
By 1871 James Hutchings was guiding parties of
hikers over a hazardous route he had blazed that climbed 3,200 feet in
one and one-half miles from in back of Camp Curry to Glacier Point.
Because of the hazards connected with its use, the National Park Service

refused to recognize this as an official trail and discontinued its

e + 41
maintenance.

5. Improvement of Trails

a) Hardships Attending Travel to Yosemite Valley

Although Iin the Ilate 1850s the newly discovered Mono
diggings east of the Sierra began attracting miners and packers and
stimulating trans-Sierra travel over the Mono Trail, Yosemite Valley would
not be reached by wagon for many years yet. Until the mid-1870s
passengers and freight entered the valley on horses and mules over
rough, steep trails. The number of registered visitors to the valley
increased steadily from year to year‘ as returning travelers disseminated
word of the park's grandeur. The tourism potential was strong from the

beginning, but the uncertain travel conditions remained a hindrance.

Towns neighboring Yosemite Valley quickly lost patience
with what they perceived as a lack of foresightedness on the part of the
Yosemite commissioners. Although the Yosemite Valley and Big Tree

Grove had been surveyed, nothing tangible was being provided by the

41. Some of this information on early trails came from John W. Bingaman,
Pathways: A Story of Trails and Men (Lodi, Calif.: End-Kian Publishing
Co., 1968), 20-27.
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legislature for their improvement, which would help attract visitors and

fatten the coffers of local businessmen:

There is no longer reason for hoping for assistance from the
State in either improving these places, or the roads that lead to
them, and it now becomes a matter of importance to the people
here to consider whether they cannot afford to take the case in
their hands., so far as to raise money to improve and rebuild
the roads.

The number of visitors who willingly accepted the
adversities of the Yosemite trip during the early years was phenomenal,
but many wryly commented on the crude facilities and rough passage
found along the way. One early traveler who made the trip from the

south in 1867 recounted that

The most difficult mountain in the way, after leaving Mariposa,
iIs Chowechilla, some sixty-five hundred feet above the sea, and
it is decidedly in the way; the trail over it being zig-zag in its
course, and is exceedingly difficult. Up and up we went, on
an angle varying from thirty to forty degrees, struggling
through the dry dust and Iloose rocks surrounded by pine
trees, manzanita and sage brush, the summit seemingly but a
short distance up, but when reached not there. We stopped
and rested often in our ascent, and in about two hours we were
on the summit, fatigued and jaded, as were our horses. After
that we plodded on, up and dowri hills, following the trail till
we reached Clarks's [sjc]. ¥

The Chowchilla Mountains route was notorious for its
rugged terrain, steep grades, and difficult course even after it became a
wagon road in 1870. Not all of the trip was uncomfortable, however, for
having finally arrived at Clark's establishment, that same 1867 visitor
enjoyed a succulent dinner of venison and chicken, bread, coffee, milk,

and sweetmeats. He likened Clark to Robinson Crusoe,

42. "The Trails to Yo Semite Valley,”" Mariposa (Calif.) Gazette, 24
March 1866.

43. "Yo Semite Valley" (Correspondence of the Hartford (Conn.)
Courant), in Mariposa (Calif.) Gazette, 29 June 1867.




monarch of all he surveys, and at his rancho he entertains the
traveler in a style peculiar to himself. Although his guests are
not supplied with all the comforts of modern degeneracy, they
are sure of a good table, good beds and good attention, much
better than they can with any reason expect in such a wild,
inaccessible place, and at rates which., for moderation are
somewhat surprising to California visitors.44

That same year Mariposa County residents petitioned their
board of supervisors to survey for a public wagon road from Mariposa to
the South Fork of the Merced, terminating at Clark's hostelry It was
obvious to them that the needs of travelers for better accommodations and
routes would have to be met from that end if Mariposans were to acquire
their fair share of the increasing tourist trade. Already sensing the
keen competition for tourist dollars from Coulterville to the north,
Mariposans felt that there should be a good road to Yosemite Valley on

each side of the Merced River.45

b) Yosemite Commissioners Encourage Road Construction

After the Yosemite Grant was established, as an
inducement for individuals or companies to build access routes into the
valley, the commissioners offered to grant certain parties franchises to
construct trails and roads in and about the park. Paying the cost of
those improvements themselves, the builders were allowed in return to
collect tolls for the use of their roads. It was stipulated, however, that
those roads and trails would pass to the state and become free whenever
the legislature appropriated money for the commissioners to reimburse the

amounts expended in construction.

44.  Ibid.

45. "The Proposed Wagon-Road to the South Fork," Mariposa (Calif.)
Gazette, 16 February 1867; "Wagon Road to the South Fork," Mariposa
(Calif.) Gazette, 23 February 1867; "Road to Yo Semite," Mariposa
(Calif.) Gazette, 16 March 1867.
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By 1869 several road companies were at work, their
backers realizing that the first stage route completed to Yosemite would
be heavily used. In Mariposa County the "Mariposa and Big Tree Grove
Turnpike Company" had been organized the previous summer to build a
carriage road as far as Clark's and ultimately on into Yosemite Valley.
The "Yo Semite and Big Tree Grove Turnpike Company" had also been
incorporated earlier to build a turnpike from Coulterville via Black's,
Bower Cave, and Deer Flat, into Yosemite Valley, thence by Inspiration
Point, the "Meadows," Clark's, and the Big Tree Grove to Mariposa. The
"Mariposa Big Trees and Yo Semite Turnpike Company,” of which Galen
Clark was president, was formed for the purpose of constructing a wagon
road from Mariposa to the South Fork and the Big Trees. The road was
to connect with the Hogan Ranch road west of the main branch of
Chowchilla Creek, cross Chowchilla Mountain to Clark's ranch on the
South Fork of the Merced, and proceed to the Mariposa Grove of Big
Trees. In August 1869 a traveler noted two available routes to the
valley, one via Mariposa and the other via Big Oak Flat and Harding's
mill.  The latter was the cheapest, steepest, and most uncomfortable.

The Mariposa route was somewhat longer but easier to travel in

. 4
comparison. 6

c) Work Begins on the Big Oak Flat and Coulterville Roads
Big Oak Flat (earlier Savage's Diggings), an early mining
community thirty miles west of Yosemite National Park, gave its name to
the Big Oak Flat Road, the second access for wheeled vehicles built into
Yosemite Valley.

A group of men in Tuolumne County had organized the
"Chinese Camp and Yo Semite Turnpike Company" in September 1868 with
the intent of building a turnpike road from Chinese Camp, through Big

46. "The Yo Semite Roads," Mariposa (Calif.) Gazette, 12 February 1869;
"New Road Company,” Mariposa (Calif.) Gazette, 12 March 1869; "The
Chinese Camp Turnpike," Mariposa (Calif.) Gazette, 23 July 1869; and
"What the 'Chicago Party' Says,” In Mariposa (Calif.) Gazette, 20 August
1869.
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Oak Flat, First and Second Garrote, across the Pilot Peak ridge, through
Hazel Green and Crane and Tamarack flats, to a point on the summit
overlooking Yosemite Valley. 47 George W. Coulter was president of the
organization and Charles B. Cutting secretary. The state of California
granted the company a franchise in February 1869 and a formative
meeting for the project took place in Chinese Camp on 19 March. In
September 1869 George E. Sprague, L.E. Stuart, and John B. Smith of
Garrote, in Tuolumne County, obtained from the Yosemite commissioners
the exclusive privilege for that company to build a wagon road within the
grant, entering the valley on the north side of the Merced River. The
road was to be completed by 1 July 1871. By June 1870 it stretched from
Big Oak Flat, through First and Second Garrote, past Sprague's,
Hamilton's, and Hardin's ranches, and on beyond the Hodgdon Ranch on
the edge of the grant to Crane Flat. On 20 January 1871 the company
incorporated as the Yosemite Turnpike Road Company. By July 1871 the
Big Oak Flat Road had only reached Gentry's Station at the northwestern
edge of the Yosemite Grant atop the cliff above Yosemite Valley. There
time and money ran out. Although the state extended the deadline for
completion of the road, on 1 January 1872 the company forfeited its

franchise and apparently did not ask to have it renewed.

The people of Coulterville realized that they also needed a
road into Yosemite Valley to remain competitive in the tourist trade. In
1870 citizens of Mariposa County residing at and near Coulterville
incorporated the Coulterville and Yosemite Turnpike Company to build a
wagon road from Bower Cave, the eastern extremity of the public road
leading toward Yosemite Valley, on the North Fork of the Merced River,
to the western boundary of the Yosemite Grant. During 1870-72 a wagon

road was constructed from Bower Cave (a limestone cavern and later a

47. According to Erwin G. Gudde, California Place Names (Berkeley:
University of California Press, 1960), Garrote acquired its name from the
execution of a thief by strangulation. A second execution a few miles
away resulted in First and Second Garrote. By 1879, First Garrote had
adopted the name Groveland.

93



tourist stop), up the south slope of Pilot Peak, by Hazel Green, to Crane
Flat, where a junction was made with the Big Oak Flat Road to Gentry's.

The final miles to the valley floor were made on horseback.

d) Improved Roads and Railroad Service Increase Visitation

Those two routes, in addition to the wagon road built by
Galen Clark and others from White and Hatch's to Clark's ranch on the
South Fork of the Merced River, greatly improved accessibility to
Yosemite by 1872. The horseback ride to the valley was reduced on the
north side to eight miles from Gentry's, the terminus of the Big Oak Flat
Road; to thirteen miles from Crane Flat, where the Coulterville Road
ended, via Gentry's; and on the south side to twenty-six miles from
Clark's Station.

The completion of the Central Pacific Railroad through the
San Joaquin Valley in the early 1870s brought an influx of visitors to
Yosemite, with Berenda, Raymond, and Merced serving as staging points
as railroad construction advanced. In 1871 the Central Pacific Railroad
completed its "Copperopolis Short Line" from Stockton to Milton, in
Calaveras County. From there stages carried the passengers through
Chinese Camp, Jacksonville, Priests's Grade, and Big Oak Flat to the
valley. The California Lumber Company established Madera on the
Southern Pacific Railroad in 1876, from which a stage road ultimately led
via Coarse Gold, Fresno Flats (Oakhurst), and Fish Camp to Wawona.

Despite their gradual improvements through the years,
trails into Yosemite remained steep and dangerous, and travel over them
entailed various levels of discomfort and fatigue that continued to

discourage many park visitors. To make the most of one's visit,

a '"round trip" was recommended, the tourists coming into the
valley by way of the Coulterville trail and leaving by way of
the Mariposa trail. No road came closer to Yosemite than
Mariposa. Ten days was the minimum a traveler should allow
for the journey from San Francisco, and of this three days
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could be spent in the valley, °"fo '™ the Big Trees, the
remaining six being spent in transit.

The improvement of trails up to this point always stopped
short of the valley floor because of the great expense of forging a way
down the granite walls on either side of the valley. The first official
report of the Yosemite commissioners to the state legislature, in 1867,
described the difficulty and cost of making the valley accessible by wagon
road. It pointed out that the valley could not be entered by following
the Merced River upstream, as might be supposed, because of the narrow
and precipitous canyon walls. Instead one had to descend 3,000 feet into
the valley from above. Building a safe wagon road from any of the
existing trail termini down to the valley floor was judged to be difficult
and expensive, if not impossible. Such gloomy assessments deterred the
only prospective builders of such a road--the companies with interests in
the three routes Ileading to Yosemite. The Coulterville and Yosemite

Turnpike Company, however, finally took the initiative.

e) The Coulterville Road Reaches the Valley Floor
1) A New Transportation Era Begins

In the summer of 1872, that company, through its
president, Dr. John T. McLean, applied to the Yosemite commissioners for
the exclusive privilege of extending its wagon road into Yosemite Valley
and collecting tolls for the use of the part of the road within the grant
after it was constructed. The road within the Ilimits of the grant was to
be free to teams exclusively hauling hay and grain as feed for horses and
cattle stabled in the valley and lumber for building purposes (a positive
commentary on the board's attitude toward preservation of the valley

floor). It was to be completed within the year 1873.

48. Elizabeth Foote, "Interesting Notes from the Whitnhey Guide Book,"
Yosemite Nature Notes 16, no. 9 (September 1937):66.
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Because the commission had heard nothing further
from Sprague and his associates, and assumed that they were content to
have passengers over their road enter the valley via the Coulterville trail
from Gentry's as had been the practice since completion of their road to
that point in 1871, it entered into a contract with McLean's company,
leasing it the right-of-way for a period of ten years. Such an exclusive
privilege would somewhat offset the cost of the venture because it would
secure for the company all travel into Yosemite from the north side of the

Merced RIiver.

Indeed, the commissioners granted this exclusive privilege
because they did not think anyone would be willing to advance the large
sum needed for the enterprise unless they had the assurance of being
able to command all the travel on one side of Yosemite Valley. A second
reason for their willingness to assure such a monopoly was their belief
that the desire of the Mariposa business community to retain its share of
Yosemite-bound travel would result in construction of a competing wagon
road to the valley from the south side of the Merced. The commissioners
felt that one road on each side of the river would suffice for several
years to come and that more could not be built without dividing travel to
such an extent that parties who advanced funds would receive no

remuneration for their investment.

While the Coulterville crew was surveying in search of
the best route over which to continue its road to the valley floor, Dr.
McLean discovered a stand of Big Trees, which he named the Merced
Grove because of its proximity to the Merced River. He immediately
perceived the potential tourist attraction of these huge sequoias.
Although it would cost $10,000 more than to build from Crane Flat down
Crane Creek to Big Meadow, it was decided to reroute the road east from
Hazel Green along the southern slope of the dividing ridge between the
Tuolumne and Merced rivers, through the Merced Grove of Big Trees to
Big Meadow, and then on into the Merced Canyon, past the western
boundary of the grant, to the Lower Iron Bridge on the valley floor.

The Coulterville Road became an expensive proposition when it was



decided to detour through the Merced Grove. That decision caused
abandonment of six miles of already completed road to Crane Flat and
necessitated construction in a granite formation, between Crane Creek

and the Merced River canyon floor, that required expensive blasting.

The deep snows of the winter of 1872-73 delayed
construction, so the state extended the contract time to the end of 1874.
Continuing work during 1873 and 1874, the company finally completed the
road on 18 June 1874,

and on that day stage coaches and carriages, filled with
passengers, first passed from the towns on the railroad in the
San Joaquin Valley, and from the foothill towns of the Sierra
Nevada over this road into the Yosemite Valley. The completion
of this road made access to Yosemite easy, speedy and
comfortable, by wheeled vehicles, instead of tiresome, difficult
and dangerous, on horseback, and over trails; and was
celebrated in the valley by bonfires, firing of cannon, a
procession, a public meeting, and general rejoicing; the press
of the State and of the United States noticing the event as one
in which not only California but the Nation was interested and
to be congratulated.%

The pioneer route to Yosemite, the Coulterville Road
sighaled a new era in tourism by opening the valley to wheeled vehicles.
The last portion of the road, at The Cascades, featured a frightening
grade, lacking curves or turns. It was a straight, steep, dangerous
stretch, built straight down the side of the Merced River canyon. The
Coulterville Road, in its entirety, left the San Joaquin Valley at Modesto,
went east through La Grange, past Red Mountain, to Coulterville,
Dudley's Hotel and Ranch, and Bower Cave, and on to Hazel Green, the
Merced Grove, and Big Meadow, and then descended into the Merced
River canyon. Its total cost from Bower Cave to the Lower Iron Bridge

was $71,000, including the branch from Hazel Green to Crane Flat.

49, McLean, "A Statement," 23.
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The main division of the Coulterville Road was
twenty-seven miles long, from Bower Cave on the North Fork of the
Merced River east to the "Blacksmith Shop,”" a hole in the rocks on the
north side of the Merced where a forge had been established in 1874.
That spot lay one-sixteenth of a mile west of The Cascades, near where
Cascade Creek emptied into the Merced River, on the west boundary of
the Yosemite Grant. (Today the site is near the junction of the All-Year
Highway and the old Coulterville Road.) A six-mile branch extended from
Hazel Green to Crane Flat, and another four-mile stretch ran from the
blacksmith shop to Hutchings's Hotel.50

The width of the road averaged sixteen feet, with
turnouts. The average grade from Bower Cave to the blacksmith shop
did not exceed eight percent, and its builders stated that nowhere was
the grade in excess of fifteen percent. The sunny exposure of the road,
because of its location along the south or sunny side of the divide
between the Tuolumne and Merced rivers, resulted in cheaper maintenance
than for the other roads into the park. The road remained free of snow
and passable for travel earlier in the spring and stayed open later in the
fall. The toll house of the Coulterville Road in the canyon of the Merced
River near Cascade Creek was burned by Indians in 1874. The toll
collector, George E. Boston, was murdered and his body burned in the
conflagration. In the house and destroyed by the fire were all the toll
books and other account books of the turnpike company from 1870 to
1874.

50. For information on the Coulterville Road, see John T. MclLean,
deposition before R.B. Tappan, Notary Public, 27 September 1891, in
Letters Received by the Office of the Secretary of the Interior Relating to
National Parks, 1872-1907 (Yosemite), RG 79, NA; Jno. T. McLean,
Pres., Coulterville & Yosemite Turnpike Co., to Col. S.M. Mansfield,
Pres., Commission to examine and report as to certain roads in and about
Yosemite National Park, 30 October 1899, Letters Received by the Office
of the Secretary of the Interior Relating to National Parks, 1872-1907
(Yosemite), RG 79, NA.
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2) Later History

When  Yosemite  National Park was established,
including the privately owned toll roads, there were no appropriations
available for purchasing those sections of road on park land. The
government, therefore, offered to maintain the roads if the companies
would declare them toll free. The Big Oak Flat Road company accepted
this proposition, but the Coulterville Road company refused it. The
latter road fell into disuse, and finally the county board of supervisors
declared the section from Hazel Green to Pohono Bridge a public highway‘
in 1917, instigating a lawsuit with Dr. McLean's daughter who demanded
the right to collect tolls. Those rights were denied because of the lack

of maintenance on the road since 1908.

The Coulterville Road enters the park four times
along its western boundary as it winds to its terminus at Highway 140 in
the Merced River canyon, one mile below The Cascades. Its total length
across park land is 8-7/8 miles. Starting at the park boundary, near
Hazel Green, this dirt road passes through the forest to the Merced
Grove. This section is now used only as a fire road by the National Park
Service. The south entrance to the grove is blocked by a culvert and

the north entrance has a locked gate.

Heading east toward Foresta/Big Meadow, the road is
intersected Iin several places by paved access roads on Forest Service
land. The Coulterville Road is paved for the last 3Vmile section
beginning at the southern perimeter of Big Meadow. The last 1-3/4 miles'
of road has a grade of around sixteen percent. The sheer descent into
the valley required several retaining walls along the outside edge of the
road, which are intact. Historically, the road continued up the north
side of the Merced River canyon to a junction near the present Pohono
Bridge where it joined an earlier wagon road leading to the OIld Village

area.

The Coulterville Road receives Ilimited use today.

Although the precipitous grade is closed to vehicles because of a
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rockslide in 1982, the partially paved section in the Foresta/Big Meadow

area is used, primarily by residents.51

1)) The Big Oak Flat Road Reaches the Valley Floor

The residents of Big Oak Flat, meanwhile, remained
anxious to promote tourist travel through their region. It had been
anticipated that the Coulterville group would connect with the Big Oak
Flat Road at Crane Flat and use its saddle train facilities to enter the
valley. But when the Coulterville company decided to detour through the
Merced Grove, it meant the Big Oak Flat company had no possibility of
making even a little money by using the end of their road as a staging

entrance for tourists into the valley.

So on 29 August 1872 the Yosemite Turnpike Road
Company, including Charles B. Cutting, D.B. Newhall, L.D. Gobin, A.
Halsey, and George E. Sprague among its shareholders, requested from
the Yosemite commissioners a franchise to build another road into the
valley on the north side of the Merced River. Because that privilege had
already been granted to the Coulterville company, the request was
denied. The Big Oak Flat group brought up a similar petition for
consideration at the annual meeting of the commissioners on 17 November
1873, and that body rejected it again. After adjournment of that
meeting, another petition was submitted, this time for a right-of-way for
a toll-free wagon road from Gentry's Station to the valley floor; it also

met with failure.

51. See the National Register of Historic Places Inventory—Nomination
Form, OIld Coulterville Road and Trail, prepared by Leslie Starr Hart,
1976. The roadway listed in the National Register nomination does not
include the spur from Hazel Green to Crane Flat connecting the
Coulterville and Big Oak Flat routes. Portions of that spur are visible
from the new Big Oak Flat Road between Crane Flat and Hodgdon
Meadow.
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At that point the company applied to the state legislature
for the right to extend its road from Gentry's to the valley floor, and a
bill passed granting them the privilege in February 1874. The new road
was to commence at the east end of the Big Oak Flat company's road, on
the north side of the Yosemite Grant, near Gentry's Station, and
terminate on the valley floor near the foot of EI Capitan. The
Coulterville and Yosemite Turnpike Company later appealed the
legislature's action, protesting that the state had no authority to grant
the request, having divested itself of the power to manage the premises
and placed it instead in the hands of the governor and commissioners
when it accepted the trust. The company bitterly fought the suit, but to

no avail.

Because of the scarcity of money, the Yosemite Turnpike
Road Company did not complete its road until 17 July 1874, one month
after the Coulterville Road had reached the valley floor. The Big Oak
Flat Road descended to the valley floor via a series of switchbacks that
eased the final descent down the steep talus slopes. The most famous
stretch of the road, because of its grade, was the Zigzag section between
El Capitan Bridge and Gentry's Station. Italian laborers skilled in
rockwork completed that section by cribbing up the steep sides of the
roadbed with solid rock walls without mortar. The wedge shape of the
rocks ensured that they would not slip out and that the more weight on

the road, the tighter the rocks would hold.

The Big Oak Flat and Yosemite Turnpike Road Company
was incorporated 3 June 1879 to purchase the Big Oak Flat Road and the
franchise for the toll road. Title to the Yosemite road of the Yosemite
Turnpike Road Company was conveyed to J.M. Hutchings by certificate of
sale of 16 May 1878. On 19 November 1879 Hutchings conveyed the road
by deed to the Big Oak Flat and Yosemite Turnpike Road Company.

W.C. Priest, president of the Big Oak Flat and Yosemite

Turnpike Road Company, reported on his road to an investigative body in
1899. He stated that the thirty-mile-long toll wagon road began at
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Dorsey's old sawmill, about two miles northwest of Hamilton's Station, and
extended east through Hardin's, Cracker's, Hodgdon's, the Tuolumne Big
Tree Grove, Crane Flat, and then through Gin and Tamarack flats to
Gentry's Station, and then to the valley floor. Twenty miles of the road
lay within the boundary of Yosemite National Park and ten miles outside
and west of the grant's western boundary. The road width averaged
thirteen feet with a maximum grade of sixteen percent. The total
construction cost of the road was $45,650. The section of the road from
its point of commencement to Sequoia (Crocker's Station), within the
national park, a distance of fourteen miles, was kept in good condition
and open to travel all year round, while the section of road from Sequoia

to the bounds of the Yosemite Valley Grant were open seven months of

the year.52

The original Big Oak Flat Road can still be followed down to a
primitive campground at Tamarack Flat. The road continues a few miles
beyond, but is closed above Gentry's. The historic route dropped into
the valley some distance uphill from the present road, completed in 1940.
A rockslide destroyed that Zigzag switchback section in 1943 and traffic
was switched to the modern highway. Subsequent slides and washouts
further blocked the old road, but its line of descent is visible from the
south side of the valley, especially from Tunnel View on the Wawona
Road. The original route can be followed in a few places. One is a

52. W.C. Priest, Pres., Big Oak Flat and Yosemite Turnpike Road
Company, to Col. S.M. Mansfield, President of the Commission appointed
to investigate and report upon certain facts relative to the Yosemite
National Park, under the Act of Congress of March 3rd, 1899, 31 October
1899, Letters Received by the Office of the Secretary of the Interior
Relating to National Parks, 1872-1907 (Yosemite), RG 79, NA; W.C.
Priest, President, Big Oak Flat and Yosemite Turnpike Road Company, in
Report of the Commission on Roads in Yosemite National Park, California.
Senate Document No. 155, 56th Congress, 1st Session, 8 February 1900.
Commission: S.M. Mansfield, Colonel, Corps of Engineers, U.S.A.;
Harry C. Benson, Captain, Fourth Cavalry, U.S.A.; J.L. Maude,
Department of Highways, State of California. Report dated 4 December
1899. In Separates File, Y-20a, #15, Yosemite Research Library and
Records Center.
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steep, narrow, winding section from Crane Flat to Hodgdon Meadow. Now
a downhill-only route, it passes through the Tuolumne Grove of Big

Trees. 53

A detour on the saddle trail to Yosemite began at Crane
Flat near where the Coulterville and Big Oak Flat trails merged. It was
used in the early spring when there were heavy snows and cut out the
higher portions of the trail through Gin and Tamarack flats. Bunnell
wrote that when blazing the Coulterville Trail in 1856, they cut two trails
from Crane Flat, the lower for early, the upper for later seasonal use.
The detour, called "The Lower Trail," commenced at Crane Flat and
avoided the climb up to Tamarack Flat and down again. Whitney's map
shows it proceeding down Crane Creek to just above Big Meadow, then
due east to the regular crossing of Cascade Creek where it joined the
upper trail again. It was blazed a thousand feet lower than the regular

trail and was difficult to find.>%

g) Antagonism Between Road Companies Increases

This second road into the valley from the north, which
somewhat paralleled the course of the Coulterville route, was built in
defiance of the authority of the Yosemite commissioners, who, along with
the Coulterville Road company, considered it to be a trespass upon the
grant. Its presence, which meant a loss of the exclusive right by the
latter to the travel in and out of Yosemite on that side of the valley,
resulted in division of traffic between the two roads, increased
competition for that patronage between the two companies, and a
subsequent reduction of the tolls on both of them.

53. Richard P. Ditton and Donald E. McHenry, Yosemite Road Guide,
rev. ed. (Yosemite National Park: Yosemite Natural History Association,
1981), 9.

54. Paden and Schlichtmann, Bif Oak Flat Road, 224.
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lllustration 5.

Rock wall cribbing and old roadbed of Coulterville Road (on USFS land),
view to east.

Photo by Robert C. Pavlik, 1984.

llustration 6.
Rock retaining wall and drain, old Big Oak Flat Road.

Photo by Robert C. Pavlik, 1985.
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Most importantly, the completion of the Big Oak Flat Road
meant great and immediate financial loss for the pioneer Coulterville Road
company, which, because of its agreement for an exclusive privilege, had
expended thousands of dollars in the construction of its road, fully
expecting to be repaid by the increased volume of stage travel coming to
it alone and paying the liberal tolls allowed by the commissioners. The
company had confidently expected to receive a reasonable interest on the
cost of the road plus a large annual surplus over the interest to help pay
off the original cost of construction. The Big Oak Flat Road eventually
became the more popular of the two routes.

A further aggravation to the Coulterville company was its
earlier expectation that all tourists to Yosemite, wanting maximum pleasure
from the trip, would enter the valley by one route and leave by another.
Because its road was expected to be the only one into the valley on the
north side, every tourist either entering or leaving by it, the builders of
the Coulterville Road had agreed at the behest of the commissioners to
collect tolls on the road only where it crossed the boundary of the grant
or outside the grant in order to comply with the "public use" condition
under which the grant had been made by Congress.

The construction of another road from Gentry's to the
valley meant that from 1874 to 1886, when the state purchased it, the
extremely scenic portion of the Coulterville Road extending from the level
of the valley to The Cascades constantly carried tourists who entered and
returned from the valley by the Mariposa or Gentry routes, and who thus
enjoyed the canyon scenery without paying any toll to the Coulterville
company.

h) The Wawona Road Reaches the Valley Floor
Galen Clark, from his vantage point at the South Fork of
the Merced, had early seen the need to develop better access routes into
Yosemite Valley. By 1866 he had pushed a stage road to a point about
twelve miles west of his hotel. In 1869 he organized the "Mariposa Big
Trees and Yo Semite Turnpike Company" mentioned earlier, and
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construction on the road from Mariposa to the South Fork took place
during 1870-71. The California state legislature, however, refused to
buy the road as had been anticipated by the company, somewhat
dampening enthusiasm for pursuing it to completion. In 1870, however,
Galen Clark opened the Chowchilla Mountain wagon road from Mariposa.
Two years earlier the Mariposa County Board of Supervisors had given
Clark money from the county road fund to build a bridge across Big
Creek on that trail.>>

The later completion of the Coulterville and Big Oak Flat
roads to Yosemite Valley east from Coulterville and Stockton attracted
many visitors away from Clark's southern endeavors. Because of
increased debts, Clark and Moore's, as Clark's ranch was then known,
was forced to sell to the firm of Washburn, Coffman & Chapman in 1874.
Henry Washburn also believed that a completed road between the South
Fork and Yosemite Valley would be advantageous to business, and the
completion of such a toll road became a top priority.”"

In November 1874 Mariposa County granted a permit for a
toll road to the southern boundary of the Yosemite Grant. John Conway
and Joseph Ridgeway were appointed commissioners to locate and survey
the route. That same fall the Yosemite commissioners granted A.H.
Washburn, EW. Chapman, and W.F. Coffman and Company of Mariposa
the right to extend their toll road on the south side of the Merced from
the boundary of the grant into the valley on the same terms as those
given the Coulterville and Yosemite Turnpike Company. A company of
Chinese obtained the contract for building the road. James Ridgeway of

55. Mariposa (Calif.) Gazette, 7 March 1868. The Chowchilla Mountain
road still receives limited use.

56. Anthony Cros